

# STRATEGIC TOOLS FOR THE MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN THE CAPE METROPOLE

By NELLY ROSE MSIZA: 215219775

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

**Master of Management Accounting** 

In the Faculty of Business Management and Sciences

At the Cape Peninsula University of Technology

Principal Supervisor: Prof LO Obokoh

**Co-Supervisor: Dr OH Benedict** 

Cape Peninsula University of Technology

District Six, Cape Town July 2022

# **CPUT** copyright information

The thesis/dissertation may not be published either in part (in scholarly, scientific or technical journals), or as a whole (as a monograph), unless permission has been obtained from the University

# DECLARATION

I, **NELLY ROSE MSIZA**, declare that the contents of this research represents my unaided work, and that the thesis has not previously been submitted for academic examination towards any qualification. Furthermore, it presents my own opinions but not necessarily those of the CPUT.

NELLY ROSE MSIZA

.....

DATE

#### ABSTRACT

Education plays an essential role in economic growth. The realisation of the ideal of a high-quality education system depends on sound financial management. Certain strategic tools are required to minimise the impacts of financial incompetence, mismanagement, and insufficient resources at public schools and thereby promote their effectiveness. The aim of the study is to examine the utilisation of beyond budgeting and the rolling forecast as strategic tools for monitoring management for improving public schools in the Cape Metropole. To address the research objectives, the study employed a quantitative-type questionnaire administered to 100 public schools in the Cape Town Metropolitan area of the Western Cape province in South Africa. In this study, the researcher conducted reliability, validity, discriminant validity, and structural modelling analysis by using version 27 of the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) and the partial least squares-structural equation modelling approach (PLS-SEM, version 3.3.3) for data analysis.

The examined relationships generated satisfactory results consistent with how they were hypothesised, according to the results of the structural equation modeling analysis. The results revealed a positive and significant relationship between the variables beyond budgeting and rolling forecast and the improvement of management in public schools. Furthermore, the participants in this study always uses the rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. In the latter, the results of the study could serve to educate representatives of public schools operating in the Cape Metropole on effective financial management. The researcher recommends that department of education should provide training to the management of public school. Particularly in the flexible tools such as beyond budgeting and rolling forecast to improve their financial performance.

**KEYWORDS:** public schools, quality education, financial management, financial mismanagement, strategic tools, beyond budgeting, rolling forecast

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank God for providing me with the determination, discipline, and dedication to finish this thesis. I was only able to finish my thesis because of His mercies. I would also like to convey my profound gratitude to various people who were instrumental in the completion of my thesis:

- First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude to Professor Lawrence Obokoh for providing me with an amazing learning experience through his direction and supervision. Thank you for believing in my abilities; your invaluable guidance and intellectual support along the road will never be forgotten. Without your help, I would not have gotten this far.
- Dr Olumide Henrie Benedict, my co-supervisor, deserves another round of applause. Throughout my time at CPUT, he has been tremendously supportive.
  Dr Benedict has been incredibly patient in providing assistance, support, and advice. I consider myself extremely fortunate to have him as a co-supervisor.
- My husband, Phillip Phuti Patriot Msiza, because of his unwavering love, patience, and understanding for a long time. He accepted and tolerated my confinement to my studies. He made it possible for me to devote most of my time to studying.
- My mothers, Mary Nyakama and Evodia Mmatjale Msiza, for always praying for me. I will never forget your unstinting support and wise words.
- CPUT staff members Mrs. Masabata Moloabi, Dr Sonnette Smith, Dr Neethling, Mrs. Widaad Martin, Dr Ian Johnson, and Mr Olwethu Ntshonga.
- Prof Peter Kamala for his guidance and belief in me.
- Dr Eugine Tafadzwa Maziriri for his expert assistance with the statistical aspects of this study.
- CPUT, for providing me with a scholarship to support this study.

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my grandmother, Anastacia Mantwa Majola, with the deepest love, respect, and admiration. Throughout my studies, my grandmother motivated and supported me. Her consolation and wonderful assistance in each of the trials I faced have inspired me. My grandmother's unwavering faith in me and our faith in God has led me to complete this thesis.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. iii
DEDICATION	.IV iv
LIST OF TABLES	x
APPENDICES	.xi
DEFINITIONS OF TERMS	xii
LIST OF ACRONYMS	xiv 1
INTRODUCTION AND RESEARCH BACKGROUND	. 1 . 1
1.1 Introduction	. 1
1.2 Research Problem	. 4
1.3 Rationale and significance of the study	. 5
1.4 Aim and objectives of the study	. 6
1.4.1 Aim	. 6
1.4.2 Objectives	. 6
1.5 Research question	. 6
1.5.1 Main research question	. 6
1.6 Hypotheses of the study	. 7
1.7 Conceptual model	. 7
1.8 Research paradigms and methodologies	. 8
1.8.1 Paradigm/philosophy	. 8
1.8.2 Research approach	. 8
1.8.3 Research design	. 8
1.9 Research methods/processes	. 9
1.9.1 Target population	. 9
1.9.2 Sample size	. 9
1.9.3 Sampling technique	. 9
1.9.4 Data collection instruments	10
1.9.5 Questionnaire design	10
1.9.6 Data collection and fieldwork	11
1.10 Data coding and analysis	11
1.10.1 Descriptive statistics	11
1.10.2 Inferential statistics	12
1.10.3 Reliability and validity analysis	12
1.10.4 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	12
1.11 Ethical considerations	12
1.12 Delineation	13

1.13 Limitations and constraints	13
1.14 Contribution of the research	13
1.15 Outline of the study	14
CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW	15 15 15
2.2 The context of the study	15
2.2.1 An overview of public schools in South Africa	15
2.3 The connection between education and economic growth	21
2.3.1 South Africa's two diverse schooling systems	
2.4 The management and improvement of public schools	23
2.4.1 In improving school management and leadership practices, the Department of Basic Education (South Africa. DBE, 2018) will:	of 25
2.5 Theoretical grounding	25
2.5.1 Agency theory	25
2.5.2 Allocation of resource theory	28
2.5.3 System theory	28
2.6 Empirical literature	29
2.6.1 Balanced scorecard (BSC)	29
2.6.2 Budgeting	31
2.6.3 Strategic planning	32
2.7 Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast	33
2.7.1 Definition and importance of Beyond budgeting	33
2.7.2 The leadership principles and management processes of beyond budgeting.	34
2.7.3 Rolling forecast	36
2.8 The use of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques by school organisations	s and 39
2.8.1 Utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast by organisations	40
2.8.2 Utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast by schools	43
2.9 Gaps identified in the literature and research questions that have remained unans	wered 44
2.10 Conclusion	45
CHAPTER THREE	47
CONCEPTUAL MODEL AND HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT	47 47
3.2 Conceptual model	47
3.3 Hypothesis development	48
3.3.1 Rolling forecast and beyond budgeting	49
3.3.2 Rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools	50

3.3.3 Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public sc	hools 52
3.4 Chapter summary	54
CHAPTER FOUR RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 4.1 Introduction	55 55 55
4.2 The research onion principle	55
4.2.1 Research philosophy	56
4.2.2 Research approaches	58
4.2.3 Research strategies	59
4.2.4 Time horizons	61
4.3 Population and sampling procedures	61
4.3.1 Target population	61
4.3.2 The sample frame	62
4.3.3 The sampling technique(s)	62
4.3.4 Sample size	63
4.4 Data collection	63
4.4.1 Design of the questionnaire	63
4.4.2 Construct and scale development	64
4.5 Reliability	65
4.5.1 Cronbach's alpha reliability test	66
4.5.2 Composite reliability (CR) test	66
4.5.3 Average value extracted (AVE) test	67
4.6 Assessment of the measurement model (outer model)	67
4.6.1 Convergent validity	67
4.6.2 Discriminant validity	68
4.7 Assessment of the structural model (inner model)	68
4.8 Assessment of the measurement model and testing of the main effects	69
4.9 Ethical considerations	70
4.9.1 Voluntary participation and informed consent	70
4.9.2 Confidentiality and anonymity	70
4.10 Chapter summary	70
CHAPTER FIVE	71
ANALYSIS OF DATA AND DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS	71 71
5.2 Demographic information about the sample	
5.2 1 Demographic profile summary	<i>i</i>   71
5.3. I tilisation of flexible strategic tools	
5.3.1 Balanced scorecard (performance measurement tool)	

5.3.2 Annual budgeting	. 80
5.3.3 Strategic planning	. 80
5.3.4 Rolling forecast	. 81
5.3.5 Beyond budgeting	. 82
5.3.6 Financial accounting	. 82
5.3.7 Management Accounting	. 83
5.4 Descriptive statistics	. 83
5.5 Using the partial least squares-structural equation modelling approach (PLS-SEM).	. 86
5.6 Reliability analysis	. 87
5.7 Structural model assessment	. 89
5.7.1 Outcome of hypotheses testing	. 91
5.7.2 Outcome of testing hypothesis 1: Rolling forecast and beyond budgeting	. 91
5.7.3 Outcome of testing hypothesis 2: Rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools	. 91
5.7.4 Outcome of testing hypothesis 3: Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools	. 91
5.8 Discussion of the results	. 92
5.9 Chapter summary	. 93
CHAPTER SIX SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 94 . 94 . 94
6.2 Overview of the study	. 94
6.3 The findings in relation to the objectives of the study	. 95
6.3.1 Aim of the study	. 95
6.3.2 Research objective one	. 95
6.3.3 Research objective two	. 96
6.3.4 Research objective three	. 96
6.3.5 Research objective four	. 96
6.4 Recommendations	. 96
6.5 Limitations of the study	. 97
6.6 Suggestions for further study	. 98
6.7 Conclusion	. 98
REFERENCES	. 99

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1: CONCEPTUAL MODEL	8
FIGURE 2.1: HISTORICAL DATA	23
FIGURE 3.2: ROLLING FORECAST AND BEYOND BUDGETING	49
FIGURE 3.3: ROLLING FORECAST AND IMPROVEMENT IN THE MANAGEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS.	50
FIGURE 3.4: BEYOND BUDGETING AND IMPROVEMENT IN THE MANAGEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS.	; 52
FIGURE 4.1: RESEARCH PROCESS ONION	56
FIGURE 5.1: GENDER	74
FIGURE 5.2: AGE	75
FIGURE 5.3: CURRENT DESIGNATION	76
FIGURE 5.4: YEARS IN THE CURRENT DESIGNATION	76
FIGURE 5.5: ACCOUNTING-RELATED QUALIFICATION OR SHORT COURSE	77
FIGURE 5.6: KNOWLEDGE OF MANAGEMENT AND LEADERSHIP PROCESSES AND CONTI PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT	NUOUS 78
FIGURE 5.7: CONSIDERING TRAINING IN MANAGEMENT AND LEADERSHIP PROCESSES A CONTINUOUS PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT TO ENHANCE YOUR SKILLS	and 79
FIGURE 5.8: USAGE OF THE BALANCED SCORECARD	80
FIGURE 5.9: USAGE OF ANNUAL BUDGETING	80
FIGURE 5.10: USAGE OF STRATEGIC PLANNING	81
FIGURE 5.11: USAGE OF THE ROLLING FORECAST	81
FIGURE 5.12: USAGE OF BEYOND BUDGETING	82
FIGURE 5.13: USAGE OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING	82
FIGURE 5.14: USAGE OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING	83
FIGURE 5.15: STRUCTURAL MODEL	90

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 2.1: SCOPE OF THE SCHOOL PRINCIPAL'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIE	:s 18
TABLE 2.2: SOUTH AFRICA'S TWO DIVERSE SCHOOLING SYSTEMS   2	22
TABLE 2.3: 2016 VERSION OF THE BEYOND BUDGETING PRINCIPLES	34
TABLE 4.1 THE POSITIVIST AND INTERPRETIVIST PARADIGMS DIFFER IN SEVERAL WAYS	57
TABLE 4.2: PREDISPOSITIONS OF QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE MODES OF INQUIRY	58
TABLE 4.3: FEATURES OF VARIOUS RESEARCH STRATEGIES	60
TABLE 5.1: SAMPLE DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	72
TABLE 5.2: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (BEYOND BUDGETING)	84
TABLE 5.3: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (ROLLING FORECAST)	85
TABLE 5.4: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (IMPROVEMENT IN THE MANAGEMENT OF     PUBLIC SCHOOLS)	86
TABLE 5.5: SCALE ACCURACY ANALYSIS	87
TABLE 5.6: DISCRIMINANT VALIDITY (HETEROTRAIT-MONOTRAIT RATIO-HTMT)	89
TABLE 5.7: RESULTS OF STRUCTURAL EQUATION MODEL ANALYSIS	90

# APPENDICES

Appendix A: PERMISSION LETTER

Appendix B: QUESTIONNAIRE

Appendix C: LANGUAGE EDITING LETTER

Appendix D: ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE

#### **DEFINITIONS OF TERMS**

**Beyond budgeting**: A set of essential values that, while followed, enable an organisation to effectively manage its performance and distribute its choice-making procedure without the want for traditional budgets. Its undertaking is to assist the business enterprise to meet the fulfilment elements of the information economic system (CIMA, 2007).

**Financial management:** A set of processes to ensure that funds are utilised efficiently and effectively in achieving an organisation's objectives (Aliyu, 2018).

**Financial Mismanagement:** Financial mismanagement is defined as improper administration, inappropriate or incorrect use of funds, and insufficient collateral security (Ololube, 2016).

**Monitoring:** A continuous function that strives to provide early signals of development, or loss of, in reaching results to control and key stakeholders of ongoing intervention. An ongoing venture, software, or other forms of intervention will be used to supply a result (CIMA.2005).

**Public Schools:** "Any school that was established or was deemed to have been established in terms of any law governing school education in the Republic of South Africa and that existed immediately prior to the commencement of this Act (South African Schools Act, 1996), other than a private school referred to in Section 53, is deemed to be a public school" (South Africa, 1996a).

**Quality Education:** "A quality education provides all learners with the capabilities they require to become economically productive, develop sustainable livelihoods, contribute to peaceful and democratic societies and enhance individual well-being. The learning outcomes that are required vary according to context, but at the end of the basic education, cycle must include threshold levels of literacy and numeracy, basic scientific knowledge, and life skills, including awareness and prevention of disease. Capacity development to improve the quality of teachers and other education stakeholders is crucial throughout this process" (Oyunge, 2015).

**Rolling Forecast:** A process that predicts common forecasts at comparable durations, for example, quarterly, half of-yearly, or even monthly (CIMA, 2013).

**Strategic Tools:** Mechanisms for realising clear and quantifiable objectives. You can identify strengths and gaps in your product or service, learn from particular illustrations of individual encounters and accumulate data through conclusions for change and insight into your planning (CIMA, 2013).

# LIST OF ACRONYMS

AVE	Average Value Extracted	
BB	Beyond budgeting	
BSC	Balance Scorecard	
CR	Composite Reliability	
FM	Financial Management	
FMTs	Financial Management Tools	
GAAP	Generally accepted accounting procedures	
HOD	Head of Department	
НТМТ	Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio	
IMOPS	Improvement in the management of public schools	
NNSSF	National norms and standards for school funding	
PLS	Partial Least Squares	
RF	Rolling forecast	
SASA	South African Schools Act	
SEM	Structural equation modelling	
SGB	School governing body	

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION AND RESEARCH BACKGROUND

#### **1.1 Introduction**

The South African education system consists of public schools and private schools. Provincial governments provide grants and supplies to public schools, which are, to some extent, dependent on the province's wealth and resources (OECD, 2017). South Africa maintains to make investments closely in education, as it has accomplished since the end of apartheid in 1994 (Nkohla, 2014). Education receives more than six percent of gross domestic product (GDP) (Stats SA, 2019a). Public schools play an essential role in social development and economic growth in supporting family stability and gainful employment (Good & Nelson, 2020). Investing in a public education system is much more cost-effective for the state than the devastating consequences of a poorly educated nation (Kidder, 2019).

Despite the importance of public schools in economic growth, Mosala and Mofolo (2016) argued that the resources they received were inadequate. This perspective bears on how the funding is used to meet educational needs because, as Mestry (2013) pointed out, inequalities in the allocation of resources by the government have been removed. However, some imbalances persist for various reasons, including the inability of guardians to meet school-related expenses, the exclusion of poor students from private schools, and the shortage of quality teachers (Chetty & Pather, 2016).

These imbalances could be viewed as variables that prevent public schools from meeting educational objectives. Several studies have revealed other factors that plague public schools (Ackom-Wilson, 2015; Mosala & Mofolo, 2016; Rangongo et al., 2016; Mestry, 2018; Aina & Bipath, 2020). These include (i) the lack of financial management capabilities (Radzi et al., 2018; Amos, 2021), (ii) ineffective use of strategic tools, such as balance scorecards, budgeting, beyond budgeting, strategic planning and rolling forecast (Rompho, 2020), and (iii) financial mismanagement.

Poor financial management, maladministration, corruption, misappropriation of funds, and using funds for personal gain are all examples of financial mismanagement (Rangongo et al., 2016). Financial mismanagement can also be unintentional. For instance, it could result from errors, ineptitude, neglect, or carelessness, such as financial incompetence in handling and reporting public school budgets (Rangongo et al., 2016). Financial mismanagement increases exchange costs decreases efficiency, distorts decision-making, and compromises quality education in public schools (Mobegi, 2017). Quality education is vital as it facilitates the development of student attributes and skills to realise their potential as constructive, contributing members of society (OECD, 2017).

Quality education is evaluated on the premise of the student's performance. It is related to quality parameters such as assessment results and the quality of students entering higher education after completing secondary school (Haseena et al., 2015). The achievement of quality education in public schools involves precisely describing all the components (input and output processes) that need to be present. The input processes comprise the curriculum implementation, the proper usage of resources, and the quality of teachers and teaching (Garira et al., 2019).

According to Garira (2015), output processes include the quality of the labour force, positive feedback in terms of pass rates or external assessment, and students' preparedness for tertiary education. Quality in education is essential since it provides the younger generation with adequate knowledge and employment skills and contributes positively to economic growth (European Commission, 2015).

To ensure the attainment of quality education, it is imperative that learning conditions and outcomes are monitored by controlling service delivery, budgeting with adequate and transparent information, offering extra resources to learners who need them, and efficiently managing all available resources (World Bank, 2016).

Setting up monitoring strategies to ensure quality education is achieved and maintained entails beyond budgeting and rolling forecast (Odh & Renfors, 2018). Beyond budgeting is the possibility that any expense is potentially allowed if the following three conditions are met: (i) the expense is aligned with the organisation's overall strategy and action plan; (ii) the expense is sensible and creates value; and (iii) the resources that managers commit should be relevant to the development of the organisation (Heupel & Schmitz, 2015).

Beyond budgeting is a process that allows public school management to distribute resources to the financially most needy and remove programmes and subdivisions that are ineffective in utilising resources (Johnson, 2020). Beyond budgeting is based on twelve principles that outline the premise of a flexible performance management approach (Úlfarsson, 2018). The principles are divided as follows six leadership process and six management process principles(Úlfarsson, 2018). The six leadership principles (purpose, values, transparency, organisation, trust, and customers) relate to the management structure that is vital for improving organisational flexibility (O'Grady et al., 2017). The other six principles relate to the management procedure (tempo, desires, plans and forecasts, resource allocation, performance evaluation, and rewards) (O'Grady et al., 2017).

Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast are flexible tools that can play a significant role in organisational planning (Sponem & Lambert, 2016). With beyond budgeting, the use of rolling forecast falls under the management processes of rhythm, plans and forecasting (Gustavsen & Hornnes, 2019). Rolling forecast as a practice allows an organisation to adjust its future expectations based on recent actual performance (Castellina, 2013).

Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast are flexible mechanisms for supporting organisation planning and control processes (Golyagina & Valuckas, 2012). Rolling forecast is described as continuous, monthly or quarterly forecast updates of the budget that enable a school to adapt to changes in financial planning (Bergmann et al., 2020). The purpose of rolling forecast is to establish a financial plan and projections that may be used to analyse business performance, manage resource allocation, inform development strategies, and lead to decisive action. The rolling forecast technique involves ongoing planning focusing on both long and short-term planning. It is not fixed each month and is not bound to a twelve-month budget term (Popesko et al., 2017).

Adopting rolling forecast in public schools, increases enrolment prediction and the reliability of projections allows for development planning, and assists in improving quality education (Henttu-Aho, 2018). According to Jones et al. (2019), rolling forecast are utilised in school districts for enrolment prediction to inform budgetary forecasting and strategic planning. In practice, enrolment predictions should consider

demographic and socio-economic factors which can be utilised to generate forecasts for teachers' salaries, benefits, and other expenditures relating to educational facilities (OECD, 2017). If resources are allocated sufficiently to every department in public schools, the all-round quality of education will improve (OECD, 2015).

Notwithstanding the potential benefits of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast, little research has been conducted on their use in public schools. Most international scholars have done research in organisations other than public schools (Ilchikabir, 2015; Henttu-Aho, 2018; Samudrage & Beddag, 2018; Úlfarsson, 2018; Guruge, 2021).

In South Africa, research has been conducted in private organisations (King, 2010; Sabela, 2012; Mokgope, 2015). The findings of the study showed a positive and significant relationship between beyond budgeting and rolling forecast and the development of management in public schools. Additionally, the study's participants consistently use beyond budgeting and rolling forecast. Lastly the findings of the study revealed that most of the public school management considers futher training in above-mentioned strategic tools. Hence, by aiming to assess the value and potential of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques in the management and improvement of public schools, this study breaks new ground, helping to fill a knowledge gap (Meintjies, 2012).

#### **1.2 Research Problem**

In mostly indirect ways, public schools can contribute positively to economic growth. However, many schools are faced with mismanagement, incompetence, inadequate resources, and a lack of financial management know-how (Corruption Watch, 2015; Adow et al., 2017; Alio et al., 2019). According to Talane and Pillay (2013), some school principals are considered delinquent when managing school funds.

In public schools, there tends to be limited financial accountability, a lack of transparency in financial reporting to school governing bodies and other stakeholders, and an absence of proper forecasting regarding financial resources (Myende et al., 2018). In some instances, principals of public schools disregard the law and treat schools as 'cash cows' to satisfy their own needs, thereby depriving the school of the resources it needs to operate.

According to Magak (2013), principals of public schools spend beyond the allocated budget or fail to use the funds provided. They seem to have difficulty in simply managing school funds, which has an impact on the quality of public school education. (Radzi et al., 2018) in terms of inadequate school infrastructure, below-average school supervision, and poor academic performance (Rangongo et al., 2016; Amos, 2021).

By offering a possible part-solution to the problem, this research examines the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in the Cape Metropole as strategic tools to improve the management of public schools.

# 1.3 Rationale and significance of the study

This study could assist in educating the representatives of public schools operating in the Cape Metropole on effective financial management. Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast can enable school management teams to better monitor the financials of schools, while providing flexibility that cannot be achieved by restricted forecasting. In addition, beyond budgeting and rolling forecast permit school management to react rapidly to current events and unexpected developments.

Although beyond budgeting and rolling forecast, as previously mentioned, have piqued the interest of academics and are regarded as innovative financial management tools, they have not been widely embraced in practice, and insufficient relevant research has been conducted (Alsharari et al., 2015; Alsharari, 2016; Alsharari, 2017; Alsharari & Abougamos, 2017; Alsharari & Youssef, 2017; Lasyoud & Alsharari, 2017; Alsharari, 2018; Alsharari, 2019a; Alsharari, 2019b).

It is entirely appropriate, then, that this research examines the utilisation of Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in the Cape Metropole as strategic tools to improve the financial management of public schools. According to Garira (2020), education is a system of inputs and outputs. The schools receive input in the form of material and human resources that result in processes and activities. These lead to specific outputs, which should equate to the desired educational objective of school management, which is quality education (Nowak & Dahal, 2016). Quality education contributes to economic growth as it results in improved employee skills and efficiency (Giannini, 2015; Jenjekwa, 2013).

# 1.4 Aim and objectives of the study

# 1.4.1 Aim

The study aims to examine the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast as strategic tools for monitoring the management and improvement of public schools in the Cape Metropole.

# 1.4.2 Objectives

The objectives assist the researcher in remaining focused and attentive to the research study's specified bounds, avoiding divergence from the intended goals (Snyder, 2019). The following are the study's research objectives:

- 1. To determine whether the public schools in the Cape Metropole use beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques.
- 2. To determine if the rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with beyond budgeting.
- 3. To determine if the rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools.
- 4. To determine if beyond budgeting has a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools.

# **1.5 Research question**

# 1.5.1 Main research question

The main research question addressed *beyond budgeting and rolling forecast as strategic tools to improve management?* The research sub-questions are as follows:

- 1. Do public schools in the Cape Metropole use beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques?
- 2. Does rolling forecast have a positive and significant relationship with beyond budgeting?
- 3. Does rolling forecast have a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools?
- 4. Does beyond budgeting have a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools?

# 1.6 Hypotheses of the study

According to Binoy (2019), a hypothesis is the researcher's prediction or postulate and should be crucial, testable and verifiable. Researcher's prediction or postulate and must be critical, verifiable and verifiable. The purpose of organising a hypothesis is to provide direction to the investigation and to set up a relationship among the constructs. Deductive reasoning is used to formulate a hypothesis (Binoy, 2019). The following hypotheses are linked to research objectives two to four.

*H1:* There is a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting.

*H2:* There is a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools.

**H3:** There is a positive and significant relationship between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools.

# 1.7 Conceptual model

Figure 1.1, below, depicts a conceptual model of the study's research trajectory. According to the model, rolling forecast and beyond budgeting are identified as predictor variables, while improvement in the management of public schools is the outcome variable.



# Figure 1.1: Conceptual Model

Source: Developed by the researcher (2022)

# 1.8 Research paradigms and methodologies

# 1.8.1 Paradigm/philosophy

A positivist approach was used to pursue the main aim of the study (Kothari & Garg, 2014). Positivism is based on the idea that reality can be measured objectively and independently of the researcher using unbiased and objective procedures. This approach is characteristic of quantitative research.

# 1.8.2 Research approach

To test objective hypotheses, quantitative research is used. It uses statistical tools to explain the correlations between variables and to produce outcomes (Creswell, 2014). The quantitative method used in this study was a closed-ended questionnaire. This kind of questionnaire simplifies and quantifies responses while enabling data collection from a large number of participants (Du Plooy-Cillers et al., 2018). Quantitative data is more impartial and accurate than qualitative data, being gathered in a quantified form and minimising the researcher's personal bias (Yilmaz, 2013). It facilitates the statistical analysis of the data, which improves the validity and reliability of the results obtained (Kabir, 2016). Moreover, quantitative research techniques permit researchers to summarise tremendous information and encourage correlations across categories over time (Queirós et al., 2017).

# 1.8.3 Research design

The overall plan through which a study seeks answers to research questions is known as the research design (Kibangou, 2019). This research is based on empirical research and follows the positivistic research paradigm (Matsoso, 2014). It takes the form of a cross-sectional descriptive study, like a snapshot of a phenomenon at a particular moment, as distinct from a long-term or historical study. Cross-sectional studies create a broad picture of the phenomenon studied and afforded control over the measurement processes employed to collect data (Du Plooy-Cillers et al., 2018).

The data can be measured and applied to the selected population group because controls are easier to implement (Setia, 2016). Quantitative descriptive data was collected from representatives of public schools, namely, principals, the school governing body, and heads of departments, as they are typically involved in financial decision-making.

# 1.9 Research methods/processes

# 1.9.1 Target population

In research terms, a population is a total number of people from whom data must be gathered (Wiid & Diggines, 2013). The target population for a research study is a specific group of people, animals, or objects whose members have the qualities or sets of characteristics that a researcher is interested in for his or her research (Nkem, 2017). The target population for this research comprised public school management, that is, principals, heads of departments and school governing bodies from secondary and primary schools in the Cape Metropole.

# 1.9.2 Sample size

A sample is a representative portion of a research population. Sekaran and Bougie (2016) said that large samples provide more solid parameter estimates. A sample size between 30 and 500 is appropriate for most quantitative research studies (Speziale & Carpenter, 2007; Choto et al., 2014; Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). Considering practical, time and financial factors, this study proposed sample size of 100. The sample comprised 50 primary and 50 secondary schools operating in the Cape Metropole.

# 1.9.3 Sampling technique

The sampling method employed was convenience sampling. Convenience sampling, also known as haphazard or availability sampling, is a non-probability or non-random sampling technique in which members of the target population are selected for the study based on practical criteria such as geographic proximity, availability at a specific time, easy accessibility, and/or willingness to volunteer (Dörnyei, 2007). This strategy was chosen since it allowed for the collection of data to be finished in a short amount

of time. It is also a cost-effective method of collecting data if the units of analysis are placed in places that are accessible to the researcher, as was the case in this study.

This method's simplicity also justified its use in this study, as only a few guidelines regulate how a sample should be chosen (Blanche et al., 2006). Within the ambit of convenience, sampling proceeded randomly, that is, every member of the population, having thus been narrowed down had an equal chance of being chosen as a subject (Taherdoost, 2016). This made for a reasonably representative sample. The generalisability of a study's findings to the full population is validated by the representativeness of the sample (Leung, 2015).

# 1.9.4 Data collection instruments

A questionnaire is a set of questions designed to extract the most accurate and relevant information possible from each member of the sample (Pietersen & Maree, 2007:158-159). To gather the information required for this study, a self-administered, closed-ended questionnaire survey was utilised.

The questionnaire was emailed and hand-delivered, enabling the researcher to collect data from a substantial sample and thereby improve the generalisability of the research findings (Hofstee, 2013:133). Distributing the questionnaire in this way gave the participants a chance to finish the questionnaire at their own pace, without the distraction of the researcher's presence.

A questionnaire with closed-ended questions was ideal as such questionnaires are effortless to complete, while the answers are readily quantifiable and straightforward to analyse. The use of email increased the response rate and enabled the collection of a large amount of data from a large sample in a short period and at a low cost (Young, 2015).

# 1.9.5 Questionnaire design

Since the questionnaires can be completed in the absence of the researcher (Rule & John, 2011:66; Thomas, 2011:165), they are best suited for gathering data from a large population, although they depend upon the careful and thoughtful construction of clear and unambiguous questions. Section A of the self-administered questionnaire consisted of questions about the demographic profile of the respondent.

Section B consisted of questions about the utilisation of the variables under investigation, such as rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. The questions in Section C focused on beyond budgeting and in Section D, the questions involved rolling forecast. The questions in Section E sought to measure management improvement in public schools. A five-point Likert scale was used to gather data pertaining to the variables.

#### 1.9.6 Data collection and fieldwork

Data was collected from representatives of public schools, notably principals, members of school governing bodies and heads of department, as they are commonly involved in decision-making and in the financial performance of schools and could be expected to be best informed about the topics under study. To gather the information, a self-administered, closed-ended questionnaire survey was utilised, which enabled the researcher to collect data from a substantial sample and thereby enhanced the generalisability of the research findings (Hofstee, 2013:133).

# 1.10 Data coding and analysis

The researcher analysed the data after it was obtained, after first organising and coding it. It was presented with the aid of descriptive statistics. The Statistical Software for Social Sciences (SPSS) and the structural equation modelling Partial least squares (SmartPLS) were used to test and confirm relationships among hypothesised variables, thereby enabling certain inferences to be made.

# 1.10.1 Descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics, according to Gjermen (2016), are used to convey quantitative descriptions in a digestible format. If the sample is big, the responses are analysed as percentages; if the sample is small, the responses are analysed as actual numbers (Ali & Bhaskar, 2016). This study uses percentages and graphs to summarise and describe the data. The replies to the five-point Likert scale questions were summed and ranked using an arithmetic mean. A standard deviation was calculated for these questions to determine the level of agreement among respondents' responses to a specific statement, with less than one suggesting agreement and more than one indicating disagreement.

# 1.10.2 Inferential statistics

Inferential statistics allow a researcher to infer information about a population based on observations and data analysis of a sample (Kuhar, 2010). They enable researchers to infer how variables relate to one another or to generalise findings from samples (AI-Mubarak, 1997), that is, to extrapolate the findings of an experimental study to a larger population (Collis & Hussey, 2009). The hypotheses test is validated by the sample size chosen, which must ensure that the research hypotheses apply to a larger number of people than those included in a single study (Byrne, 2013). To put it another way, if the same study was conducted with people with the same entry requirements in a similar demographic, the results should be identical.

#### 1.10.3 Reliability and validity analysis

Reliability and validity tests were performed in this study to guarantee that the correct research instrument was used (Taherdoost, 2016). Internal consistency was measured using composite reliability and Cronbach's alpha tests (Churchill & Brown, 2007; Taherdoost, 2016). According to Malhotra (2010), the minimum acceptable composite reliability value should be 0.70, while Cronbach's alpha coefficient must also be larger than 0.70 (Maziriri, 2018).

# 1.10.4 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

A two-step technique was used to analyse the data obtained on the research constructs, as described by Anderson and Gerbing (1988). The accuracy of multi-item construct measures was tested first, then the study model and hypotheses were tested.

The current study employed a structural equation modelling (SEM) technique in both stages of data analysis. SmartPLS was used to do a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). SmartPLS is a soft modelling approach to SEM that makes no assumptions about data distribution (Vinzi et al., 2010).

# **1.11 Ethical considerations**

The researcher explained the study's purpose to participants and let them know that participation was entirely voluntary and that they could leave at any time without

repercussions. To establish transparency, a letter of consent was handed to the participants for them to read and sign before the questionnaire was disseminated. The university's ethics committee had permitted the conduct of the study, which stipulated that participants in such a study would be protected from any negative effects that might result from their involvement.

# 1.12 Delineation

This study was restricted to public schools in the Cape Metropole. It is neither viable nor necessary to conduct a survey that covers every member of a target population in the entire country (Maduekwe, 2015; Mwanza, 2017; Mjongwana, 2018; Ntshonga, 2019). Moreover, data was only collected from principals, members of school governing bodies, heads of department and teachers in the sampled public schools.

# **1.13 Limitations and constraints**

There are various limitations to this study. To begin with, the literature review is limited mainly to English-language publications. Due to the non-academic nature and origin of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast, various kinds of management literature were used to create a thematic frame for the research. The study was restricted to public schools in the Cape Metropole, and the findings do not accurately reflect how these schools go about financial planning in general. The targeted respondents' busy schedules made it difficult for them to complete the questionnaire, and some of them were reluctant to complete it, as they perceived it to be an unnecessary exposure to the risk of disclosing sensitive information. In addition, because of the COVID-19 Lockdown restrictions, access to schools was difficult.

# 1.14 Contribution of the research

The model proposed in this study will contribute to the growing body of knowledge in management accounting. Rolling forecast, beyond budgeting and management improvement methods, have been studied only in sectors other than public schools. The findings of this study will therefore help to fill a knowledge gap in respect of public school management.

The South African government, particularly the Department of Education, could draw on the findings of this research to develop effective strategies for training principals, heads of departments, and members of school governing bodies in the management of school finances.

#### 1.15 Outline of the study

This study is organised into six chapters.

**Chapter One: Introduction and research background.** This chapter explains the study's background, identifies the research problem, presents the problem statement and establishes the research questions and objectives.

**Chapter Two: The literature review.** This chapter examines past scholarly publications in the topic in depth, placing the current study in perspective and identifying key issues.

**Chapter Three: Conceptual model and hypothesis development.** This chapter builds on the foundation laid in Chapter two by presenting the study's hypotheses and a conceptual model derived from theory and previous research.

**Chapter Four: Research methodology.** This chapter describes the research design and methodology, including sampling strategies, data collection techniques, and analysis.

Chapter Five: Analysis of data and discussion of the results. This chapter offers an analysis of the data collected and discusses the outcomes.

**Chapter Six: Summary, conclusions and recommendations.** The final chapter provides a summary of the study and the conclusions reached and makes recommendations for both proposed action and future research.

# CHAPTER TWO

# LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Introduction

The first chapter introduced the nature and purpose of the research. This chapter presents a review of previous work in the field, including substantive findings and theoretical and methodological contributions. A literature review is not an annotated bibliography as much as a discursive survey of a range of research relevant to the study at hand). The chapter is divided into three sections: (i) the research context, (ii) the theoretical framework and (iii) the empirical literature review.

# 2.2 The context of the study

This section delineates the research context of the study by providing an overview of public schools in South Africa and the connection between education and economic growth.

# 2.2.1 An overview of public schools in South Africa

# 2.2.1.1 Non-section 21 schools

According to section (16)(1) of the South African Schools Act (SASA), the governance of a public school is vested in its governing body, and the principal is responsible for the professional management of the school; in collaboration with the academic staff. In the case of non-Section 21 schools, however, the State's contribution is not deposited into the school's bank account. The department sets a resource allocation number, and the Department of Education oversees the school's spending.

The school, through the Department, is only supposed to spend the funds as follows (Mestry, 2004):

- On learners' needs: curriculum and teaching support materials, educational materials and supplies: 60 percent.
- Building maintenance and repairs: 12 percent.
- Payment for public services (municipal): 28 percent.

Only approved suppliers chosen by the provincial Department of Education can provide goods and services to schools. The principal must complete requisition forms and send them to the Department so they can pay the vendors (Mestry, 2004).

# 2.2.1.2 Non-fee-paying schools

Section 21 schools, on the other hand, have greater financial freedom. The Department provides them with funds, and they are responsible for ordering stationery and textbooks, paying water and electricity bills, and performing their own maintenance. They can also decide what subjects the school offers and what sports and other extracurricular activities students can participate in.

Schools in the lower quintiles (quintiles 1-3) are designated non-fee-paying schools and cannot collect school fees (Veriava et al., 2017). These schools receive the most government support (South Africa, 1998a), and have the authority to procure products and services, as long as they follow the Department of Education's rules. The Provincial Education Department (PED) ensures that the cost per learner is maintained at a consistent level, following the "norms, budget allocation, and resource targeting" for each relevant object (South Africa, 1998a).

# 2.2.1.3 Fee-paying schools

Fee-paying schools fall into the fourth and fifth quintiles. Because these schools receive only a small amount of government funding, they are permitted to charge tuition (Veriava et al., 2017). Non-fee-paying schools receive a significant sum per learner for fees that they are responsible for administering, according to the resource targeting table (Du Preez, 2018). These allocations are lower for the more affluent schools (South Africa, 1998a).

# 2.2.1.4 National Norms and Standards for School Funding (NNSSF)

In 1998, the National Norms and Standards for School Funding were published, thus establishing a framework for allocating resources to public schools. Section 39 of the National Standards for School Funding (South Africa, 1998a), the basic rationale for giving funds to schools; is to "effect redress and fairness in school funding, to gradually improve the standard of school education within the context of increased productivity

in planning, coordinating, and delivering educational services" (RSA, 1998). The state is required to provide the necessary funds to public schools from public funds, according to Section 34(1) of the Schools Act.

These funds are distributed fairly in order to ensure that all students have access to a high-quality education and that historical gaps in educational provision are filled (South Africa, 1996a). The funding norms are divided into six categories, according to Chisholm et al., (2003:473): comprising; new building, immovable resources, upgrades, recurring costs, and non-teaching staff costs. According to the Revised National Norms and Standards for School Funding (Mestry & Ndhlovu, 2014), schools serving South Africa's most impoverished communities are designated as "non-feepaying schools". There are no school fees payable at these schools. The Minister determines and amends the conditions for declaring no-fee schools regularly; and they are based on community poverty levels and other factors.

# 2.2.1.5 Financial management responsibilities of the principal and school governing bodies in public schools

According to Urba and Brewis (2002:4), principals usually perform several functions in their daily job. A function is a set of expected behavior patterns associated with a specific job or school position. Principals take on a leadership role in a school's daily operations while being overseen by their district (Hellriegel et al., 2007:4). Principals are in charge of the organisation and the administration of their respective schools. The local management of school funds by the school governing body's finance committee and the school principal is one of the most significant improvements in educational management since 1994. It has allowed schools a great deal more autonomy in handling their own affairs and managing the school budget (Dean, 2004:114). The Education Department expects principals to perform the following administrative duties as school financial managers (Nieman & Bennett, 2002:101; Van Deventer & Kruger, 2003:66):

- Manage the school's financial organisation, organising, directing, and overseeing all instructional programmes in the schools to meet their objectives.
- From the beginning, develop educational objectives, policies, and procedures for the entire school.

- Develop educational priorities, policies, and strategies for the entire school; based on the Education Department's general procedures and policies and translate these into concrete objectives and action plans.
- Establish completion deadlines for school programmes, establish performance evaluation standards for the staff, allocate resources to projects, and translate the Education Department's general objectives into viable operating plans, schedules, and procedures.

The financial management responsibilities of the school principal are set out in the Table below.

1. Organisation	2. Planning	3. Leading	4. Control
The school governing body	Types of financial planning	Leadership styles	Financial accounting
The school finance committee	Long-term/ strategic Functional Departmental	Situational Laissez-Faire	Financial statements & records Assets
Specialisation	Short-term	Autocratic Democratic	The school fund account, Fund raising
Departmentalisation	Budgeting		School auditing
Co-ordination	Budgeting types		independent/external auditing internal auditing Government, compliance, operational & performance audits
Delegation	Drawing up a		
Decentralization	budget		
	Budgeting approaches		

# Table 2.1: Scope of the school principal's financial management responsibilities

**Source:** Adapted by the author from Ntseto (2009)

According to Section 16(2) of SASA, a school governing body (SGB) is accountable for all of the school's properties and responsibilities, including finance. The SGB must ensure that funds are used to serve the school's and the students' best interests:

 Section 20 (1) (a) of SASA: Subject to this Act, the governing body of a public school must promote the best interests of the school and strive to ensure its development through the provision of quality education for all learners at the school.

The role of an SGB regarding the annual report of a public school's budget is stipulated in the Schools Act as follows;

- 38(1) A school governing body of a public school must prepare a budget each year according to prescriptions determined by the MEC in a Provincial Gazette, which shows the estimated income and expenditure of the school for the following financial year (South Africa, 1996a).
- (2) Before a budget referred to in subsection (1) is approved by the School Governing Body; it must be presented to a general meeting of parents convened with at least 30 days' notice, for consideration and approval by a majority of the parents present and voting (South Africa, 1996a).
- The notice contemplated in subsection (2) must also inform the parents that the budget will be available for inspection at the school at least 14 days prior to the meeting (South Africa, 1996a).

# 2.2.1.5.1 Prior studies on financial management and financial mismanagement

A study in Ghana revealed that schools' budgets represent the key financial planning framework around which income and expenditure are overseen. The research identified significant difficulties confronting the effectiveness of schools utilising financial management systems; either central government pays the funds late or the principals have inadequate skills to deal with school finances (Ackom-Wilson, 2015). Another study in Zimbabwe revealed that principals are not effectively managing public school funds, due to a lack of skills in various aspects of financial management such

as preparing the budgets for strategic decision making, record keeping of the schools' assets and raising funds (Nyandoro et al., 2013).

A similar study was conducted in South Africa. According to the findings, principals and chairpersons of school governing bodies wanted to play a significant role in school financial management but lacked the necessary financial management skills. The absence of financial management abilities was particularly clear in respect of SGB chairpersons. The result was that a variety of budgetary problems emerged at schools (Mpolokeng, 2011).

In another South African study, a questionnaire was administered to seventy-two principals in the Eastern Cape (Makrwede, 2012). The survey, which sought to determine their understanding of financial management principles, found significant disparities at most schools between the mandates of relevant financial policies and financial management practices. Basic deviations were identified, including poor financial recording and an absence of clarity on various financial structures' roles and responsibilities. Some school principals were not conversant with financial management techniques, while others failed to comply with the regulations and guidelines that were applicable to their financial management responsibilities (Makrwede, 2012).

A study in Tanzania surveyed a sample of forty-five participants consisting of five school headmasters, thirty high school teachers, nine SGB members and one district officer. The research revealed that training on financial management was not provided to school management, which caused serious limitations in its utilisation of financial resources. Common problems were a shortage of funds, the absence of financial training and the mishandling of funds. The study concluded that public secondary school principals and SGBs should be given better training (Kayola, 2015).

In Kenya, the government contributes 30 to 40 percent of the total budget for education. It is therefore crucial that the government funding is used effectively for its allocated purposes. A study was conducted employing a questionnaire and interviews (Mobegi, 2017). The sample comprised 126 school headmasters, 126 heads of department, 110 SGB members, 126 bursars, 1011 schoolteachers, and 10 quality assurance officers. The findings were that the widespread mismanagement of funds

was harming the quality of education. There was a need for financial training for all stakeholders directly or indirectly involved with financial management in public schools. School governing body members should set up financial advisory committees in public schools to assist in financial management, and the government should train school principals in financial accountability (Mobegi, 2017).

A related study was conducted in Tanzania, where a random sampling technique selected ten public primary schools for investigation (Mabolio, 2016). Once again, the findings revealed that school principals and SGB members lacked financial management skills, leading to poor accountability and mismanagement of public primary school funds. The study recommended that the government train public school headmasters and the SGB members in financial management, enhance their financial skills, and reduce poor accountability in financial reporting and financial mismanagement (Mabolio, 2016).

A comparable study in South Africa investigated the causes of financial mismanagement in public schools. The South African government distributes funds to schools each year and gives directives as to how principals and SGB members should manage the funds. However, the researchers discovered a lack of knowledge of the policies, a lack of financial management skills, poor monitoring and control of funds, a lack of integrity, and a lack of transparency (Rangongo et al., 2016). The study recommended that there should be remedial mechanisms in public schools to align financial management with the principle of good governance (Rangongo et al., 2016).

Even though these studies were conducted in South or East Africa and their findings are consistent and informative, they may not be generalisable to Cape Metropole public schools, as they do not examine the potential role that Beyond Budgeting and rolling forecast might play in the improvement of financial management at these schools.

#### 2.3 The connection between education and economic growth

Education in South Africa during the time of Apartheid demanded the separation of racial groups. The post-Apartheid era ushered in equal education for all (Rusznyak, 2014). While education is seen as critical for economic growth, there are genuine concerns around issues of quality and performance in education in South Africa.
Although the education system has been prioritised and overhauled, and even though it is imperative for development, the quality of education continues to decline. Throughout the Apartheid era, the education system in South Africa favoured the white minority and disadvantaged black people (Nkohla, 2014). Unfortunately, the pattern of disadvantage has persisted, even though the lines of division are now, strictly speaking, those of social class rather than race. The equality of education in public schools is generally poor. Most public schools are attended by black communities and are deprived of resources, facilities, qualified teachers, and adequate school governing bodies. In 2005, a new curriculum was introduced to bring about greater equality between private and public schools. However, it made the situation worse as the curriculum required high-quality teachers and considerable resources, which are absent in most public schools (Ramdass, 2009). South Africa is confronted with the reality of two education systems, a public schooling system (75 percent) and a private schooling system (25 percent), which perform completely differently (see Table 2.2 below). Included for present purposes as 'private schools' are fee-paying public schools that were once reserved for and were known in the early post-Apartheid years as 'model C schools'.

Public Schools (75%)	Private Schools (25%)
Weak accountability	Strong accountability
Incompetent school governing body and principals	Competent school governing body and principals
Absence of culture of learning, discipline and order	Culture of learning, discipline and order
Inadequate learner teacher support material	Adequate learner teacher support material
Weak teacher content knowledge	Sufficient teacher content knowledge
High teacher absenteeism	Low teacher absenteeism
Slow curriculum coverage, once a week homework and few writing assessments	Covers the curriculum, everyday homework, learners frequently write assessments.
High repetition or dropout (Grade 10- 12)	Low repetition or dropout (Grade 10-12)

2.3.1 South Africa's two diverse schooling systems Table 2.2: South Africa's two diverse schooling systems

Extremely weak learning: most students fail standardised tests

Source: adapted by the author from UNISA (2012)

Because of poor governance and corruption, the economy in South Africa has been stagnant for the past decade; but questions of economic performance are also inseparably connected to the disappointing failure of the country's education system. South Africa spends roughly 6 per cent of its gross domestic product (GDP) on education (Smuts, 2014). Public spending on education totalled 6.1614 per cent of South Africa's GDP in 2018, more than meeting the World Bank's recommendations for developing economies (see Figure 2.1 below).



## Figure 2.1: Historical data

Source: adapted by the author from World Bank (2020)

The connection between education and economic growth is the human capital that education helps to create, which makes for a more democratic and peaceful society (Harber, 2010). It improves the quality of work; but unless education is of high quality, it does not necessarily translate into effective citizenship. People can be taught but remain unemployable, and therefore "structurally unemployed". They are the victims of a mismatch between a failing education system and the needs of a modern socio-economic system (Nkohla, 2014).

## 2.4 The management and improvement of public schools

Effective school management is widely identified as a crucial component of a school's success. Many schools in South Africa fail to meet the Department's and their own community's achievement requirements (Bush & Glover, 2016), which is generally

linked to the ability, expertise, and personality of the school management team, particularly the principal (South African Department of Basic Education [DBE], 2018).

According to Bush (2011:39), the adaptability and activity required to lead and oversee schools in times of rapid change means that planning should go beyond preparing principals to execute specific requirements by developing well-rounded and confident managers who can engage with public school stakeholders for the benefit of students and communities. According to a study conducted in Mpumalanga, only 88 percent of the 180 school management teams surveyed held monthly or less frequent meetings (12 percent met weekly). More than half of those polled ranked program management and tracking teaching and learning as their top two priorities, indicating that instructional leadership is becoming increasingly important (Bush & Glover, 2013).

Financial management is the most pressing growth need for Gauteng principals, according to Bush and Heystek's (2006) survey. Principals believed that involving SGB body members, as required by law, made financial management more difficult (Mestry & Hlongwane, 2009:341). Based on focus group interviews with SGB representatives and educators in four schools south of Johannesburg, Mestry (2004:127) found that there were four major problematic areas: budget planning, money management, and the monitoring and evaluation of funds. In the Ramotse region of Tshwane, Gauteng, Lekalakala (2009) identified similar issues, which seemed connected with either a shortage of educational facilities or a lack of quality provision. According to Thenga (2012), there is a shortage of SGB instruction, inconsistent training, limited accounting expertise, and differing practices among local and district education officials in Gauteng township schools.

Van Rooyen (2012) summarized the recent literature and suggested guidelines for financial management at all levels, to aid policy development and to explain the scope of financial administration. More recently, as a state-mandated initiative, each school's School Advisory Council had to draw up a school improvement plan to serve as a roadmap for the school improvement process. Leaders and strategy committees are forced to identify targets, set goals and establish plans, including the SGB and stakeholders, as part of the planning process (Escobar, 2019).

## 2.4.1 In improving school management and leadership practices, the Department of Basic Education (South Africa. DBE, 2018) will:

- Mediate the South African Standard for Principalship Policy; and
- Mediate the Framework for School Principal Induction. Before starting at the school, newly appointed principals will go through a year-long induction program. The newly appointed principals will be exposed to the Department's basic expectations in carrying out their responsibilities. The program will include a collection of essential legislation, best practices, non-negotiables, and information about how circuit and district offices work.

The principals will have to:

- Provide curriculum management training.
- Create Professional Learning Communities (PLC) in geographical areas for principals to share best practices, while being guided by circuit managers.
   PLCs must be institutionalized at district level, so that they do not function as social contracts for underperforming schools. The circuit manager will schedule PLC meetings.

## 2.5 Theoretical grounding

In an attempt to identify strategic tools for the management and improvement of public schools, this study explores the principles of agency theory, financial control theory, allocation of resource theory and general systems theory to create a theoretical framework. These theories are discussed in the following sections:

## 2.5.1 Agency theory

For the past 25 years, agency theory has provided one of the foremost models in managerial accounting, offering a theoretical framework for understanding the processes within organisations, from the viewpoint of a principal-agent. According to Eisenhardt (1989), agency theory is applicable when two parties, the principal and the agent, collaborate to achieve the principal's goals; in which case the agent has responsibilities as the principal's representative,(Zsidisin & Ellram, 2003; Halldorsson et al., 2007; Ketchen et al., 2007).

In public schools, the government and stakeholders are the principals, while the head teacher and members of the school governing body are the agents. Through the Department of Basic Education, the government enlists the services of school principals and the SGB (Munge et al., 2016). This study focuses on improving educational outcomes by improving the management (principals and the SGB) of public schools. To achieve this, schools will have to shoulder their responsibilities as agents and regularly monitor and evaluate the management processes. The principal places trust in the agent to identify such disputes or disagreements as might arise. In business, the shareholder is the principal, and the corporate executive, is the agent (Panda & Leepsa, 2017). Even if it might not seem so on the surface, shareholders and business executives are inseparably linked with each other. Such connections are fraught with conflict (Vitolla et al., 2020b). The following are some of the most intricate and interconnected commercial partnerships that include a principal-agent link and qualify for an agency theory perspective.

#### 2.5.1.1 Shareholders and executives of the company

In terms of agency theory, the shareholder is the principal. This is due to the fact that a shareholder invests in an executive's firm, and the executive is accountable for decisions that affect the shareholder's investment. A negative relationship will result if a business executive performs poorly and lowers the value of the shareholder's shares. On the other hand, a positive relationship will exist if the corporate leader performs ethically and efficiently, resulting in growth in the value of the shareholder's shares (Evans & Tourish, 2017).

#### 2.5.1.2 Fund manager and investor

The investor is the principal in this case because he or she entrusts a portion of their income to the fund management that acts as the agent; who is responsible for distributing income on the investor's behalf. If the fund manager invests in volatile equities and generates a lower-than-expected return for the investor, the relationship is negative (Haq et al., 2018). If, on the other hand, the fund manager exceeds expectations in terms of profit, the investor complements the fund manager and a positive relationship is formed.

## 2.5.1.3 The board of directors and the CEO

The board of directors is the principal further up the hierarchy, and the CEO is the agent. If the CEO makes a bad financial decision that causes the company to go into debt, the board of directors is much more likely to vote against him in the next election. On the other hand, if the CEO establishes a new company sector that provided unrivalled market innovation, he or she will be praised by the board of directors and will probably remain in power for years. These examples of connections reflect concepts in agency theory. Agency theory investigates the unique connection between a principal and his/her agent. Throughout the partnership, the agent conducts various activities and makes choices on behalf of the principal. Such choices and actions can cause disputes and confrontation between the two sides. To elaborate further; the following are the primary reasons for agency problems:

- When the principal and the agent have a conflict of interest.
- When the agent makes decisions on behalf of the principal that are not in the best interests of all parties involved.
- The agent may act independently of the principal in order to receive a previously agreed-upon incentive or bonus.
- Breach of confidentiality involving personal and financial information about the principal.
- Insider trading based on the principal's knowledge.
- When the principal disregards the agent's recommendations.

Given the power and trust dynamics at work, it is not surprising that an entire theory has been developed to investigate the connection and interaction between a principal and an agent (Vitolla et al., 2020b). Certain procedures and principles may be adopted by both the agent and the principal, to minimise the probability of conflict.

## 2.5.1.4 Financial control theory

The financial control theory was proposed by Ostman (2009). The theory's essential reference point is personal human functions, both current and potential. These functions include payments, financial instruments, accounting, control models and economic calculations. Issues arising from these should be addressed in terms of internal characteristics and potential consequences. It should be noted that defining

the relationships between various activities and financial processes is a broad and fundamental issue in financial management (Ostman, 2009).

The theory of financial controls for businesses is divided into several cross-sectional perspectives. The first is concerned with the human functions of organisations, their operations and productivity. The second has to do with the organisation's structure and operations and the transactions that different parties conduct with one another (Munge et al., 2016). The third field concerns control systems, namely the recurring processes and methods used to connect current and future operations to external and internal resources (Ostman, 2009). These financial management mechanisms are critical from the viewpoint of both individual entities and broader economic structures (Ostman, 2009).

The current study is relevant to financial control theory because it contributes to a better understanding of the interface between individuals and financial management. Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast are two financial control measures.

#### 2.5.2 Allocation of resource theory

The allocation of resources theory which is thought to offer a suitable theoretical foundation for this study. Allocation of resources theory investigates how an organisation's assets and capabilities can be utilised to lay the groundwork for competitive advantage (Barney, 1991). Public schools are faced with a shortage of financial management skills, inadequate resources and a lack of relevant training (Rangongo, 2016). They can, however, use strategic tools to help achieve their educational objectives and improve management processes (OECD, 2017).

Improved management processes will aid in the development of strong relationships among; principals, the school governing body, and other stakeholders such as parents. Such relationships will encourage transparency and collaboration toward achieving educational objectives, which is the equivalent in the education sector of gaining a competitive edge.

## 2.5.3 System theory

Koul's organisation framework theory for school financial management views the school as a system of interconnected elements that all contribute to the system's

effective functioning (Koul,1984). System theory facilitates our understanding of the need for schools to be adaptable and to engage in continuous improvement of learners' experiences and achievements (Mathews, 2010).

In this study, the researcher used systems theory as a theoretical framework to examine interactions within communal frameworks. The budget process at the school involves a number of entities, including the school governing body, the school management team, the finance committee, and parents; and systems theory aids in recognising the roles that these entities play in maintaining control over school funds. Financial resources are an essential input into any public system because they provide the means to operate all of the institution's affairs and attain educational goals (Boston et al., 1996).

## 2.6 Empirical literature

The following section discusses empirical literature on the various strategic concepts and tools for financial management canvassed in this study.

## 2.6.1 Balanced scorecard (BSC)

The BSC is a performance measurement and strategic management instrument that can be used by all forms and sizes of companies (Giannopoulos et al., 2013). The BSC helps managers to focus on problems that hinder growth and create strategic initiatives (Kaplan & Norton, 1996; Quesado et al., 2018). The BSC, according to Iranzadeh, et al., (2017), is a tool that helps organisations communicate their plans to different stakeholders in the form of a collection of organisational goals that renders the whole organisation's behaviour more successful.

The BSC is a strategic management framework that tests the execution of business objectives from four viewpoints, to ensure that vision and strategy are converted into a consistent set of performance measures (Kaplan & Norton, 1996:53, 75). The following are the four viewpoints of a balanced scorecard:

**Financial perspective:** Increased revenue can be attributed to new customers, newly innovated products, employee programs, and the implementation of new marketing strategies and distribution networks, during the growth stage. Sustainability has an impact on traditional financial metrics such as gross margin, operating profits, and

return on capital employed. To maximise return on investment, harvesting is based on cash flow (Chitu, & Opris 2014).

**Customer perspective:** Captures the organisation's ability to secure high-quality products and services, as well as the efficiency with which they are delivered and the extent of customer loyalty (Sahiti et al., 2016). It also explains how a company needs to set itself apart from its rivals, to attract, maintain, and deepen relationships with customers (Al-Zwyalif, 2017).

**Internal business perspective:** This perspective aims to identify processes in which a company must succeed internally, in order to meet consumer expectations and achieve financial goals. It includes quality-oriented, flexible, time-based, and costbased measures (Matsoso, 2014).

Learning and growth perspective: Comprises identifying the infrastructure that the company needs to build to achieve long-term, sustainable growth, and development is part of the learning and growth perspective (Sahiti et al., 2016). It has the goal of assessing the importance of jobs for the company at three levels of contribution: as an employee, as a team member, or as someone who is incorporated into the company culture (Scaramussa et al., 2010).



Figure 2.2: The Balanced Scorecard model, showing its four perspectives Source: Adapted from Kaplan and Norton (1996:9)

## 2.6.2 Budgeting

Budgeting is considered a key driver that can be used to evaluate management performance and the critical elements of strategic planning. Budgeting plays a crucial role in an organisation and is arguably the most influential tool for management control (Rickards, 2006). Accuracy, the identification of future expenditure, and the optimal allocation of resources are crucial to keep the business afloat (Joachim, 2007:70). According to Orlando (2009:48), budgeting has the following benefits. It can be:

- Applied as a cash flow management strategy.
- Used as a tool to respond to market volatility.
- Used as a tool to track and report on the success of an organisation.
- Used to assess whether management incentives are in line with their departments' budgeted targets.

There are numerous budgeting techniques available for use in institutions such as schools. The choice of technique or combination of techniques depends on the circumstances of the school (De Bruin, 2014). Some of these are described below.

**Zero-based budget:** The zero-based budget, according to Van Deventer and Kruger (2003:237), is the most detailed method of budgeting. Each item of expenditure is reconsidered each year. Zero-based budgeting assumes that one can begin the new fiscal year with a blank sheet of paper (rather than using the previous year's budget), which becomes a new financial plan after all income and expenditure are re-evaluated (Kennedy, 2011:6).

**Flexible budget:** A rolling budget that is divided into quarterly cycles is more adaptable. This budget strategy may be used by management to shift resources from one department to another, without demotivating stakeholders (Conradie, 2002:143).

**Cash budget:** A cash budget is an essential tool for controlling a company's finances (Bohannon & Edwards, 1993:1). Cash budgets should show the starting cash/bank balance as well as all possible cash inflows, such as cash from customers, debtor payments, dividends earned, interest received, and any proceeds from the selling of plant, land, equipment or securities (Needles & Crosson, 2013:213).

Line-item budget: According to Du Plessis (2012:89), a line-item budget is one in which the name of each line item (for example, training materials) is fixed, as is the amount of money that can be spent on each item. A line budget thus defines the name of each item category as well as the funds allocated to that line item.

## 2.6.3 Strategic planning

A budget is similar to a gearbox, which transmits power from the engine to the wheels. It defines resource allocation and describes how an organization can outperform its competitors, which is the goal of every strategic plan. According to Keogh (2008:36), integrating policy with the budgeting process can make corporate performance management more effective. He goes on to say that to achieve good budgeting tied to policy, the following steps must be taken:

- Senior management must set, track, and measure long-term goals.
- Each goal must be evaluated in terms of its significance, to achieve growth and improved results.
- Following a review of the external and internal market environments, strategies must be implemented, and various tactics and budgets must be compared.
- Risks can be identified and effective action plans developed to improve overall planning success.
- The final stage is to distribute resources based on budgeted estimates that are consistent with long-term strategic planning.

The purpose of strategic planning, according to McNamara (2003), is to determine where an organisation wants to go, examine the organisation's context as well as the challenges it faces, set priorities and objectives, and decide how these can be achieved. It is also essential to have a mechanism for monitoring and evaluating the plan's execution (Robinson, 2007).

The strategic planning phase consists of a flow of corporate-level priorities, paired with a flow of programme and expenditure options from the company, with practical stages for their implementation. The strategic planning process, when done correctly, involves widespread engagement that results in many proposals, eventuating consensus, and clarification going forward (Maleka, 2014). Most businesses do not place enough emphasis on strategic planning (Cokins, 2008:48).

Strategic planning is critical for identifying the right goods, facilities, and consumers for increased market value. Senior management should include targets in the strategic budget. Combining a driver-based budget with a rolling forecast can improve performance or, at the very least, the performance of the budgeting process. Budgeting is regarded as a critical driver of strategic planning. Moreover, budgeting is the most influential tool for management control, playing a pivotal role in an organisation.

## 2.7 Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast

#### 2.7.1 Definition and importance of Beyond budgeting

**Beyond budgeting** is a set of fundamental values that, when followed, enables a company to efficiently manage its performance and spread its decision-making process without the need for traditional budgets. Its mission is to assist the organisation to meet the information economy's requirements for success (Mejzini & Seidel, 2013). Beyond budgeting was conceptualised to improve an organisation's ability to deal with environmental uncertainty (Sandalgaard & Bukh, 2017).

The Chartered Institute of Management Accountancy (CIMA) describes it as encompassing the "idea that companies need to move beyond budgeting because of the inherent flaws in budgeting; especially when it is used to set contracts. It is argued that a range of techniques, such as rolling forecast and market-related targets, can take the place of traditional budgeting" (Chartered Institute of Management Accountancy, 2005).

According to Morlidge and Player (2010), beyond budgeting is the process of transitioning from traditional budgeting command and control to an engaged and adaptive management model. It releases individuals from the burdens of stifling bureaucracy and unbending control, by giving them greater scope to think, reflect, learn and improve. Beyond budgeting provides benefits to the organisation by increasing the focus on innovation, as more resources are made available so as to be

allocated according to the real needs of each unit. The organisation's management is likely to be more enthusiastic as organisational goals start to become better aligned with individual goals.

Hope and Fraser argued that for businesses to succeed in unpredictable environments, they must resort to practices that enable them to adapt rapidly to changing circumstances (Hope, 2008; Hope & Fraser, 1997, 2003a, 2003b).

Hope et al., (2015) summarised the nature of the beyond budgeting method in the twelve beyond budgeting concepts set out in Table 2.3 below.

 Table 2.3: 2016 version of the beyond budgeting principles

Leadership Principles	Management Processes
1. Values – Govern through a few clear values, goals and boundaries, not detailed rules and budgets	7. Goals – Set relative goals for continuous improvement. Don't negotiate fixed performance contracts
2. Performance – Create a high- performance climate based on relative success, not on meeting fixed targets	8. Rewards – Reward shared success based on relative performance, not on meeting fixed targets
3. Transparency – Promote open information for self-management, don't restrict it hierarchically	9. Planning – Make planning a continuous and inclusive process, not a top-down annual event
4. Organisation – Organise as a network of lean, accountable teams, not around centralised functions	10. Coordination – Coordinate interactions dynamically, not through annual planning cycles
5. Autonomy – Give teams the freedom and capability to act; don't micro- manage them	11. Resources – Make resources available as needed, not through annual budget allocations
<ol> <li>Customers – Focus everyone on improving customer outcomes, not on hierarchical relationships</li> </ol>	12. Controls – Base controls on relative indicators and trends, not on variances against plans

# 2.7.2 The leadership principles and management processes of beyond budgeting

In beyond budgeting systems, management structure and control processes are inextricably related, and both can be used to improve adaptability (Dugdale & Lyne, 2010). The twelve beyond budgeting principles are discussed in greater depth and merged with the corresponding processes.

**Create a culture of excellence focused on long-term competitive success.** Instead of focusing on the previous year's budget, a company should strive to outperform its rivals. Goals are set in collaboration with the managers as a group and are constantly adjusted in response to the success of the organisation's rivals and market changes (De Waal, 2005). To avoid comparing results to goals, targets are based on both external metrics and internal measures, and they should be kept separate from incentives and performance assessment. Furthermore, the goals are set over a longer period, to allow the team to reach them (Hope & Fraser, 2003).

**Support an open and accessible information system.** Information should be made available to employees in a timely and accessible manner. Information with variables such as "orders, sales, expenses, earnings, and cash flows" (Hope & Fraser 2003:87) should be communicated to provide a more realistic view of potential results. Upcoming circumstances are taken into account by using rolling forecast. KPIs are also very useful since they can be used as a substitute for budgetary regulation (Hope & Fraser, 2003a).

**Provide front-line teams with tactics and the freedom and capability to act.** The beyond budgeting model does include tactics, but the difference is that the process is ongoing and bottom-up, as opposed to traditional budgeting, which follows a set top-down process. Furthermore, front-line staff have a say in the planning, thus making the strategy process more adaptable to changing conditions and circumstances (De Waal, 2005). Furthermore, it is argued that devolving strategy and accountability to front-line teams increases the likelihood of companies creating value for their customers on a continuous basis (Hope & Fraser, 2003).

**Develop team commitment to a mutual goal, consistent values, and shared incentives.** Individual reward schemes, according to Hope and Fraser (2003b), are ineffective and inefficient for businesses because success is achieved through employee teamwork rather than individual effort. As a result, incentives should be based on the team's performance. By comparing the different teams' KPIs at the end of the year, awards will be made to teams that achieved an appropriate result. Furthermore, rewarding teams rather than people can inspire and empower teams (De Waal, 2005). To maintain this sense of empowerment, managers must dedicate the team to a mutual goal with strong ideals and shared rewards (Hope & Fraser, 2003c).

To support external customers, a company should organise around a network of teams that dynamically links their capabilities. Beyond budgeting systems tend to collaborate by sharing their expertise and matching their resources to fulfil the demands of their customers. Customers are prioritised so that the company can achieve the competitive advantage of having extremely happy customers (Hope & Fraser, 2003c).

Encourage frugality and hold all resources accountable for their value-added commitment. This principle calls for allocating resources to the units that require them the most. According to that philosophy, business units should determine what resources are required to successfully meet market demand. Every year, the company's various divisions make their own investment plans for different investment pools, implying that there are no fixed investment budgets (De Waal, 2005). Rolling forecast and evaluations of previous investments are used in investment portfolios when capital for ventures is required. Services will be provided when they are required (Hope & Fraser 2003c). There must be no waste and the principle of accountability for resources must be strenuously respected.

#### 2.7.3 Rolling forecast

## Definition and importance of rolling forecast

**Rolling forecast** is a process that entails frequent forecasts to be performed, at similar intervals such as quarterly, half-yearly or even monthly (Joachim, 2007:68; CIMA, 2013). The method results in organisations using fewer cost centres or general ledgers when drafting budget figures. The process is further explained as always extending a set number of financial periods into the future. Hope and Fraser (2003b) claimed that rolling forecast differ from traditional budgets in that they are updated more frequently and are therefore more accurate. Meintjies (2012) specified the difference between rolling forecast and traditional budgeting as the fact that rolling forecast do not have a specific fixed timeline, and that the items for which management has to budget comprise only the main components, namely sales, costs, and margin.

Paniccia (2008:26) clarifies the advantages of utilising the rolling forecast approach rather than conventional budgeting. Without the long arrangements, employees will save on considerable time they would have spent when following the traditional budgeting process. This time saved can be transferred to the critical ventures and plans of the company. The rolling forecast technique means constantly planning ahead; long term as well as short term. Rather than being focused on the twelve-month money-related period, it is overhauled each month. The most recently advertised data shapes the next portion of the rolling forecast, which makes it more dependable and accurate (O'Connor et al., 2000; Paniccia, 2008:26). This is particularly true for forecasts that show patterns, whether they be upward or downward. According to Waddell and Sohal (1994), forecasts are less useful in conditions with low uncertainty that can be predicted easily. High turbulence conditions, on the other hand, necessitate a greater need for forecasting. Tanlu (2008) discovered that forecast accuracy increased in low-uncertainty environments but did not improve overall business performance.

Organisations that use rolling forecast have a planning culture that is distinct from those that do not. While conventional budgeting systems require planning over a set period, rolling forecast are revised throughout the year, allowing managers to schedule their workload associated with forecasting. The primary purpose of rolling forecast is to provide reliable details for projected capital spending, display patterns in key performance metrics, assist in decision-making and cash management, and help in execution of plans (Hope & Fraser, 2003a). According to the creators of beyond budgeting, rolling forecast should be used mainly to enhance strategic management and to learn within organisations, as well as to inspire employees. They should not be used for control purposes (Hope & Player, 2012). Rolling forecast results should be unbiased and display realistic predictions for key performance metrics because they are unrelated to performance assessment and incentives. Rolling forecast are linked to a company's plan and aid in its execution (De Leon et al., 2012). Furthermore, the approach encourages the organisation's resource distribution and capability of being versatile.

Melnychuk et al. (2019) summarised the seven factors for the successful implementation of rolling forecast in Figure 2.3 below.





**Source:** Best Practice in Financial Analysis (2019)

**Culture:** The business culture of an organisation is the starting point for a successful rolling forecast. Top management support and key participant acceptance are required for successful implementation. A rolling forecast is a management tool, and not a measurement one, as all stakeholders must realise. It should not adhere to accounting principles (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**People:** People are the second most important aspect in a successful rolling forecast. For those working with a rolling forecast, financial planning and analysis is vital. They should be skilled communicators with analytical skills, able to see the 'big picture' and be capable of building models (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**Models and systems**: Excel is still used for financial planning and analysis in four out of five businesses. It is nearly impossible to create a rolling forecast for a multimillion or multibillion-dollar corporation in Excel. To make it easier to plan diverse scenarios and anticipate events, quick models and systems are necessary and should be driverbased. Flexible systems that are adaptable to financial planning and analysis should be used. Many firms still try to accomplish this with Excel, but Excel is prone to errors, which could be one of the reasons why a rolling forecast might fail (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**Processes:** Processes should be rapid, flexible, and collaborative, with non-valueadding activities minimised. This requires time, effort, and education. A previous organisation the author worked for was unable to enhance its process because the operational calendar had been set three years earlier. Standardisation and modern systems can aid in the improvement of processes. However, it is up to financial planning and analysis to ensure that they are applied (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**Design:** Understanding the level of detail required in a rolling forecast is critical. It should be timely and should enable action to be taken. To comprehend what will drive the future, the forecast should provide the bare minimum of data. Actionable projections are those that are based on drivers and assumptions. We should not utilise traditional accounting data structures because they do not explain why things happen and are hence useless (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**Alignment:** In most businesses, there are three planning processes: strategic planning, where everything starts, business planning, where the majority of financial planning and analysis is done, and operational planning, which feeds into the business plan. An effective rolling forecast requires alignment and communication between these planning processes (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

**Participation:** Many people are involved in the forecasting process, both financial and non-financial. Financial planners and analysts must act as company partners and teach non-financial people how to use the right drivers and systems. Many organisations have a gap between strategy and execution. Integrating other departments into the planning process can help to bridge this gap. While participation is crucial, financial planners and analysts must also ensure that the process does not become overburdened (Melnychuk et al., 2019).

# 2.8 The use of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques by schools and organisations

Several studies have examined the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast globally and in the South African context. The findings are that these practices are part of a major rethinking project on the part of organisations worldwide (Sabela, 2012;

Meintjies, 2012; Silva, 2015; Úlfarsson, 2018; Guruge, 2021). Management accountants are exceptionally positioned to create business values to build top-quality beyond budgeting and rolling forecast practices. Financial leaders need to adopt new strategies like these to stay pertinent and avoid broken budgets and financial mismanagement (Wolf, 2015).

The principals and members of the SGBs at public schools have to adopt new strategies to handle their finances better. A study conducted in South Africa identified two methodologies whereby new financial management techniques are replacing outdated budgeting systems (Nyamita et al., 2015). In the first approach, firms differentiate beyond budgeting and rolling forecast. This differentiation appears to be the driver of budget relinquishment. The second approach was that planning and forecasting remain interlinked and that numerous characteristics of the traditional yearly budgeting process remain, but in more streamlined structures (Henttu-Aho & Järvinen, 2013).

## 2.8.1 Utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast by organisations

A study conducted by Ouda (2016) considered flexible financial management systems such as beyond budgeting and rolling forecast. Evidence was gathered using an online survey questionnaire. The findings showed that ninety per cent of the South African business community prefers a conventional budgeting system, as they fear that their organisations will lack oversight without budgeting.

An earlier study reported an obvious move from traditional budgeting towards better budgeting (Sabela, 2012). This move is bolstered by the inability of traditional budgeting to stay abreast of the fast changes occurring in large-scale and small-scale financial elements. However, none of the respondents demonstrated that they had adopted and employed beyond budgeting. This opposition on the part of the South African business network towards beyond budgeting and the subsequent slow pace of the execution of this new practice is similar to how organisations worldwide have reacted to this radical budgeting innovation (Sabela, 2012).

A survey was conducted to test hypothesised outcomes in the structure of an actual organisation (Wienhold, 2015). The results demonstrated a solid relationship between the usage of certain beyond budgeting strategies and a decrease in certain traditional

budgeting problems. Additional factors such as an organisation's size, the industry the organisation is in and the nature of technique execution should be assessed, to build accuracy into the structure (Wienhold, 2015).

The findings of a study conducted in Portugal showed that while traditional budgeting processes remained relevant to companies, the advantages of the beyond budgeting model were evident in the case study analysed (Silva, 2015). The traditional budgeting process's constraints were compensated for and indicated to the company the direction in which it should be moving.

Sandalgaard & Bukh (2017) argued that organisations that use beyond budgeting to change their financial management techniques maintain fixed budgeted targets. They argued that when budgets are used at the corporate level for a few items, the diagnostic utility of budgeting at organisational level may focus on a larger number of line items. The study does point out that the absence of internal benchmarks and the need to convey the normal outcomes to the organisation's owners may obstruct the use of the beyond budgeting model, as has been cautioned in the expert-based beyond budgeting literature (Sandalgaard & Bukh, 2017).

After a broad database search and reference selection, Nguyen et al., (2018) analysed 32 papers for bibliographical data, research plans and discoveries in the area of beyond budgeting. Although advocates of beyond budgeting have invested a generous amount of energy in creating and advancing this concept, the majority of empirical studies indicate that companies would generally prefer to improve traditional budgeting rather than desert it totally. The study proposed that further research is required on beyond budgeting and the challenges that arise when it is implemented (Nguyen et al., 2018). Several studies have examined rolling forecast as the principal alternative to traditional budgets (e.g., Lorain, 2010; Sivabalan, 2011). De Leon et al., (2012) found that proponents of beyond budgeting view budgets as static, burdensome and time-wasting plans that added little value to their businesses. They preferred the notion of rolling forecast because it improved the performance management processes in their organisation.

Lorain (2010) interviewed representatives of Spanish companies operating in an uncertain environment. The statistical results revealed that over 60 percent of the

respondents claimed that environment-responsive adjustments made it exceptionally difficult to build up accurate budgets. During the economic down cycle, producing reliable financial forecasts required incredible exertion. Lorain (2010) also conducted qualitative interviews with organisations already using rolling forecast and found that it was considered a powerful and vital strategic planning tool. It was beneficial for cash management and day-to-day decision making, yet they would not substitute it for budget evaluation.

Lorain et al., (2015) conducted another study of company results and discovered that they had become more adaptable when allowed to make budget changes. The proportion of businesses that could change their budget after it had been approved had increased significantly, from 44 percent in 2008 to 65 percent in 2013. The majority of respondents stated that the implementation of rolling forecast enabled their company to constantly adjust its financial data, while remaining focused on the strategic objectives defined during the planning stage. (Lorain et al., 2015).

An international marketing company, the Aberdeen Group, found that 83 percent of financial reports were accurate for companies who had employed rolling forecast compared to the 74 percent of other companies. Businesses that effectively utilised rolling forecast had increased revenues and operating margins of 10 and 8 percent, respectively, compared to the 7 and 6 percent, respectively, of others (Castellina, 2013). The research showed that organisations are moving towards using rolling forecast as a financial management tool. Management accountants should use rolling forecast to navigate continuous change (Zeller & Metzger, 2013).

A study by Henttu-Aho (2016) illustrated that the execution of rolling forecast was a possible way of curing the deficiencies of accounting information, which enabled specialist controllers to create and convey more practical forward-looking information within an organisation. Henttu-Aho (2016) used a multiple case-study approach to investigate differences in planning and the use of control mechanisms in organisations that had recently sought to improve their planning. The findings revealed two forecasting approaches. First, in proactive planning, rolling forecast was used to advance information aimed at more practical outcomes. Concepts emerging from interactive discussion were frequently actioned before monetary abnormalities arising between strategies and targets were evaluated (Henttu-Aho, 2018). Secondly, in

reactive planning, rolling forecast supported the yearly budgeting, and a firm cooperative process was established for both modes of planning, involving the scrutiny and analysis of changes. Synergies between financial practices were also produced; for example, in the procedures for setting objectives, wherein forecasts informed managers of the level of results that was deemed achievable, and thus served as a practical premise for setting targets (Henttu-Aho, 2018).

#### 2.8.2 Utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast by schools

**Transparency:** The information presented should be open and transparent. Aina and Bipath (2020) maintained that stakeholders should be well-versed in handling and reporting financial matters, especially the person who oversees the planning and controlling of the school's accounts. The principle of transparency should inform all financial management tools in fee-paying public schools (Aina & Bipath, 2020).

*Trust:* The literature shows that financial mismanagement in schools is to a great extent due to principals and SGBs. This is in part because there is no working relationship between the stakeholders, especially in schools in townships and rural areas (Rangongo, 2016).

**Teams:** A study by Mestry and Govindasamy (2013) showed that principals generally do not allow for genuine teamwork to permit the SGB to take part in school governance. Arguably, the main challenge emanates from the confusion between the SGB's members and school principals, as to who is really responsible for managing a public school's finances.

**Planning:** Making financial planning a continuous and inclusive process is imperative for public schools. According to SASA, a public school budget should be prepared in accordance with provincial guidelines. If not, it will be difficult for the school's needs and objectives to be met (Mosala & Mofolo, 2016). Financial planning is a crucial tool that forms part of the school's financial management responsibilities. It should therefore involve the determination of the public school's goals, targets, financial policy, and financial procedures (Mosala & Mofolo, 2016). Lack of financial planning can lead to the mismanagement of funds and inefficiency in the use of resources (Naidoo & Mestry, 2017).

**Resource allocation:** There is wide agreement that resources should be allocated just-in-time and not in-case. Principals and SGBs should have sound financial

management skills and knowledge to enable public schools' financial and physical resources to be used viably, efficiently and economically. This will guarantee the avoidance of any unauthorised, sporadic, ineffective and inefficient expenditure (Mestry, 2018; Tamir & Arar, 2019).

*Vision/Targets/Values:* Stakeholders should set ambitious goals and bind teams into a common cause. The principals and SGBs should work in collaboration, to ensure that the plans are visibly intertwined with educational goals and affordability. Schlebusch and Mokhatle (2016) argued that decentralising the functions of financial management and extending financial decision-making powers to an effective SGB can point public schools in the direction of improvement.

**Accountability:** The existing literature on school governance (Basson & Mestry, 2019) demonstrated how school governing bodies are responsible for the provision and management of quality education, as defined in the South African Schools Act of 1996. In the administration of school budgets, Dibet (2015) discussed the principal's professional management roles, such as overseeing finance and human resources, and the school's administrative functions, including budgeting, resourcing and financial evaluation. The principal is usually more knowledgeable about these responsibilities than the school governing body, which is an issue where the SGB should be sharing the responsibilities (Dibet, 2015). The risk is that the principal will use this knowledge to further his/her own goals at the school's expense. This means that the principal can freely exercise authority over an inexperienced (and sometimes illiterate) SGB (Aina, 2017). Clearly, what suffers is the notion of accountability.

## 2.9 Gaps identified in the literature and research questions that have remained unanswered

From the above discussion, it is clear that there are gaps in the existing empirical literature relating to how strategic tools such as beyond budgeting and rolling forecast might assist school heads to manage and improve their schools. Internationally, studies have been conducted in, inter alia, the Netherlands, Sri Lanka, Portugal, Norway, Finland and New Zealand. For instance, Guruge (2021) examined beyond budgeting in small and medium-sized enterprises in New Zealand, Henttu-Aho's (2018) work discussed above was set in Finland, while Ilchikabir (2015) investigated

the complementary roles of budget and rolling forecast in the Philips Company in the Netherlands. Other studies included Silva (2015) on transforming the traditional budgeting process transformation into the beyond budgeting model in Portugal, (Samudrage & Beddage, 2018), the challenges of implementing beyond budgeting in Sri Lanka, and a review of the literature on rolling forecast, benchmarking and customer profitability in Norway (Golyagina & Valuckas, 2012).

In contrast, little is known about beyond budgeting or rolling forecast in the developing parts of the world. In the South African context, Sabela (2012) evaluated the most prevalent budgeting practices in the South African community, while a study by Meintjies (2012) examined the incorporation of alternative budgeting methods relative to the use of the traditional budgeting method (Meintjies 2012). Another study investigated strategic planning and budgeting alignment in the South African Social Security Agency (Mokgope, 2015). King (2010) explored the value-driving potential of budgeting. There are no studies devoted to the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in the Cape metropole of South Africa. It would be naive and unwise to think that findings from the developed world can simply be applied to developing nations such as South Africa. The research questions formulated in Chapter One therefore remain unanswered:

- Do public schools in the Cape Metropole use beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques?
- 2) Does rolling forecast have a positive and significant relationship with beyond budgeting?
- 3) Does rolling forecast have a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools?
- 4) Does beyond budgeting have a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools?

## 2.10 Conclusion

This chapter aimed to review existing literature relevant to exploring beyond budgeting and rolling forecast as strategic tools to improve management in public schools in the Cape Metropole. This review has been presented, certain gaps have been identified, and the unanswered research questions have been restated. It is clear that too little work has been done in the subject area, to draw any firm conclusions on the utility of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in the improvement of financial management in public schools.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### CONCEPTUAL MODEL AND HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT

#### **3.1 Introduction**

The preceding chapter presented a literature review on the topics of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast. This Chapter moves on to a discussion of the conceptual framework, particularly the relationships between the constructs inside the conceptual research model. The chapter thus synthesises all of the previously discussed elements into a broad conceptual model. It develops hypotheses that are tested by the data gathered (and analysed in Chapter Four). The following sections present each hypothesis inside the conceptual model, in the same order as the hypotheses.

The purpose of the chapter is to investigate in depth the proposed linkages in the conceptual model, for which Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) was utilised.

PLS-SEM is useful when a researcher has to isolate dependent variables from independent variables. The following are the questions it raises: What part does the relationship play in this study? What other studies have reported on the relationship, and in what context (i.e., what previous work on the link between the constructs)? Finally, what are the implications of the proposed relationship for this study?

#### 3.2 Conceptual model

A conceptual model expresses assumptions, explains phenomena of interest, and reflects a philosophical perspective. It should also account for the relations among the study's various concepts or constructs (Maziriri, 2018). In brief, a conceptual model defines the cause-effect link between variables to explain an issue (Sumaedi et al., 2014). A schematic representation of a conceptual model allows the reader to visualise the theoretical relationships between the model variables (Maziriri, 2018); and, in this case, gain a rapid understanding of how the financial mismanagement problem should be solved. Sithole, (2019) stated that the variable under examination is the dependent or outcome variable, represented by the letter  $\gamma$ . Whenever a factor is projected or estimated, it is always the dependent variable (Maziriri et al., 2018). In this context,

improvement in public school management is the outcome variable, as shown in Figure 3.1 below.



## Figure 3.1: Conceptual model

Source: Developed by researcher (2022)

## 3.3 Hypothesis development

Quantitative research entails putting a hypothesis to the test and deciding whether or not to reject it (Rubin & Babbie, 2005). According to Creswell (2009), hypotheses are predictions made by a researcher about the relationship between variables. Hypothesis development, typically builds on a previous study or studies (Matthews & Kostelis, 2011), thus demands a clarification of how dependent variables "depend" on independent variables (Pomerantz, 2016). The current study's hypotheses concern the relationships among rolling forecast, beyond budgeting and public school management improvement. Figure 3.2 below, illustrates the relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting.



## Figure 3.2: Rolling forecast and beyond budgeting

Source: Developed by researcher (2022)

## 3.3.1 Rolling forecast and beyond budgeting

## 3.3.2.1 Importance of the hypothesised relationship

The first hypothesis tested the link between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. In beyond budgeting, the target-setting process is isolated from the rolling forecast process, and targets are made more flexible (Becker 2014). The fundamental goal of the rolling forecast method is to enable more dynamic and proactive decision-making, and it varies from scenario planning in that it only provides estimates for single future points (Goretzki & Messner 2016; Palermo, 2018). Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast are deemed to be the most effective strategic tools and best practices for assisting organisations with planning and coordinating in uncertain circumstances (Bogsnes, 2013). Both strategic tools address numerous budgeting flaws and help an organisation to adjust to environmental changes more quickly (Holmen & Skurtveit, 2014). In this way, new risks and opportunities can be rapidly detected (De Leon et al., 2012).

## 3.3.2.2 Empirical evidence supporting the hypothesised statement

It is imperative to elucidate on the relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. Beyond budgeting and rolling forecast are both innovative strategic tools that seek to improve performance by developing efficiency and effectiveness, to manage organisations through flexible sense-and-respond mechanisms rather than the more rigid, traditional command-and-control models (Lohan, 2013; Alrawazqee & Tsatkhlanova, 2021). Studies have shown that beyond budgeting and rolling forecast rely on each other (Bogsnes, 2016; O'Grady & Akroyd, 2016; Guruge, 2021). According to Guruge (2021), rolling forecast do not focus on a specific end date for a budget period. Instead, they are constantly sharpening the organisation's outlook on the future. Similarly, the ideas of beyond budgeting can help an organisation manage

its performance and decentralise its decision-making process without using annual budgets (O'Grady et al., 2017). The beyond budgeting concept suggests that ongoing performance evaluations should replace rigid annual budget-based performance evaluations. The approach focuses on how performance management and strategy are linked (Alrawazqee & Tsatkhlanova, 2021). Therefore, a hypothesis for objective two has been developed to the effect that there is a positive and significant relationship between beyond budgeting and rolling forecast.

**H1:** There is a positive and a significant relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting

## 3.3.2 Rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools

Figure 3.3 below, illustrates the relationship between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools.



## Figure 3.3: Rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools.

Source: Developed by researcher (2022)

## 3.3.2.1 Importance of the hypothesised relationship

The second hypothesis tested the relationship between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools. Rolling forecast create the foundation for a new and far more valuable information system (Henttu-Aho, 2018). It can provide school management with a constant picture of both the current situation and short-term future perspective (Day & Sammons, 2014). A rolling forecast becomes a crucial aid for management in decision-making (Dikov, 2020). In addition, rolling forecast allow management to incorporate a strategy of continuous improvement (Kiristova, 2018). Management can then analyse financial records frequently and learn to predict from them with accuracy (Calzon, 2021). By removing the necessity for a fixed fiscal year-end, rolling forecast emphasise the importance of dynamic management. Rolling predictions are updated monthly or quarterly and always look

twelve or eighteen months ahead. Forecasts become more dynamic and adaptable to change (Holmen & Skurtveit, 2014). Hence the relationship between the variables is justified by the empirical evidence adduced in the section below.

#### 3.3.2.2 Empirical evidence supporting the hypothesised statement

While it is critical to provide empirical evidence of the relationship between rolling forecast and school management improvement in public schools, there are in fact no empirical studies of the use of rolling forecast by school management. Nonetheless, as explained below, there are studies that are closely related.

A rolling forecast is a strategic tool that allows public school management to plan (i.e., forecast) constantly over a specified time horizon. Because it is their obligation to keep a pulse on all parts of the public school, including financial and operational performance, rolling forecast helps to finance leaders and business partners (Stern, 2019). According to Kaguri et al., (2014), the first element in rolling forecast that can improve school management is resource allocation.

The study proposes that better policies for tracking school's financial resources are needed to ensure proper, adequate, and accountable use of the limited state resources allocated for education. During monitoring, assessment, and auditing, school management personnel should act as internal financial adjudicators to ensure accountability and transparency in the use of school finances and the preparation of financial reports for corrective action (OECD, 2017).

The second element is that auditing public school finances remains a critical process for measuring the efficiency and effectiveness of school funds acquisition and utilisation, as indicators of quality education in a specific institution.

It also functions to reveal whether the resources allocated have been used as intended (Amos, 2021). School management should create financial reports meticulously and conduct analyses based on a reliable system of documenting financial transactions (Laurie et al., 2016).

Third, a study by Amos and Koda (2018) suggested that school management should possess the financial capabilities to discover other sources of funding for academic

and extracurricular activities at their schools. Creating appropriate financial resources is the main prerequisite for effective curriculum implementation and excellent education delivery (Nevenglosky et al., 2019).

The fourth element of rolling forecast is to periodically monitor and assess financial resources to make it possible for public schools to provide seamless and adequate financial reports (Amos, 2021). In addition, the *School Finance Handbook* (2016) suggested that preparing financial state statements on a monthly basis would enable management to tackle and resolve financial problems in time. Public school management should, above all, have the capacity to budget on the basis of rolling forecast. It is imperative for schools to manage limited resources at all levels by focusing on the school's priorities and needs (Amos, 2021). There are therefore sufficient empirical grounds to propose the following hypothesis for objective three.

**H2:** There is a positive and a significant relationship between rolling forecast and improvement of the management of public schools

#### 3.3.3 Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools

Figure 3.4 below, illustrates the relationship between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools.



## Figure 3.4: Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools

Source: Developed by researcher (2022)

#### 3.3.3.1 Importance of the hypothesised relationship

The third hypothesis tested the relationship between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools. Beyond budgeting is a management concept that aims to help businesses to adapt to rapidly changing business conditions (Nguyen et al., 2017). It is founded on a philosophy that

emphasises the alignment of empowered leadership principles with adaptive management practices (Úlfarsson, 2018). Beyond budgeting reflects a shift in management style and culture, as well as the application of existing and new management tools, in the direction of a more dynamic, flexible, and self-regulating management model (Morlidge & Player, 2010). Úlfarsson (2018) emphasised the importance of building trust across the various hierarchical levels in a school organisation. Hope and Fraser (2003a) also emphasised the importance of mutual confidence between employees and employers. Last, the importance of beyond budgeting is that school management focuses on taking action to optimise the value of the public school and its performance from the perspective of stakeholders and learners rather than shareholders (Amos, 2021). The school organisation is better able to react to changes in the environment when the focus shifts away from strong internal control and command (Holmen & Skurtveit, 2014).

#### 3.3.3.2 Empirical evidence supporting the hypothesised statement

Beyond budgeting does not just guide budgeting: budgeting is a typical instrument of traditional command and control management, and the "beyond" refers to management models that are not traditional (Jutta & John, 2018). Its concept stems from a shift away from command and control and toward more adaptive management (Winnie et al., 2017). Beyond budgeting signals confidence in employees' ability and willingness to make budget adjustments, as well as accounting supervisors' ability to make proper decisions (Alrawazqee & Tsatkhlanova, 2021).

The participation of local stakeholders, such as school management, financial committees and parent groups, improves the system of school-based leadership for appropriate school finance decision-making in the interests of quality education (Aina & Bipath, 2020). Beyond budgeting encourages decentralised decision-making in the development and implementation of school projects. It allows school leaders to recognise learners and teachers as essential assets in the development of schools (Amos, 2021). School leaders should organise a financial management committee to further improve effective decision-making involvement and create autonomy in financial decision-making (Godda, 2018). To ensure collective decision-making in financial management, school management should also develop a dedicated procurement team that can deliver good quality education (Kinyanzii et al., 2019).

According to Mosha (2018), clear vision and a mission statement with school objectives remain key components in the quest for excellence in education and the execution of high-quality educational curricula. Radzi et al. (2015) claim that a school's vision and mission should be the overarching guide to its financial management. An adequate school vision and mission act as a driver for members to improve the school funding plan and assign school resources to achieve the vision and goals identified (Mosha, 2018).As a result of the preceding discussion, there is a reason to propose the hypotheses for objective four:

**H3:** There is a positive and a significant relationship between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools

## 3.4 Chapter summary

The conceptual model for the study was presented in this chapter, and its research hypotheses was developed with reference to previous literature. The significance of the proposed relationships was first highlighted, followed by the hypothesised relationships being established and provisionally validated by relevant literature.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### **RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

#### **4.1 Introduction**

The previous chapter provided an overview of the study's conceptual model and established theoretical linkages between the constructs of interest, allowing for the formation of hypotheses to guide the research.

The purpose of this chapter is to present the study's research design and methods. There are seven major components contained in this chapter.

The "research onion" concept is introduced in the first section as a guideline for the research endeavour. This concept entails the research philosophy, methods and strategies as well as defining time horizons.

The study's demographic and sampling methodology are presented in the second section.

Section three delves into the data collection processes, with sub-sections on construct creation, scale development, and survey instrument pilot testing.

A section on statistical analysis and the steps taken to verify the construct validity and reliability will follow.

The final section describes the measures introduced to ensure that the research was ethical. A summary concludes the chapter.

#### 4.2 The research onion principle

Following identifying the research problem or area of interest, the researcher must determine the suitable method(s) to tackle the topic.

The research process "onion" conceived by Saunders et al. (2016) was used to guide this study.

The onion image depicts the variety of paradigms, options, techniques and steps that researchers are obliged to consider before and during the research process.



## Figure 4.1: Research Process Onion

Source: Saunders et al., (2016)

The research process onion illustrates the essential issues that must be considered and resolved for any rigorous research to proceed. The different layers of the onion represent the following: the researcher's philosophical orientation, the research method chosen, the appropriate research strategy, the study timelines under consideration, and the data collection procedures.

## 4.2.1 Research philosophy

According to Baškarada and Koronios, (2018) a paradigm is a "world vision," which is a core set of ideas or assumptions that guides a researcher's investigation. Each researcher approaches their research with a complex web of interacting and frequently contradictory philosophical assumptions and viewpoints (Creswell, 2014). These are not necessarily contradictory. However, the knowledge studied in the research effort determines which will prevail as the research paradigm (Scotland, 2012). Two main schools of thinking have dominated research in the social sciences: positivism and interpretivism (Sage Research Methods, 2018).

The positivist paradigm is a scientific and mathematics-based philosophy that holds that anything that exists can be proved by experimentation, observation, and mathematical or logical proof (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). As a result, it presupposes that reality can be objectively quantified using measures unaffected by the researcher or the research equipment. Positivism, therefore, promotes the use of quantitative research and statistical analysis.

The interpretivist paradigm, on the other hand, is primarily concerned with attempting to explain specific events, happenings, or phenomena through the subjective views, opinions, and perceptions of those who experience them. Because of the great range of social and cultural differences between groups of people, the beliefs, views, and perceptions of particular groups will undoubtedly differ significantly from those of others, and differences will also exist between group members. The adoption of an interpretivist paradigm, according to Kuyini and Kivunja (2017), means attempting to primarily comprehend how people construct their social reality.

Positivist Paradigm	Interpretivist Paradigm
Tends to produce quantitative data	Tends to produce qualitative data
Uses large samples	Uses small samples
Concerned with hypothesis testing	Concerned with generalising theories
Data is highly specific and precise	Data is rich and subjective
Location is artificial	Location is natural
Reliability is high	Reliability is low
Validity is low	Validity is high
Generalises from sample to population	Generalises from one setting to another

Table 4.1 The positivist and interpretivist paradigms differ in several ways

Source: adapted from Glesne & Peshkin (1992)

This study's research was founded on the positivist paradigm, which holds that reality is objective and measurable and employs methods independent of the researcher and the instruments used (Kuyini & Kivunja, 2017). It thus separates the researcher's prejudices from objective reality, an issue that increases the reliability of a study. It sanctions using quantitative data, which is more reliable than qualitative records (Eyisi, 2016). The paradigm is consonant with a closed-ended questionnaire that simplifies
the data collection and analysis and saves time and resources, especially if the sample is large (Kabir, 2016).

#### 4.2.2 Research approaches

Quantitative research focuses on objective measurement and numerical, statistical, and mathematical analysis of data acquired through questionnaires and surveys and data manipulation through computing tools (Queirós et al., 2017). Quantitative research quantifies data and employs statistical tools to examine the relationships between the researched constructs and the population. It makes possible population-wide generalisations based on a study's findings (Bloomfield & Fischer, 2019).

## 4.2.2.1 Quantitative research

Quantitative research does not distinguish between social observations and physical occurrences (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). Quantitative research procedures require the use of deductive procedures since they are used to evaluate objective theories, illustrate correlations between variables, and anticipate results using statistical approaches (Creswell, 2014). On the one hand, it stands for a representative sample and generalisation, while on the other hand, it emphasises causal explanation. Finally, it involves a theoretical topic that the literature shows is worth tackling but has yet to be covered. Quantitative research is well known for producing diagrams showing constructs' distribution and interrelations (Barbour, 2008:11).

# 4.2.2.2 Qualitative research

Qualitative research is distinguished from quantitative research by the questions it seeks to answer. Qualitative data answers questions such as why? And how? while quantitative data answers questions such as how many? And what causes? (Barbour, 2008:11). Qualitative researchers may use interviews, observation or verbal dialogue to collect data (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2006:100).

As a result, a research inquiry can evoke a wide range of responses from different participants, each of whom has their underlying motives. Although qualitative data can be collected using various approaches, qualitative researchers prefer in-depth interviews using inductive techniques to analyse their data (Creswell, 2014).

#### Table 4.2: Predispositions of quantitative and qualitative modes of inquiry

Quantitative Approach	Qualitative Approach
<ul> <li>Assumptions</li> <li>Social facts have an objective reality</li> <li>Primacy of method</li> <li>Variables can be identified and relationships measured</li> <li>Etic (outsider's point of view)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Assumptions</li> <li>Reality is socially constructed</li> <li>Primacy of subject matter</li> <li>Variables are complex, interwoven, and difficult to measure</li> <li>Emic (insider's point of view)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Purpose</li> <li>Generalisability</li> <li>Prediction</li> <li>Causal explanations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Purpose</li> <li>Contextualisation</li> <li>Interpretation</li> <li>Understanding actors' perspectives</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Approach</li> <li>Begins with hypotheses and theories</li> <li>Manipulation and control</li> <li>Uses formal instruments</li> <li>Experimentation</li> <li>Deductive</li> <li>Component analysis</li> <li>Seeks consensus, the norm</li> <li>Reduces data to numerical indices</li> <li>Abstract language in write-up</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Approach</li> <li>Ends with hypotheses and grounded theory</li> <li>Emergence and portrayal</li> <li>Researcher as instrument</li> <li>Naturalistic</li> <li>Inductive</li> <li>Searches for patterns</li> <li>Seeks pluralism, complexity</li> <li>Makes minor use of numerical indices</li> <li>Descriptive write-up</li> </ul>
<ul><li>Researcher Role</li><li>Detachment and impartiality</li><li>Objective portrayal</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Researcher Role</li> <li>Personal involvement and partiality</li> <li>Empathic understanding</li> </ul>

**Source:** Adapted from Glesne & Peshkin (1992)

As previously stated, the study employed a quantitative approach, allowing the researcher to collect data from a large number of respondents. Quantitative data is more impartial and accurate than qualitative data: the data gathered is in a quantified form and minimises the researcher's personal bias. Administering closed-ended questionnaires facilitated statistical analysis of the data, which improved the validity and reliability of the results obtained.

#### 4.2.3 Research strategies

There are five main research strategies, from among which the researcher must choose the one that best suits the study's objectives (Maziriri, 2018). The research strategy must allow the researcher to meet the research objectives as well as answer the research question. The research strategy is also determined by factors such as

existing knowledge, time and other resources available, and the researcher's philosophical underpinnings (Saunders et al., 2012).

Strategy	Characteristics		
Survey	A popular and common strategy; mainly combined with a deductive approach; suitable for research questions of whom, what, where, how much, how many; exploratory research purpose; descriptive tools; questionnaire, structured observation or structured interview producing quantitative data, time-consuming work and narrow scope of data.		
Case study	An empirical investigation of a particular contemporary phenomenon with multiple sources of evidence; boundaries between phenomenon and its context are not clearly evident; for research questions of why, what, how; research purpose: exploratory and explanatory; triangulation of data: qualitative and quantitative.		
Grounded theory	A typical inductive approach, theory developing and process building. To predict and explain behaviour; research purpose: exploratory; data collection proceeds without a theoretical framework, since theory is developed from data and data analysis; constant reference to data to develop and test theory.		
Experiment	Propose a theoretical hypothesis; select a sample of individuals from the population; random allocation of samples to different experimental conditions: the experimental vs. control group; introduction of intervention to one more of the variables; measurement on a small number of dependent variables and control of all other variables.		
Action research	Concerned with the resolution of organisational issues, involving practitioners in the research; the researcher is part of the organisational and interactive nature of the process.		
Ethnography	A typical inductive approach: to describe and explain the social world; researcher needs to immerse himself/herself in the social world as completely as possible and the research		

# Table 4.3: Features of various research strategies

Source: Adapted from Saunders et al., (2016)

For this study, the survey strategy was utilised, providing a foundation for collecting data from a wide population with minimal staff and limited financial resources (Kabir, 2016). Survey research is described as the collecting of information from a sample of persons through their responses to questions (Check & Schutt, 2012). Analysis of data acquired through a survey can identify plausible reasons for specific relationships between variables and create models of these relationships. The survey method was the most appropriate for this study, which relies on hypothesis testing (Palinkas et al., 2015).

#### 4.2.4 Time horizons

According to Saunders et al., (2012), the period of a study is determined by the research topic. The option might be a single snapshot taken once (cross-sectional) or a series of snapshots taken over a more extended period (longitudinal) (Saunders et al., 2012). This study employed a cross-sectional time horizon since the data was collected and calculated at a single point using the survey approach. The cross-sectional survey is the most commonly used kind of survey research (Olsen & St George, 2004).

According to Du Plooy-Cilliers et al., (2018), a cross-sectional study provides greater control over the measurement processes employed to collect data. Researchers also have better control over the verification process, as there are no long-term considerations with this type of study (Brown et al., 2018). The data collected in cross-sectional research can be measured easily and applied to the chosen population group because controls are implemented (Setia, 2016).

#### 4.3 Population and sampling procedures

#### 4.3.1 Target population

A population is a summative gathering of people from whom information is required (Wiid & Diggines, 2013); alternatively, a specific group of people, animals, or objects

whose members have the qualities or sets of characteristics that a researcher is interested in for his/her research (Nkem, 2017).

The target population for this research comprised principals, SGB members and heads of departments at both primary and secondary public schools in the Cape Metropole.

### 4.3.2 The sample frame

According to Malhotra (2010), a sample frame is a database for acquiring elements of the target population. Bryman (2014) argues that the "sampling frame" is made up of "all units in the population from which a sample is selected". A good sample frame accurately represents the target population. According to Malhotra (2010) and Bryman (2014), to select adequate samples for research purposes; researchers must construct their sampling frames from all members of their target populations who possess the exact traits they are interested in for their research. The sample frame for this study consisted of appropriate people associated with 100 public schools operating in the Cape Metropole.

## 4.3.3 The sampling technique(s)

The convenience sampling technique was used in this study. Convenience sampling, also known as haphazard sampling or availability sampling, is a non-probability or non-random sampling technique in which members of the target population are chosen for the study if they meet specific practical requirements, such as geographic proximity, availability at a specific time, easy accessibility, or a willingness to volunteer (Taherdoost, 2016).

A non-probability sampling technique was chosen in this study to enable data gathering to be accomplished in a short period. If the units of analysis are located in locations accessible to the researcher, as was the case in this study, the result is a cost-effective approach to collecting data (Busetto et al., 2020).

This method's simplicity also justified its use in the study, as only a few guidelines regulate how the sample should be chosen (Blanche et al., 2006). Non-probability sampling also increased the sample's representativeness, thereby enhancing its generalisability (Kanguru, 2016).

#### 4.3.4 Sample size

It makes sense that larger samples offer considerably more reliable parameter approximations (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016). According to Speziale and Carpenter (2007), a sample for a quantitative study must include at least 30 participants, whereas a sample size greater than 30 but less than 500 is appropriate for most research studies (Sekaran & Bougie, 2016; Choto et al., 2014). Considering practical considerations of time and finance, this study proposed sample size of 100, comprising 50 public primary and 50 secondary schools operating in the Cape Metropole.

According to the historical evidence of other studies, a sample size of 100 is more than adequate. Studies by Bruwer (2010), Maduekwe (2015), and Ntshonga (2019) used a sample size of between 100 and 150 respondents. Similarly, studies set in public schools by Sithole (2017) and Nyaga (2016) used sample sizes of 50 and 114 respondents, respectively. The size of the sample selected for this study is therefore eminently reasonable.

#### 4.4 Data collection

Data collection is the precise and methodical gathering of opinions and points of view capable of addressing the research problem (Murthy & Bhojanna, 2010). The researcher gathered information about the use of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in Cape Metropole public schools as a strategic tool to improve management. Data was collected from representatives of public schools – principals, members of SGBs, heads of departments, and teachers – as they are usually involved in decision-making and the financial performance of schools.

For this study, a self-administered, closed-ended questionnaire was chosen as it afforded the researcher a chance to employ various channels for distribution, such as hand delivery and email. This allowed the participants to finish the questionnaire at their own pace, without the pressure of the researcher's presence.

#### 4.4.1 Design of the questionnaire

A questionnaire is a set of questions designed to elicit the most accurate and pertinent information possible from all participants (Pietersen & Maree, 2007). Since they can be mailed, emailed, or conducted in person (Kabir, 2016), and can be done in the

researcher's absence (Rule & John, 2011; Thomas, 2011), questionnaires are best suited for gathering data from a large population. They rely on the cautious and thoughtful composition of unambiguous questions.

A self-administered questionnaire has been designed specifically for a responder to complete without the intervention of the researchers collecting the data (Rada, 2019). As with any empirical study, it is critical to determine how the proposed constructs should be quantified. A five-point Likert-type scale, was utilised in this study (1= Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3= Neither agree nor disagree, 4= Agree, 5= Strongly Agree) (see Appendix B). Section A consisted of questions pertaining to the respondent's demographic profile, and section B addressed the use of the constructs under investigation. Section C focused on the relationship between beyond budgeting and the improvement of management in public schools, while section D dealt with rolling forecast and the improvement of management in public schools. Finally, the questions in Section E aimed at measuring the improvement of management in public schools.

#### 4.4.2 Construct and scale development

#### 4.4.2.1 Construct

Saying exactly what it is that the scale is intended to assess appears deceptively obvious (DeVellis, 2003), but it is in this phase that many scale development initiatives go astray. DeVellis (2003) claims that theory can help with clarity, and that social science theories should always be examined before establishing a scale. If no theory exists to guide the investigation, a conceptual framework must be created before the scale instrument can be constructed. Du Plessis and Hoole (2006), on the other hand, recommended that a tentative theoretical model be built using a specific set of defined metrics. This is not a trial-and-error procedure, but rather one in which the researcher has actively considered the number of dimensions, content domains, population under study, and relevant contextual elements. Scale developers should consider if the construct they want to measure is distinct from other constructs and ensure that it is well-defined and focused on the primary goal (DeVellis, 2003). With this current study, the researcher created a conceptual model with the aim of clarifying the relationship between beyond budgeting, rolling forecast and improvement in the management of

public schools. The study also aimed to examine the empirical relationship between the three constructs.

#### 4.4.2.2 Scale development

According to Saunders et al., (2012), when designing a questionnaire, a researcher can either create an entirely new set of questionnaire scale items for the research instrument or adopt (and adapt, as needed) existing scale items. This study adopted scales from earlier empirical research because of their excellent psychometric qualities (Saunders et al., 2012). According to Saunders et al., (2012), by adapting scale items, researchers can save time and perform reliability comparisons by operationalizing variables that have been scientifically evaluated in prior research.

The beyond budgeting section had 13 items adapted from a study by Úlfarsson (2018). The study formulated 12 principles of beyond budgeting that are mentioned in Chapter two, Section 2.7.1, above. Section C in Appendix B contains a five-point Likert scale that was used as follows: 1= Strongly Disagree, 2= Disagree, 3= Neither agree nor disagree, 4= Agree, 5= Strongly Agree.

The rolling forecast section contained four items adapted from Henttu-Aho (2018), modified to achieve objective two, which is the relationship between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools (see Chapter one, Section 1.4.1). The four can be found as Section D in Appendix B. Questions were again posed using the same Likert scale.

Finally, improvement in the management of public schools was assessed using 8 items adapted from Buenaventura-Vera and Gudziol-Vidal (2020). This study explored how some of the elements of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast helped improve an organisation's management performance. For example, the researchers explored the decentralisation of decision making, and the relationship between trust and commitment (see Chapter two, Sections 2.7.1 and 2.7.2, and Section E of Appendix B.

#### 4.5 Reliability

Reliability measures the consistency with which specific research equipment provides data (Asoba, 2014; Dudovskiy, 2018). Put differently, it measures the likelihood that

other researchers would produce identical results under the same conditions and using the same research methodologies (Mohajan, 2017). For Rubin and Babbie (2011), dependability refers to whether a technique will produce the same outcome each time it is applied to the same item. The primary goal of dependability is to give consistent findings while minimising errors and bias (Hammond & Wellington, 2013). The study's reliability was measured using three different methods: Cronbach's alpha reliability test, the composite reliability (CR) test, and the average value extracted (AVE) test.

#### 4.5.1 Cronbach's alpha reliability test

Cronbach's alpha is used to assess measurements' internal consistency and reliability (Dunn et al., 2014; Memon et al., 2017). In this study, as revealed in Table 5.5 in Chapter five, there was strong correlation as indicated by high internal consistency, resulting in an alpha coefficient close to one (weak correlation results in an alpha coefficient close to zero). Researchers suggest the following as being commonly accepted (Pietersen & Maree, 2007; Ursachi et al., 2015; Taber, 2018):

- >  $\alpha$  > 0.9 = Excellent (High-Stakes testing)
- >  $0.7 > \alpha \le 0.9 = \text{Good}$  (Low-Stakes testing)
- $\succ$  0.5 > α ≤ 0.7 = Acceptable
- >  $\alpha < 0.5 =$  Unacceptable

#### 4.5.2 Composite reliability (CR) test

The internal consistency of items is measured using composite reliability. The appropriate composite reliability requirements are 0.6 to 0.9; the minimum threshold value. The composite dependability rating should be between 0.7 and 0.9 (Sarstedt et al., 2017). According to Starkweather (2012), composite reliability gives a robust degree of dependability by accounting for the contribution of each latent factor to each item, as well as the inaccuracies of each item. Malhotra (2010) suggested that the lowest permitted composite reliability values should be 0.70 when construed similarly to Cronbach's alpha. In this study, as shown in Table 5.5 in Chapter five, composite reliability scores ranged from 0.8881 to 0.927, demonstrating inter-item correlation consistency. The formula for composite reliability is as follows:

CRη = (Σλyi) <sup>2</sup> / [(Σλyi) <sup>2</sup> + (Σεi)]

Where:

CR $\eta$  = Composite reliability, ( $\Sigma\lambda$ yi) <sup>2</sup> = Square of the sum of the factor loadings and ( $\Sigma\epsilon$ i) = Sum of error variances.

## 4.5.3 Average value extracted (AVE) test

Malhotra (2010) defines the variance in the indicators or observed variables that is explained by the latent construct as the average value extracted. The average variance retrieved was utilised to determine the convergent value in this study (Malhotra, 2010). The AVE threshold should be greater than 0.5, indicating sufficient convergence (Bagozzi & Yi, 1988) (according to Anderson and Gerbing (1988), 0.40 or higher). It is calculated by dividing the total of squared factor loadings by the sum of squared factor loadings and error variances (Bewick et al., 2004). The formula reproduced below was used to calculate AVE. In this study, the AVE value of each construct was higher than 0.5, in fact ranging from 0.538 to 0.650. This is displayed in Table 5.5 in Chapter five.

# Vη = Σλyi<sup>2</sup> / (Σλyi<sup>2</sup>+Σεi)

AVE = summation of the square of factor loadings / {(summation of the square of factor loadings) + (summation of error variances)}

#### 4.6 Assessment of the measurement model (outer model)

The first step in PLS analysis is to evaluate the measurement model, also known as the outer model. The measurement model specifies the rules for relating measurable and latent variables (Hair et al., 2010). It also allows the researcher to use a variety of variables to identify a single independent or dependent construct. The two main criteria utilised in PLS analysis to evaluate the measurement model are validity and reliability (Ramayah et al., 2011). In this study, convergent validity and discriminant validity were utilised to measure reliability.

# 4.6.1 Convergent validity

The extent to which items that are indicators of a certain construct converge or share a large proportion of variation in common is known as convergent validity (Hair et al., 2010). Convergent validity indicates that the instruments used to measure a particular construct are at least substantially associated among themselves, with weak convergent validity implying that the model needs to include more constructs (Dean et al., 2007). Convergent validity considers the level of interrelationships between variables and tests where they should be connected (Campbell & Fiske, 1959). This can be ascertained using SPSS to calculate item-to-total correlations and determine how each item is related to the construct variable.

#### 4.6.2 Discriminant validity

According to Hair et al., (2017), discriminant validity refers to items that measure various concepts. Discriminant validity determines whether a scale adequately distinguishes between groups that should or should not vary, based on theoretical grounds or past research (Golafshani, 2003). Discriminative validity is vital for establishing how discriminant or distinguishable the constructs are from one another, and whether or not they are measuring the same variable (Lucas et al., 1996; Zait & Bertea, 2011). This is accomplished by using SPSS to create an inter-construct correlation matrix. The Fornel-Larcker criterion and the Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of Correlation (HTMT) can be used to measure discriminant validity by determining cross-loadings among constructs. To attain discriminant validity, the construct's loadings must be high on itself and low on other constructs (Vinzi et al., 2010). HTMT was used to assess discriminant validity (see Table 5.6 in Chapter five) (Henseler et al., 2016). HTMT is a measure of the relationship between similar constructs with a threshold value of less than 0.85. Discriminant validity is established if the HTMT value is less than 0.85. This study meets the HTMT threshold value requirements, with the highest value of 0.788.

#### 4.7 Assessment of the structural model (inner model)

Once the outer model has been assessed for construct validity, it can be utilised to verify the hypotheses being researched. The PLS-SEM, also known as variance-based SEM, is used in this research. This method permits using variance-based structural equation modelling instead of a covariance-based SEM method (Henseler et al., 2016). PLS-SEM is considered suitable since academics propose it in research incorporating predictive circumstances and complex cause-effect relationship models (Hair et al., 2010).

Given that the hypotheses in this study refer to directional relationships – that is, whether an independent variable's impact on a dependent variable is positive or negative – the critical ratios of the structural weights in the inner structural model were interpreted at =0.05. (two-tailed test). Shmueli et al., (2019) emphasised that researchers make use of the one-tailed test when the direction of the hypothesised relationship (negative or positive) can be predicted. In contrast, the two-tailed test is used if the direction of the hypothesised relationship cannot be predicted (Hair et al., 2017). In a p-value test of the hypothesis (where  $\beta > 0$ , at 0.05 significance level), the one-tailed p-value linked with the path coefficient was calculated. In instances where  $p \le 0.05$  the alternative hypothesis as accepted, but if p > 0.05, then the hypothesis is rejected. When utilising PLS, the p-value is calculated through bootstrapping (Shmueli et al., 2019).

It should be noted that the bootstrapping procedure is nonparametric, allowing for the statistical significance of multiple PLS-SEM outcomes to be tested, namely Cronbach's alpha, HTMT, R<sup>2</sup> values and path coefficients. Hair et al., (2017) observed that bootstrapping can be used for simple and multiple mediator models. Bootstrapping was used to estimate indirect effects at a 95 percent confidence interval and standard error. In lieu of this, Ringle et al., (2005) provided guidelines for accepting an alternative hypothesis, based on the following criteria:

- p-value  $\leq$  0.05, two-tailed,
- path coefficient must be in the right direction towards the given hypothesis, and
- 95 percent Biased Corrected Interval (BCI) must not include '0'.

#### 4.8 Assessment of the measurement model and testing of the main effects

PLS-SEM was used as the study's software to measure the conceptual model's main effects. PLS-SEM is a two-stage process that evaluates the outer model first and then the inner model. The outer model measures reliability and validity, whereas the inner model focuses on the main effects of the model.

SEM enables a confirmatory approach to analysing a structural theory bearing on a phenomenon that links regression analysis to factor analysis (Byrne, 2013). PLS-SEM also enables the assessment of the predictive performance of the structural model holistically. Ringle et al., (2005) were of the view that AMOS and subsequently

SmartPLS have enhanced the adoption of SEM, as these packages are more userfriendly, more intuitive and easier to grasp than LISREL.

### 4.9 Ethical considerations

## 4.9.1 Voluntary participation and informed consent

Because human participants were involved in this research, authorisation to conduct it was sought from the Cape Peninsula University of Technology's ethics committee. The ethics committee requires that the participants in such a study be protected from any potential negative repercussions. The researcher explained to the participant the aims of the study and the terms and conditions under which their participation was governed, for example, that their evolvement in the study was entirely voluntary. This excise was key to comply with the committee's requirements. Each participant was furnished with a consent letter, then afforded an opportunity to read and ask clarification questions. Once the participant's consent was obtained, the distribution of the questionnaire commenced.

## 4.9.2 Confidentiality and anonymity

The participants remained anonymous throughout the research process. They were assured that their privacy would not be compromised, nor would their personal details be disclosed to any third party. Participants' personal details and information provided in the study were kept confidential and securely stored in a password-protected file.

#### 4.10 Chapter summary

This chapter has comprehensively discussed the study's research design and methods. The descriptions of data collection methods and data analysis strategies was done. Along with gathering of data via a structured self-administered questionnaire that focuses on the study's setting at a certain moment in time and is statistical in nature. The target population, of which the respondents were a sample, was identified as comprising principals, SGB members, heads of departments and teachers at public schools in the Cape Metropole.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

#### ANALYSIS OF DATA AND DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS

#### **5.1 Introduction**

This chapter covered the research design and methodology of the study. The current chapter presents analyses of the data gathered and the resultant empirical findings.

It includes descriptive statistics, an outline of confirmatory factor analysis, an overview of the survey instruments' consistency and validity, and a structural model assessment.

After checking for missing values and outliers, a total of 100 questionnaires were retained out of the initial sample of 140. This reflects a useful response rate of 71.4 percent. If respondents believe the study is worthwhile and justifies their participation, they are more likely to return a questionnaire.

#### 5.2 Demographic information about the sample

Demographic data about the participants from Section A of the questionnaire was presented in pie charts and bar graphs.

The information included the participants' gender, age, current designation, years at the current designation, accounting-related qualification or short course, knowledge of management and leadership processes, and continuous performance management.

Participants were also asked if they were considering training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance their skills. Each of these characteristics is discussed in the following subsections.

#### 5.2.1 Demographic profile summary

The complete demographic statistics is summarized in Table 5.1 below. The attained frequencies and percentages corroborate the findings that will be discussed in the following sections.

Gender	Frequency	Percentage
Male	55	55.0
Female	45	45.0
Total	100	100.0
Age	Frequency	Percentage
<30 years	2	2.0
30 - 39 years	20	20.0
40 - 49 years	32	32.0
50 - 59 years	41	41.0
>60 years	5	5.0
Total	100	100%
Current designation	Frequency	Percentage
Member of SGB	6	6.0
HOD	22	22.0
Principal	72	72.0
Total	100	100%
Years in the current designation	Frequency	Percentage
0 - 1 year	8	8.0
2 - 5 years	15	15.0
6 - 10 years	31	31.0
11 - 15 years	33	33.0
>16 years	13	13.0
Total	100	100%
Accounting-related qualification or short course	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	70	70.0

 Table 5.1: Sample demographic characteristics

No	30	30.0
Total	100	100%
Knowledge of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management	Frequency	Percentage
Very bad	11	11.0
Bad	16	16.0
Average	11	11.0
Good	54	54.0
Very good	8	8.0
Total	100	100%
Considering training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance your skills	Frequency	Percentage
Yes	88.0	88
No	12.0	12
Total	100.0	100

Source: Summarised SPSS output

The statistical profile of the respondents surveyed in this study is presented in Table 5.1 above. These findings apply to and are supportive of all the variables considered.

Note that "frequency" refers to the number of respondents who participated in this research. Each section displays the numbers that add up to the specified total sample of 100, as well as the percentages that add up to 100 percent.

In the following section, the seven items in the demographic survey are dealt with and discussed separately.

### 5.2.1.1 Gender

Figure 5.1 above introduces the categorisation of information associated with the respondents' gender. Most of the sample -55 percent (n=55) – were male and the remaining 45 percent (n=45) were female.



## Figure 5.1: Gender

### 5.2.1.2 Age distribution of the respondents

The age distribution of the sample, as shown in Figure 5.2 below, revealed that 41 percent (n=41) of the participants were between the ages of 50 and 59, followed by 32 percent (n=32) who were between 40 and 49. Twenty percent (n=20) were between the ages of 30 and 39. Among the residual participants, 5 percent (n=5) asserted that they were above 60 years of age, while the remaining respondents – 2 percent (n=2) – indicated that they were under the age of 30.





## 5.2.1.3 Current designation

In terms of current designation, 72 percent (n=72), of the respondents indicated that they were principals. This was followed by 22 percent (n=22) who were Heads of Department (HOD). The remaining 6 percent (n=6) were members of a school governing body. The designation of respondents is graphically depicted in Figure 5.3 below.



# Figure 5.3: Current designation

# 5.2.1.4 Years in the current designation

In terms of the number of years in their currently designated position, 33 percent (n=33) of the respondents indicated that they had been in their current designation for 11 to 15 years.

This was followed by 31 percent (n=31) who indicated that they had been in their current designation for 6 to 10 years.

Fifteen percent (n=15) had been in their current designation for 2 to 5 years, while 13 percent (n=13) had occupied their positions for more than 16 years.

The remaining 8 percent (n=8) of the respondents revealed that have been in their current designation for less than a year. This situation is graphically depicted in Figure 5.4 below.



Figure 5.4: Years in the current designation

# 5.2.1.5 Accounting-related qualification or short course

The respondents were asked whether they had an accounting-related qualification or had completed a relevant short course (see Figure 5.5 below). A significant percentage of respondents, 70 percent (n=70), indicated that they had an accounting-

related qualification or short course training. However, the remainder of the respondents, 30 percent (n=30) revealed that they did not have any such qualifications or short courses.





# 5.2.1.6 Knowledge of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management

The respondents were asked to rate their understanding of management, leadership processes, and continuous performance management (see Figure 5.6 below). Fifty-four percent (n=54) of the respondents claimed to have a good understanding of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management. Another 16 percent (n=16) indicated they had a poor understanding of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management. In addition, 11 percent (n=11) of the sample rated their knowledge as very bad regarding management and leadership processes and continuous performance management. In comparison, 11 percent (n=11) rated their understanding of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management as average. The remaining 8 percent (n=8) were confident enough to claim that they possessed a very good knowledge of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management.



# Figure 5.6: Knowledge of management and leadership processes and continuous performance management

# 5.2.1.7 Considering training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance your skills

The respondents were asked whether they would consider training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance their skills (see Figure 5.7 below). Most of the respondents – 88 percent (n=88) – indicated that they would consider training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance their skills, while the remaining 12 percent (n=12) were not interested.



Figure 5.7: Considering training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance your skills

# 5.3 Utilisation of flexible strategic tools

This section is devoted to how the respondents rated themselves in terms of their rate of utilising flexible strategic tools such as the balanced scorecard, annual budgeting, strategic planning, rolling forecast, beyond budgeting, financial accounting, and management accounting. Usage of these instruments is interrogated separately and presented in Sections 5.3.1 to 5.3.7.

# 5.3.1 Balanced scorecard (performance measurement tool)

The respondents indicated if they used the balanced scorecard (see Figure 5.8 below). Of the respondents 41 percent (n=41) indicated that they sometimes made use of the balanced scorecard, 17 percent (N=17) claimed that they always used it, while 14 percent (n=14), revealed that they often used the balanced scorecard. On the other hand, 28 percent (n=28) indicated that they had never used the balanced scorecard method





# 5.3.2 Annual budgeting

The respondents were invited to indicate if they compiled annual budgets (see Figure 5.9 below). Fifty-nine percent (n=59) of them responded that they never used annual budgeting. This was followed by 31 percent (n=31) who indicated that they sometimes used annual budgeting. Seven percent (n=7) of the sample claimed always to compile annual budgets, while 3 percent (n=3) said that they often did so.



# Figure 5.9: Usage of annual budgeting

# 5.3.3 Strategic planning

The respondents were invited to indicate whether they utilised strategic planning (see Figure 5.10 below). Twenty-one percent (n=21) indicated that they always made use of strategic planning, 54 percent (n=54) said that they often used strategic planning



and 21 percent (n=21) said that they sometimes resorted to strategic planning. The remaining 4 percent (n=4) conceded that they never used strategic planning.

Figure 5.10: Usage of strategic planning

## 5.3.4 Rolling forecast

The respondents were asked to indicate if they made use of rolling forecast for budgeting purposes (see Figure 5.11 below). A majority 56 percent (n=56) indicated that they always made use of rolling forecast, followed by 41 percent (n=41), who said that they often used rolling forecast. The rest of the respondents, 3 percent (n=3), said that they sometimes used rolling forecast.



Figure 5.11: Usage of the rolling forecast

# 5.3.5 Beyond budgeting

The respondents were invited to indicate if they made use of beyond budgeting (see Figure 5.12 below). Of the respondents 28 percent (n=28) claimed that they always used beyond budgeting, 12 percent (n=12) indicated that they often used beyond budgeting, while 31 percent (n=31) said they sometimes made use of it. The rest of the respondents, 29 percent (n=29) said that they never used beyond budgeting.



# Figure 5.12: Usage of Beyond budgeting

### 5.3.6 Financial accounting

The respondents had the opportunity to indicate if they used financial accounting methods (see Figure 5.13 below). Of the respondents 40 percent (n=40) replied that they always made use of financial accounting, 15 percent (n=15) said that they often used rolling financial accounting, and 25 percent (n=25) said that they sometimes used this practice. Another 20 percent (n=20) revealed that they never used financial accounting.



Figure 5.13: Usage of financial accounting

## 5.3.7 Management Accounting

The respondents were asked to indicate if they utilised management accounting procedures (see Figure 5.14 below).

Of the respondents 32 percent (n=32) indicated that they always made use of management accounting, 15 percent (n=15) said that they often used rolling management accounting, and 28 percent (n=28) said that they sometimes used management accounting. As many as 25 percent (n=25) never used management accounting.



Figure 5.14: Usage of management accounting

# 5.4 Descriptive statistics

The next stage of the analysis was to ascertain the proportion of respondents' who agreed or disagreed with each construct. Tables 5.1, 5.2, and 5.3 below report on the basic descriptive statistics comprising the means and standard deviations of the predetermined constructs.

For this study, mean values were determined as indicators of central tendency. The tables below illustrate that the mean value for all of the elements was between three and four, implying that the majority of the participants were either indifferent ('3' on the Likert scale) or agreed ('4' on the Likert scale) with the statements presented. To compute the variance of responses on each variable, standard deviation values were calculated, as postulated by Hair et al. (2017). A small estimated standard deviation

(SD) suggests that respondents' responses were consistent and that the response distributions were close to the mean, according to the connection between the mean and the standard deviation.

On the other hand, a large standard deviation shows that the responses varied, causing the response distribution values to deviate from the mean of the distribution (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). Moreover, the standard deviation value "should be less than 1 but it is recommended to at least include a value of less than 2 to ensure that there is no issue of outliers" (Drost, 2011:87).

Descriptive Statistics						
	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	
BB1	100	1	5	3.79	.967	
BB2	100	1	5	3.81	.907	
BB3	100	1	5	3.77	.886	
BB4	100	1	5	4.17	.682	
BB5	100	1	5	3.86	.899	
BB6	100	1	5	3.85	.809	
BB7	100	1	5	3.72	1.120	
BB8	100	1	5	4.19	.800	
BB9	100	1	5	3.97	.979	
BB10	100	1	5	4.05	.892	
BB11	100	1	5	4.20	.895	
BB12	100	1	5	3.82	.936	
BB13	100	1	5	3.82	.947	
Valid N (listwise)	100					

 Table 5.2: Descriptive statistical analysis (Beyond budgeting)

BB = Beyond budgeting; RF = Rolling forecast; IMOPS = Improvement in the management of public schools

The beyond budgeting questions, which constituted Section C of the questionnaire, had a highest mean score of 4.20 (Item BB11) and a lowest mean score of 3.72 (Item BB7), giving a range of 0.48. The lowest mean score of 3.72 (Item BB7) reflected responses to a statement that the budget was revised on an unplanned basis at the school, while the highest mean score of 4.20 (Item BB11) indicated agreement that the performance of managers within the school organisation was measured based on attaining budget goals. Table 5.1 above revealed that the beyond budgeting scale had the highest standard deviation value of 1.120 (Item BB7) and the lowest standard deviation value of 0.682 for item BB4. Based on this information the data sets are clustered around the mean. The SD values are less than two (2), indicating the absence of outliers.

Descriptive Statistics					
	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
RF1	100	1	5	3.87	1.002
RF2	100	1	5	3.86	1.005
RF3	100	1	5	3.82	.968
RF4	100	1	5	3.97	.989
Valid N (listwise)	100				

Table 5.3: Descriptive statistical analysis (Rolling forecast)

Section D of the questionnaire exhibited a range of 0.15 points between the highest mean score of 3.97 (Item RF4) and the lowest mean score of 3.82 (Item RF3) on questions about rolling forecast. Precisely, the lowest mean score 3.82 (Item RF3) indicated that the respondents were neutral or partly agreed that rolling forecast increased a school's teacher monitoring, simplified their evaluation, and improved training. The highest mean score was 3.97 (Item RF4). Most respondents were neutral or agreed that rolling forecast helped the school organisation manage funds. The rolling forecast scale had the highest standard deviation of 1.005 (Item RF2) and the lowest standard deviation of 0.968 (Item RF3), as shown in Table 5.3 below. Based

on this information the data sets are clustered around the mean. The SD values are less than two (2), indicating the absence of outliers.

Descriptive Statistics						
	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	
IMOPS1	100	1	5	4.06	.967	
IMOPS2	100	1	5	3.60	.964	
IMOPS3	100	1	5	2.58	1.075	
IMOPS4	100	1	5	2.48	1.000	
IMOPS5	100	1	5	3.01	1.418	
IMOPS6	100	1	5	3.15	1.306	
IMOPS7	100	1	5	2.84	1.237	
IMOPS8	100	1	5	3.06	1.377	
Valid N (listwise)	100					

Table 5.4: Descriptive statistical	analysis (improven	nent in the n	nanagement of
public schools)			-

Questions about improvement in the management of public schools, which constituted Section E of the questionnaire, had a highest mean score of 4.06 (Item IMOPS1) and a lowest mean score of 2.48 (Item IMOPS4), giving a range of 1.58. The lowest mean score (Item IMOPS4) showed that the respondents disagreed that the managed school was able to respond quickly to customer requests, while the highest mean score (Item IMOPS1) showed that the respondents agreed that the quality of services had improved at the managed school.

Table 5.3 above revealed that the improvement in the management of public schools scale, had a highest standard deviation value of 1.418 (Item IMOPS5) and a lowest standard deviation value of 0.964 (Item IMOPS2). Based on this information the data sets are clustered around the mean. The SD values are less than two (2), indicating the absence of outliers.

# 5.5 Using the partial least squares-structural equation modelling approach (PLS-SEM)

The current software version of (SMART-PLS 3.2.7) was utilised to evaluate quantitative data recorded for structural equation modelling, whereas (PLS SEM) was

preferable above (covariance-based SEM) due to its better statistical power in parameter estimates and improvement of observed variance (Tajvidi et al., 2018). PLS-SEM is a method for estimating relationships between one or more independent and dependent variables that are similar to multiple regression analysis. PLS-SEM is particularly suitable for exploratory research because of this property (Henseler, 2017). Path coefficients, a second-generation multimodal research technique, and multi-linear regression, are all integrated in PLS-SEM. Using structural template analysis, this describes the variability in dependent variables (Hair et al., 2010; Hair, 2017). PLS-SEM works for complex models involving moderation, with small samples and ordinary multivariate data (Vlajčić et al., 2018; Hair et al., 2021). The reflective measurement technique was used in this study, wherein measurements represent latent variables and the relationship is made from the construct or latent variable to the measure (Diamantopoulos & Winklhofer, 2001). The statistical analysis executed in this survey incorporates measures such as (1) Measurement model analysis: testing of reliability and authenticity; and (2) Structural model analysis: examining the path coefficients between observed coefficients.

#### 5.6 Reliability analysis

The numerous metrics that were utilised to analyse the reliability and the validity of the constructs for the study are detailed in Table 5.5 statistical measures of accuracy tests. **Table 5.5: Scale accuracy analysis** 

Research constructs	Variable code items	Cronbach's Alpha	Composite reliability	Average variance extracted	ltems Ioadings
BB	-	0.913	0.927	0.538	-
	BB1				0.638
	BB2				0.683
	BB4				0.645
	BB6				0.735
	BB7				0.756
	BB8				0.717
	BB9				0.746
	BB10				0.838
	BB11				0.811
	BB12				0.731

	BB13				0.742
RF	-	0.821	0.881	0.650	
	RF1				0.877
	RF2				0.809
	RF3				0.774
	RF4				0.761
IMOPS	-	0.841	0.884	0.562	-
	IMOPS3				0.616
	IMOPS4				0.861
	IMOPS5				0.784
	IMOPS6				0.668
	IMOPS7				0.725
	IMOPS8				0.815

According to Nunnally (1978), a Cronbach's alpha of 0.7 or greater indicates that a measure is reliable. Table 5.5 above shows a range of Cronbach's alpha values, from the lowest (0.821) to the highest (0.913). The Cronbach's alpha grades showed that each construct had a high level of internal reliability (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). The constructions' Cronbach's alpha values exceeded the necessary 0.70, suggesting that the constructs utilised to quantify variables were extremely dependable.

Table 5.5 above illustrates the weighting of each item in relation to its construct. For the research constructs, the least value for each item loading is 0.616. Therefore, all the individual item loadings exceeded the recommended value of 0.5 (Anderson & Gerbing,1988). Since all of the individual items converged well and shared at least 50% of their variance with their respective constructs, it is clear that all of the measurement instruments are adequate and reliable (Fraering & Minor, 2006).

The equations presented by Fornell and Lacker (1981:22) were used to calculate composite reliabilities (CR) and average variance extracted (AVE) for each construct, that is,

# CRη= (Σλyi)2/[(Σλyi)2+(Σεi)]

where CR $\eta$  is the composite reliability,  $(\Sigma\lambda yi)^2$  is the square of the summation of the factor loadings and  $(\Sigma\epsilon i)$  is the summation of error variances.

# Vη=Σλyi2/ (Σλyi2+Σεi)

where V $\eta$  is the AVE,  $\Sigma\lambda yi^2$  is the summation of the squared of factor loadings and  $\Sigma\epsilon i$  is the summation of error variances.

The least CR value of 0.881, as given in Table 5.5, is substantially over the required 0.6. (Hulland, 1999), whereas the lowest AVE value obtained, 0.538, is likewise higher than the required 0.4 (Fraering & Minor, 2006). This confirms the measurement instruments' remarkable internal consistency and dependability. According to Field (2013), discriminant validity refers to items measuring different concepts. Table 5.5 below presents the results of the discriminant validity analysis.

	Beyond budgeting	Improvement in the management of public schools	Rolling forecast
Beyond budgeting	1.000		
Improvement in the management of public schools	0.778	1.000	
Rolling forecast	0.679	0.788	1.000

Table 5.6: Discriminant validity (Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio-HTMT)

The Hetero-Trait-Monotrait Ratio (HTMT) criterion (see Table 5.6) was used to measure discriminant validity, considering prior research (Henseler et al., 2016; Verkijika & De Wet, 2018), suggesting that HTMT is excellent for assessing discriminant validity than Fornell-Larcker's frequently applied criteria. If one employs a conservative approach, discriminant validity is established when the HTMT value is less than 0.9 or 0.85. (Verkijika & De Wet, 2018; Neneh, 2019). The maximum HTMT value obtained was 0.788, which was lower than the conservative estimate of 0.85, as shown in Table 5.6. As a result, all the constructs placate the discriminant validity criterion.

# 5.7 Structural model assessment

The inner structural model (see Figure 5.15) was evaluated to see if the endogenous and exogenous variables had any relationship. For the non-return model, the path coefficients were computed using a non-parametric, boot-strapping routine (Vinzi et al., 2010), with 100 cases and 5,000 samples. (two-tailed; 0.05 significance level; no sign changes). The standardised root mean square residual (SRMR) was used to measure the model's efficiency, built on the hypothesis that a good model has an

SRMR value of less than 0.08 (Henseler et al., 2016). The SRMR of the structural model in Figure 5.15 was 0.057, indicating sufficient validity of the constructs. In the model, the three variables (Beyond budgeting, rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools) had R<sup>2</sup> estimates of 0.727 and 0.656, respectively, indicating adequate predictive precision for the structural model.



Figure 5.15: Structural model

Hypothesi s	Proposed hypothesis relationshi p	Beta coefficient s (β)	T-statistics	P-values	Decision
H1	RF→ BB	0.853	27.501	0.000	Positive and significant
H2	RF <del>→</del> IMOPS	0.264	2.233	0.026	Positive and significant
H₃	BB <del>→</del> IMOPS	0.573	4.975	0.000	Positive and significant

**Source:** Calculated from survey results.

**Note:** Arrows signify the relationships between each construct to indicate the proposed hypothesis.

### 5.7.1 Outcome of hypotheses testing

Path coefficient values and t-values for the structural model produced from the bootstrapping procedure were used to evaluate hypotheses in this study. T-values reflect whether there is a substantial association between model variables and path coefficients, according to Beneke and Blampied (2012), indicating the strength of the associations in the model. The standardised path coefficients and their matching t-values are shown in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6. A t-value greater than 1.96 at a 5 percent level of significance indicates a statistically significant correlation (Chin, 1998).

## 5.7.2 Outcome of testing hypothesis 1: Rolling forecast and beyond budgeting

The primary hypothesis suggests a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. It can be seen in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6 that the rolling forecast had a positive relationship ( $\beta$ =0.853) and a statistically significant relationship (t=27.501) with beyond budgeting. This outcome proposes that there is a nexus between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. Consequently, the analysis fails to dismiss H<sub>1</sub>.

# 5.7.3 Outcome of testing hypothesis 2: Rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools

The second hypothesis states that there is a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools. It can be seen in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6 that rolling forecast had a positive relationship ( $\beta$ =0.264) and a statistically significant relationship (t=2.233) with improvement in the management of public schools. This outcome proposes that there is an association between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools. This outcome proposes that there is an association between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools. Consequently, the analysis supports H<sub>2</sub>.

# 5.7.4 Outcome of testing hypothesis 3: Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools

The third hypothesis states that there is a positive and significant relationship between Beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools. In this examination, this hypothesis is upheld. Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6 show that beyond budgeting had a positive relationship ( $\beta$ =0.573) and a statistically significant relationship (t=4.975) with improvement in the management of public schools. This outcome indicates that the higher the level of beyond budgeting, the higher the level of improvement in the management of public schools. This examination thus supports H<sub>3</sub>.

#### 5.8 Discussion of the results

The statistical analysis showed that fifty six percent of the participant frequently use rolling forecast. Rolling forecast allows a company to focus on the business activities. In Addition, rolling forecasts improve forecast accuracy by incorporating the most recent available data. These findings are supported by previous empirical research (Janke et al., 2014; Henttu-Aho,2016; Henttu-Aho, 2018). On other hand, stastical analysis for beyond budgeting showed that twenty eight percent of the respondents frequently use this variable (beyond budgeting). According to the empirical research carried out by (Aksom,2015; Nguyen et al., 2018; Fraser, 2018), organisation that implement beyond budgeting model are able to involve and motivate their employees in the hierarchy to a greater extent, becoming more innovative and continuously developing their business processes in order to achieve strategic goals. A decentralised organisation with beyond budgeting can make quick decisions, retaining profits and creating loyal customers. Instead of being based on individual performance, rewards are team-based, promoting teamwork.

The statistical analysis revealed a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. This conclusion has sufficient provision from preceding empirical research, such as that carried out by Golyagina and Valuckas (2012). They discovered that around 40 percent of all practitioner papers are prompted by or at least linked to beyond budgeting, indicating a strong link between beyond budgeting adoption and interest in rolling forecast in practitioner publications. This study's results also support the validity of a valuable relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting. The outcomes attained in the recent study are also not without empirical evidence (Becker et al., 2010; Goode & Malik, 2011; Hope & Fraser, 2003a; Fraser, 2018; Úlfarsson, 2018).

Empirical support was also found to confirm a positive association between rolling forecast and improvement in the management of public schools. This result is in line with the work of Liang and Ordasi (2013), who discovered that rolling forecast positively correlate with improvement in management.

The statistical analysis also suggested a link between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools. This finding mirrors the work of Tian et al., (2015), who found a positive association between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of organisations. The findings of this study's analysis support that there are substantial connections between beyond budgeting and improvement in the management of public schools (O'Grady et al., 2016). Similar results were reported by Guruge (2021), who explored associations between beyond budgeting and budgeting and rolling forecast in small and medium enterprises.

#### 5.9 Chapter summary

This chapter started with an analysis of the demographic outline of the participants. The descriptive statistics for the individual variables were then discussed, along with their corresponding mean score and standard deviation values. Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) was used to measure reliability and validity. The examination for dependability included Cronbach's alpha, the composite reliability, and the average variance extracted. Convergent and discriminant validity was assessed. Structural model examination was then conducted to assess the nexus between the research variables, depending on how they were expressed or depicted in the conceptual model of the study. All three hypotheses formulated were supported by the study. More precisely, a positive and significant relationship between rolling forecast and beyond budgeting was confirmed and rolling forecast and beyond budgeting were shown to have a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools.
### **CHAPTER SIX**

### SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### 6.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, the empirical findings were analysed, discussed, and interpreted. Descriptive analysis, correlation analysis, exploratory factor analysis, reliability and validity analysis, and a structural equation model(SEM) were used to analyse and summarise the data.

This chapter gives a broad overview of the research study by setting the theoretical and empirical goals in context. The study aimed to examine the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast as strategic tools for monitoring management and the improvement of public schools in the Cape Metropole.

Recommendations for the management of public schools are developed from a combination of theoretical postulates and empirical analysis. The chapter concluded with an account of the benefits and limitations of the study, and implications for further research.

# 6.2 Overview of the study

The study's main objective, as first stated in Chapter one, is revisited in Section 6.3.1, followed by the sub-objectives in Section 6.3.2. Chapter one also outlined the background of the study, defined the research problem, identified the research objectives, and briefly described the research methodology, including the statistical analysis performed. In Sections 1.5 and 1.7, the research model and hypotheses were adumbrated. The sub-objectives set out in Section 1.4.1 of Chapter one were used to structure Chapter two (the literature review).

In Chapter two, the study was contextualised and theoretically grounded through reference to the concepts of rolling forecast and beyond budgeting, and to previous empirical studies conducted in cognate fields. The conceptual model and a set of critical hypotheses for the study were detailed in Chapter three for further empirical investigation. The research methodology used in the study was described in Chapter four, and the findings from the empirical investigation were reported in Chapter five.

## 6.3 The findings in relation to the objectives of the study

The findings that were analysed and presented in the previous chapter, are divided into sections according to the study's objectives as set out in Chapter one. In order to attain the objective and answer the research questions that guided the study, the researcher developed four sub-objectives.

### 6.3.1 Aim of the study

To examine the usage of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast in the Cape Metropole as strategic tools to monitor and improve the management of public schools.

### 6.3.2 Research objective one

To determine whether the public schools in Cape Metropole use beyond budgeting and rolling forecast techniques. The findings for this sub-objective are summarised as follows: The respondents were asked if they used beyond budgeting, and their responses are presented in Figure 5.12. Beyond budgeting was *always* used by 28 percent of the respondents (n=28), *frequently* used by 12 percent (n=12), and *sometimes* used by 31 percent (n=31) of the respondents. Twenty-nine percent (n=29) said that they never employed anything other than conventional budgeting. According to Bogsnes (2016), an organisation that uses beyond budgeting as a management strategy tool will inspire and have accountable employees. Moreover, organisations that use beyond budgeting (i) have high levels of decentralisation, (ii) flexible resource allocation without specified timeframes, and (iii) have recourse to relative target setting (Michal et al., 2020).

The respondents were also asked to indicate whether or not they utilised rolling forecast (see Figure 5.11). As many as 56 percent (n=56) of the respondents said they *always* utilised rolling forecast, 41 percent (n=41) of the respondents said that they *frequently* used rolling forecast while the remaining 3 percent (n=3) explained that they utilised rolling forecast from time to time. According to Holmen and Skurtveit (2014), the study's findings show that top management is committed to ensuring that rolling forecast are implemented throughout the organisation and that consistent business knowledge exists. At the senior management level, rolling forecast and forecasting information are crucial instruments for knowledge exchange, learning, and reflection.

### 6.3.3 Research objective two

To determine whether rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with beyond budgeting. The findings for this sub-objective are summarised as follows: This study proposed the hypothesis H1 that rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with beyond budgeting. The results presented in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.7 show the relationship ( $\beta$ =0.853). The relationship between the two constructs is also substantiated by a considerable level of relationship significance (P < 0.000) and a statistically significant relationship (t=27.501). This outcome confirms that hypothesis H<sub>1</sub> is confirmed by the results of this research.

# 6.3.4 Research objective three

To determine if rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools. The findings for this sub-objective three are summarised as follows: This study proposed the hypothesis (H<sub>2</sub>) that rolling forecast has a positive and significant relationship with improvement in the management of public schools. The results are displayed in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6. The beta coefficient generated a result of ( $\beta$ =0.264), thereby confirming the relationship between constructs. Furthermore, the p-value is p < 0.0026, and the relationship is statically significant (t=2.233). The findings indicate that there is a significant and positive relationship between the two constructs and confirms hypothesis H<sub>2</sub>.

# 6.3.5 Research objective four

To determine if beyond budgeting has a positive and significant relationship with improvement in public school management, the questionnaire revealed that: A SEM-Smart PLS was used, with the results presented in Figure 5.15 and Table 5.6. These indicate that beyond budgeting had a positive relationship ( $\beta$ =0.573) and a statistically significant relationship (t=4.975) with improvement in the management of public schools. Furthermore, the relationship between these two constructs was demonstrated to be significant using SEM, with a p-value of less than 0.001.

### 6.4 Recommendations

On the basis of these results, the researcher recommends that rolling forecast and beyond budgeting should be incorporated into the financial management of public schools with other strategic tools such as traditional budgeting. This will assist with financial planning and general management at these schools. In public schools, performance is vital to the achievement of educational objectives. Hence the researcher further recommends that school management can better allocate resources to needy departments or projects by combining wide target setting with improved reporting. This will allow for the delegation of complex decisions to the school operational level, where the requirements are most explicit and resources can be deployed most efficiently. In addition, the researcher recommends that the Western Cape Department of Education focus on training public school management. The training will assist the school heads in honing their skills in the use of flexible strategic tools such as beyond budgeting and rolling forecast.

For academics, the study can serve as a foundation for further investigation into how to improve the management of public schools in the Cape Metropole. For the government, the study can function as evidence supporting the enforcement of strategies and requirements for policy implementation at public schools. This study also cautions (especially during the COVID-19 pandemic) the management of public schools within South Africa that with greater freedom and flexibility comes greater responsibility. Finance controls establish a clear performance monitoring method to oversee and safeguard performance, allowing for swift intervention if necessary.

### 6.5 Limitations of the study

There are various limitations to this study. To begin with, the literature review is almost entirely limited to English-language literature. Due to the non-academic nature and origin of the notions of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast, various non-academic sources, such as management handbooks, were used to establish the thematic frame for the research. The research was limited to public schools in the Cape Metropole, and the findings do not reflect how these schools assess financial planning. The targeted respondents' busy schedules made it difficult for them to complete the questionnaire. In addition, the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions rendered the accessibility of the schools problematic. The exclusively quantitative nature of the research may have required the exclusion of more illuminating and more extravagant information, which a qualitative methodology might have elicited.

## 6.6 Suggestions for further study

- The findings of this study paves the way for exciting future research endeavours. As this investigation was conceptual, future qualitative empirical research in public schools could use the propositions as the structural basis for an initial validity assessment. Mixed methods research might be indicated in this context.
- This study's findings were based on a sample of 100 public schools. To improve the generalisability of the findings, future studies might use a larger sample size.
- Extending the research to other parts of South Africa and putting the conceptual model to the test could provide a worthwhile future research direction.
- This study examined the extent to which public schools are using the beyond budgeting and rolling forecast. Further empirical research should be conducted to show the public schools "before" and "after" the implementation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast.

## 6.7 Conclusion

The principal aim of this analysis was to construct a theory-based model that would guide future research for improvement in the management of public schools. For instance, principals can derive some insights from this study to improve the management of their schools. Once processes at schools have been streamlined to support effective and efficient financial management and good governance, schools should enjoy adequate resources and thereby improve the quality of the education that they offer. This is why the focus has been on evaluating the relationships among rolling forecast, beyond budgeting and improvement of management. It is imperative that more training is conducted on the use of all strategic tools to avoid financial mismanagement, as the economy relies heavily on the development of public schools. According to human capital theory, citizens are critical for the generation of economic value. Yet to fulfil this function, they need to be decently educated at fully functional schools.

### REFERENCES

- Ackom-Wilson, K.I. 2015. Financial management practices of senior high schools in the Techiman municipality. Unpublished Master's thesis, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology School of Business, Kumasi, Ghana.
- Adow, M.I., Edabu, P. & Kimamo, G. 2017. Influence of budget execution practices on financial management in public secondary school resources in Mandera County, Kenya. *International Journal of Education and Research* 5:139-152.
   Available at: doi:10.12691/education-8-3-2 [Accessed on 09 September 2020].
- Aina, A. 2017. Financial management decision-making processes in public primary schools. Unpublished MEd dissertation, University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- Aina, Y.E. & Bipath, K. 2020. School financial management: Insights for decision making in public primary schools. *South African Journal of Education*, 40(4). Available at: https://doi.org/10.15700/saje.v40n4a1756 [Accessed on 14 March 2021].
- Alio, A.A., Chui, M.M. & Githui, K. 2019. Influence of budget reporting practices on financial management in public secondary schools in Mandera County, Kenya. *African Journal of Education and Practice*, 4(2):51-60. Available at: <u>https://www.iprjb.org/journals/index.php/AJEP/article/view/1001</u> [Accessed on 08 September 2020].
- Ali, Z. & Bhaskar, S.B. 2016. Basic statistical tools in research and data analysis. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 60 :662-9.
- Aliyu, B.B. 2018. Assessment of financial management practices among secondary school principals Kaduna State. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Management*, 2(2):22-27. doi: 10.11648/j.ijhtm.20180202.11.
- Al-Mubarak, F. 1997. The usefulness of corporate annual reports to investment analysts in Saudi Arabia. Unpublished Doctor of Philosophy thesis, Newcastle University, Newcastle.
- Alrawazqee, A. & Tsatkhlanova, T. 2021. Improve performance or corruption motivation in beyond budget implementation, survey in public sector organizations. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*,12(6). Available at: https://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/RJFA/article/view/55795. [Accessed on 18 January 2022].
- Alsharari, N.M. 2016. Results based costing (RBC) system: Questioning the unit of analysis in ABC. *Corporate Ownership and Control,* 13(2):587-603.
- Alsharari, N.M. 2017. The development of accounting education and practice in an environment of socio-economic transformation in the Middle East: The case of Jordan, *International Journal of Educational Management*, 31(6):736-751.

- Alsharari, N.M. 2018. Multilevel institutional analysis of accounting change in public management. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 26(1):91-106.
- Alsharari, N.M. 2019a. Management accounting and organizational change: Alternative perspectives. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 27(3).
- Alsharari, N. 2019b (in press). A comparative analysis of taxation and revenue trends in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region. *Pacific Accounting Review.*
- Alsharari, N.M. & Abougamos, H. 2017. The processes of accounting changes as emerging from public and fiscal reforms: An interpretive study. *Asian Review of Accounting*, 25(1):2-33.
- Alsharari, N.M. & Youssef, M.A.E.A. 2017. Management accounting change and the implementation of GFMIS: A Jordanian case study. *Asian Review of Accounting*, 25(2):242-261.
- Alsharari, N.M., Dixon, R. & Youssef, M.A. 2015. Management accounting change: Critical review and a new contextual framework. *Journal of Accounting & Organisational Change*, 11(4):476-502.
- Al-Zwyalif, I.M. 2017. Using a balanced scorecard approach to measure environmental performance: A proposed model. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 9(8):108116.
- Amos, O. & Koda, G.M. 2018. Contribution of school-based income-generating activities in quality education provision in secondary schools managed by the Catholic Diocese of Moshi, Tanzania. European Centre for Research Training and Development UK (www.eajournals.org). *British Journal of Education*, 6(4): 49-69.
- Amos, O. 2021. Effectiveness of school heads' financial management skills in provision of quality education in secondary school. *International Journal of Education and Research*, 9(3).
- Anderson, J.C. & Gerbing, D.W. 1988. Structural equation modelling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103:411-423.
- Asoba, S.N. 2014. Factors influencing the growth of African immigrant-owned business in selected craft markets in the Cape Metropolitan area of South Africa. Unpublished MTech thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Bagozzi, R P. & Yi, Y. 1988. On the evaluation of structural equation models. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 16(1):74-94. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02723327.

- Barbour, R.S. 2008. Introducing qualitative research: A student's guide to the craft of doing qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Barney, J. 1991. Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1):99-120.
- Barney, J.B.1986. Strategic factor markets: expectations, luck, and the theory of business strategy. Management Science, 32(10):1512-1514.

Baškarada, S.& Koronios, A. 2018. "A philosophical discussion of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research in social science", *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18 (1), 2-21.

- Basson, P. & Mestry, R. 2019. Collaboration between school management teams and governing bodies in effectively managing public primary school finances. *South African Journal of Education*, 39(2):1–11.
- Becker, S., Messner, M. & Schäffer, U. 2010. The evolution of a management accounting idea: The case of Beyond budgeting. *SSRN Electronic Journal*.
- Becker, S.D. 2014. When organizations deinstitutionalise control practices: a multiple-case study of budget abandonment. *European Accounting Review*, 23(4):593-623.
- Beneke, J. & Blampied, S. 2012. Driving consumer perceptions through Facebook: An investigation into empowering brands in the 21st century. In van den Berg, J.M.M. (ed.). Conference proceedings of the 24th annual conference of SAIMS – 2012, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, September 09–11, 2012: 47-61.
- Bergmann, M., Brück, C., Knauer, T. & Schwering, A. 2020. Digitization of the budgeting process: Determinants of the use of business analytics and its effect on satisfaction with the budgeting process. *Journal of Management Control*, 31: 25-54. Available at: doi:10.1007/s00187-019-00291-y [Accessed on 08 June 2020].
- Bewick, V., Cheek, L. & Ball, J. 2004. Statistics review 13: Receiver operating characteristic curves. *Critical Care*, 8:508-512.
- Binoy, S. 2019. Significance of Hypothesis in Research. Indian Journal of Holistic Nursing. 10. 31-33. Available at: DOI:10.24321/2348.2133.201905. [Accessed on 22 January 2022].
- Blanche, M.T., Durrheim, K. & Painter, D. 2006. *Research in practice: Applied methods for the social sciences*. Cape Town: Juta and Company Ltd.

Bloomfield, J. & Fisher, M. 2019. Quantitative research design. *Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses' Association*, 22 (2):27-30. Available at: DOI:10.33235/jarna.22.2.27-30. [Accessed on 11 January 2022].

Blumberg, A.E. & Feigl, H. 1931. Logical positivism. J. Philos, 28:281-96.

- Bogsnes, B. 2013. Taking reality seriously towards a more self-regulating management model in Statoil. In Gooderham, P., Kaarbøe, K. & Nørreklit, H. *Managing in dynamic business environment.*
- Bogsnes, B. 2016. *Implementing beyond budgeting: Unlocking the performance potential*. 2nd ed. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bohannon, J. & Edwards, D. 1993. Cash budgeting. *Journal of Property Management*, 58(3):52-53.
- Boston, E.L., Martin, J., Pallot, J. & Walsh, P. 1996. *Public management: the New Zealand model*. Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Brown, W.A., Kaiser, K.A. & Allison, D.B. 2018 . Issues with data and analyses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(11):2563-2570. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1708279115.
- Bruwer, J.P. 2010. Sustainability of South African FMCG SMMEs retail businesses in the Cape Peninsula. Unpublished Master of Technology: Internal Auditing dissertation, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Bryman, A. 2014. June 1989 and beyond: Julia Brannen's contribution to mixed methods research. *International Journal of Social Research Method*, 17(2):121-131.
- Byrne, B.M. 2013. Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming. Routledge, New York.
- Buenaventura-Vera, G. & Gudziol-Vidal, J.A. 2020. Trust as a mechanism to improve organizational performance. *Cuadernos de Administración (Universidad del Valle)*, 36(66):53-63.
- Busetto, L., Wick, W. & Gumbinger, C. 2020. How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurol. Res. Pract.* 2:14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z.
- Bush, T. 2011. *Theories of educational leadership and management.* 4th ed. London: Sage.
- Bush, T. & Glover, D. 2013. School management teams in South Africa: A survey of school leaders in the Mpumalanga province. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 41(1):21-40.

- Bush, T. & Glover, D. 2016. School leadership and management in South Africa: Findings from a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(2):211-231.
- Bush, T. & Heystek, J. 2006. School leadership and management in South Africa: Principals' perceptions. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 34 (3):63-76.
- Calzon, B. 2021. *The importance of financial reporting and analysis: Your essential guide.* Available at: <u>https://www.datapine.com/blog/financial-reporting-and-analysis/.</u> [Accessed on 20 August 2021].
- Campbell, D.T. & Fiske, D.W. 1959. Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological Bulletin*, 56:81-105.
- Castellina, N. 2013. *Rolling forecast enable accuracy and agile business planning.* Massachusetts, US: Aberdeen Group.
- Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA).2005.Official Terminology, London: CIMA Publishing.
- Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA).2013.Official Terminology, London: CIMA Publishing.
- Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA). 2007. *Beyond budgeting.* Topic Gateway Series. [Online]. Available at: http://www.cimaglobal.com/ documents/imported Documents/cid\_tg\_beyond\_budgeting\_oct07.pdf [Accessed on 02 June 2021].
- Check, J. & Schutt, R.K. 2012. *Research methods in education*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Chetty, R. & Pather, S. 2016. Challenges in higher education in South Africa. [Online]. Available at: Error! Hyperlink reference not valid.https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305213223\_Challenges\_in\_Hig her\_Education\_in\_South\_Africa [Accessed on 08 June 2020].
- Chin, W. 1998. Commentary: Issues and opinion on structural equation modeling. *MIS Quarterly*, 21(1):vii-xvi.
- Chisholm, L., Motala, S. & Valley, S. 2003. *South African education policy review.* Sandown: Heinenman.
- Chitu, A. & Opris, M.E. 2014. Importance of financial perspective indicators in Balanced Scorecard in a leasing company. *Theoretical and Applied Economics*, 8(597):59–68.
- Choto, P., Tengeh, R.K. & Iwu, C.G. 2014. Daring to survive or to grow. The growth aspirations and challenges of survivalist entrepreneurs in South Africa, *Environmental Economics*, 5(4):93-101.

- Churchill, G.A., & Brown, T.J. 2007. Basic marketing research, 6th edn. Thomson South-Western, Melbourne.
- Cokins, G. 2008. Repairing the budgeting process. *Financial Executive*, 24(10):45-49.
- Collis, J. & Hussey, R. 2009. *Business research: A practical guide for undergraduate and postgraduate students*. Red Globe Press.
- Conradie, J.J. 2002. *Educational management, law and policy: Financial management in education.* Pretoria: University of Pretoria. (Study guide FMO711).
- Corruption Watch. 2015. Annual report 2014 –Corruption is growing, 19 February. Available at: http://www.corruptionwatch.org.za/annual-report. *South African Journal of Education*, 36(3). [Accessed on 30 May June 2020].
- Creswell, J.W. 2007. *Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among* five *approaches.* 2nd ed. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J.W. 2009. *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches.* London: Sage publications.
- Creswell, J.W. 2014. *Research design: qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches.* 4th ed. California: Sage Publications.
- Day, C. & Sammons, P. 2014. Successful school leadership. *Education* Development Trust. University of Oxford.
- Dean, M.A., Shook, C.L. & Payne, G.T. 2007. The past, present, and future of entrepreneurship research: Data analytic trends and training. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 31 (4) ;601-618.
- De Bruin, L. 2014. Budget control and monitoring challenges for school governing bodies. Unpublished Master's dissertation, University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg.
- De Leon, L., Rafferty, P.D. & Herschel, R. 2012. Replacing the annual budget with business intelligence driver-based forecasts. *Intelligent Information Management*, 4:6-12.
- De Waal, A.A. 2005. Is your organization ready for beyond budgeting? *Measuring Business Excellence*, 9(2):56-67.
- Dean, J. 2004. Implementing performance management. London: Routledge Falmer.
- DeVellis, R.F. 2003. *Scale development: theory and applications.* 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Dibet, K.J. 2015. The role of the school governing bodies in managing finances in no-fee schools in the Maraba Circuit of Limpopo Province. Med dissertation, Pretoria, South Africa: University of South Africa.
- Dikov, D. 2020. *Rolling forecast in financial planning*. Available at: <u>https://magnimetrics.com/rolling-forecasts-in-financial-planning/.</u> [Accessed on 01 August 2020].
- Diamantopoulos, A. & Winklhofer, H. 2001. Index construction with formative indicators: An alternative to scale development. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38(2):269-277.
- Dörnyei, Z. 2007. *Research methods in applied linguistics: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methodologies.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Drost, E.A. 2011.Validity and Reliability in Social Science Research. Education Research and Perspectives, 38:87-123.
- Du Plessis, P.J. 2012. Budgeting process. In Van Rooyen, J.W. (ed.). *Financial management in education in South Africa*. Pretoria: Van Schaik: 79-99.
- Du Preez, W. 2018. The management of budgets in fee-paying public school: Implications for effective teaching and learning. Unpublished Magister Educationis thesis. University of Johannesburg, Johannesburg.
- Dudovskiy, J. 2018. *The ultimate guide to writing a dissertation in business studies: A step-by-step assistance*. UK: Research-methodology.net.
- Dugdale, D. & Lyne, S.R. 2010. *Budgeting practice and organisational structure*. Oxford: Elsevier/CIMA Publishing.
- Dunn, T.J., Baguley, T. & Brunsden, V. 2014. From alpha to omega: a practical solution to the pervasive problem of internal consistency estimation. *British Journal of Psychology*, 105(3):399-412.
- Du Plessis, Y. & Hoole, C. 2006. 'An operational 'project management culture' framework (Part 1)'. South African Journal of Human Resource Management, 4(1): 36-43. Available at: http://www.journals.co.za/ej/ejour\_sajhrm.html. [Accessed on 20 September 2021].
- Du Plooy-Cillers, F., Davis, C. & Bezuidenhout, R.M. 2018. *Research matters.* Cape Town: Juta and Company Ltd.
- Eisenhardt, K.M. 1989. Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14(1):57-74.
- Escobar, I H.G. 2019. School improvement plans, a tool to improve the quality of education. *New Trends and Issues Proceedings on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 6(1):440-450.

- Evans, S. & Tourish, D. 2017. Agency theory and performance appraisal: How bad theory damages learning and contributes to bad management practice. *Management Learning*, 48(3):271-291.
- European Commission. 2015. Assuring quality in education: Policies and approaches to school evaluation in Europe. Eurydice Report. Available at: doi:10.1080/03797720220141933 [Accessed on 02 May 2020].
- Eyisi, D. 2016. The usefulness of qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in researching problem-solving ability in science education curriculum. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(15):91-100.
- Field, A. 2013. *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS*. 4th ed. London: Sage.
- Fornell, C. & Larcker, D.F. 1981. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. 18(1):39-50.
- Fraering, M. & Minor, M.S. 2006. 'Sense of community: An exploratory study of US consumers of financial services'. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 24(5), 284-306. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02652320610681738. [Accessed on 08 October 2021].
- Fraser, R. 2018. BBRT 61. Retrieved from beyond budgeting round table Members' Knowledge Base: Available at: http://members.bbrt.org/bbrtmeetings-2/bbrtmeetings/bbrt-61-%C2%B7-2018/. [Accessed on 08 September 2021].
- Garira, E. 2015. The development of a school self-evaluation framework for classroom quality in Zimbabwean primary schools. Unpublished thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Garira, E. 2020. A proposed unified conceptual framework for quality of education in schools. SAGE Open 10. Available at: doi:10.1177/2158244019899445. [Accessed on 03 May 2020].
- Garira, E., Howie, S. & Plomp, T. 2019. An analysis of quality of education and its evaluation: A case of Zimbabwean primary schools. *South African Journal of Education,* 39. Available at: doi:10.15700/saje. v39n2a1644 [Accessed on 02 May 2020].
- Giannini, M. 2015. Organization and quality in school education. *Procedia–Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 174:1735-1739.
- Giannopoulos, G., Holt, A., Khansalar, E. & Cleanthous, S. 2013. The use of the balanced scorecard in small companies. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(14):122.
- Gjermeni, O. 2016. Descriptive Analysis of Characteristics: A Case Study of a Phone Call Network Graph.

- Glesne, C. & Peshkin, P. 1992. *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction*. White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Godda, H. 2018. Free secondary education and the changing roles of the heads of public Schools in Tanzania are they ready for new responsibilities. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(5), 1-23.
- Golafshani, N. 2003. Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research. The Qualitative Report, 8(4), 597-606. Available at: https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2003.1870. [Accessed on 15 October 2021].
- Golyagina, A. & Valuckas, D. 2012. Reviewing literature on rolling forecast, benchmarking and customer profitability. A management accounting perspective. Unpublished Master's thesis, Norges Handelshøyskole.
- Good, R.M. & Nelson, K.L. 2020. With a little help from our friends: Private fundraising and public schools in Philadelphia. *Journal of Education Policy:*1-24. Available at: doi:10.1080/02680939.2020.1730979 [Accessed on 01 September 2020].
- Goode, M. & Malik, A. 2011. Beyond budgeting: The way forward? *Pakistan Journal* of Social Sciences, 31(2):207-214.
- Goretzki, L. & Messner, M. 2016. Coordination under uncertainty: A sensemaking perspective on cross functional planning meetings. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management,* 13(1):92-126. doi: 10.1108/QRAM-09-2015-00.
- Guruge, E. 2021. Beyond budgeting in small and medium-sized enterprises: Review and implications for future research. Unpublished Master of Business dissertation, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland.
- Gustavsen, J.S. & Hornnes, K.F. 2019. The impact of targets and incentive systems in a beyond budgeting setting: A case study of how target-setting and incentive systems are applied in a firm employing beyond budgeting principles. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Agder, Norway.
- Hair, J.F., Babin, B.J., Anderson, R.E. & Tatham, R.L. 2010. *Multivariate data analysis. a global perspective.* 7th ed. London: Prentice-Hall.
- Hair, J.F., Hult, G.T.M., Ringle, C.M. & Sarstedt, M. 2017. A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (*PLS-SEM*). 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage Publications Inc.
- Hair, J. F., Jr, Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. 2021. A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM). Sage Publications.
- Halldorsson, A., Kotzab, H., Mikkola, J.H. & Skjøtt-Larsen, T. 2007. Complementary theories to supply chain management. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 12(4):284-296.

- Hammond, M. & Wellington, J. 2013. *Research methods: The key concepts*. London: Routledge.
- Harber, C. 2010. Education and theories of development. In: Lemmer, E. & van Wyk, N. (eds.). *Themes in South African education*. Cape Town: Pearson.
- Haseena, V.A., College, M.E.S.A. and Vemabllur, P.2015. Aspects of Quality in Education for the Improvement of Educational Scenario. Journal of Education and Practice 6, pp. 100–106.
- Haq, I. U., Alotaish, M.S.M., Naradda Gamage, S.K., and Otamurodov, S.,
  2014.Revisiting the Romer's hypothesis: Time series evidence from the small open economy, Pakistan Journal of Applied Economics, 24(1), pp.1-15.
- Hellriegel, S., Jackson, J. & Slocum, J. 2007. *Management.* 2nd ed. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.
- Henseler, J. 2017. Bridging design and behavioral research with variance-based structural equation modeling. *J. Advert.* 46(1):), 178-192. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913367.2017.1281780.
- Henseler, J., Hubona, G. & Ray, P.A. 2016. Using PLS path modeling in new technology research: Updated guidelines. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 116(1):2-20.
- Henttu-Aho, T. 2016. Enabling characteristics of new budgeting practice and the role of controller. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 3(1):31-56.
- Henttu-Aho, T. 2018. The role of rolling forecast in budgetary control systems: Reactive and proactive types of planning. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00187-018-00273-6</u> [Accessed on 03 May 2020].
- Henttu-Aho, T. & Järvinen, J. 2013. A field study of the emerging practice of beyond budgeting in industrial companies: An institutional perspective. *European Accounting Review*, 22:765-785. Available at: https://doi:10.1080/09638180.2012.758596. [Accessed on 03 March 2020].
- Hesse-Biber, S.N. & Leavy, P. 2006. *Emergent methods in social research*. Thousand Oaks, California, Sage.
- Heupel, T. & Schmitz, S. 2015. Beyond budgeting a high-hanging fruit. The impact of managers' mindset on the advantages of beyond budgeting. *Procedia: Economics and Finance*, 26:729-736.
- Hofstee, E. 2013. Constructing a good dissertation: A practical guide to finishing Master's, MBA or PhD on schedule. Exactica.

- Holmen, T.J. & Skurtveit, I. 2014. A longitudinal perspective on rolling forecast & interactions. Unpublished Master's thesis in Business Analysis and Performance Management (BUS), Norwegian School of Economics.
- Hope, J. & Fraser, R. 1997. Beyond budgeting: Breaking through the barrier to 'the third wave'. *Management Accounting*, 75(11):20-23.
- Hope, J. 2008. *Beyond budgeting Implementation Guidelines 2008. BBRT European Members' Meeting.* London: Beyond budgeting Round Table.
- Hope, J. & Fraser, R. 2003a. *Beyond budgeting: How managers can break free from the annual performance trap.* Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Hope, J. & Fraser, R. 2003b. Who needs budgets? *Harvard Business Review*, 81(2): 108-115.
- Hope, J. & Fraser, R. 2003c. *Beyond budgeting: how managers can break free from the annual performance trap.* Boston: USA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Hope, J. & Player, S. 2012. Beyond performance management: Why, when, and how to use 40 tools and best practices for superior business performance. Boston, MA: Harvard Business Press Books.
- Hope, J., Bunce, P. & Fraser, R. 2015. *The Beyond budgeting principles*. Retrieved from: Beyond budgeting Institute: <u>http://bbrt.org/about/the-beyondbudgeting-principles/.</u>
- Hulland, J. 1999. Use of partial least squares (PLS) in strategic management research: A review of four recent studies. *Strategic Management Journal*, 20. Available at: doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199902)20:2<195:AID-SMJ13>3.0.CO;2-7. [Accessed on 30 September 2021].
- Ilchikabir, S. 2015. On the complementary role of budget and rolling forecast A case study of Philips Company (consumer Lifestyle sector) in the Netherlands. Master's degree Project in Accounting. University of Gothenburg. Gothenburg. Sweden.
- Iranzadeh, S., Nojehdeh, H.N. & Emami, N.N. 2017. The impact of the implication of balanced scorecard model (BSC) in performance of the post company. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(4):188-196.
- Janke, R., Mahlendorf, M. D., & Weber, J. 2014. An exploratory study of the reciprocal relationship between interactive use of management control systems and perception of negative external crisis effects. *Management Accounting Research*, 25(4); 251–270.
- Jenjekwa, V. 2013. Access and quality in education in resettlement schools: The case study of Zvivingwi secondary school in Gutu District, Masvingo province in Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Educational Administration and Policy Studies*, 5(2):15-21.

Joachim, A. 2007. Roll in rolling forecast. Charter, 78(1):68-70.

- Johnson, B.R. & Onwuegbuzie, A.J. 2004. Mixed methods research: a research paradigm whose time has come. *American Educational Research Association*, 33(7):14-26.
- Johnson, R. 2020. Managerial accountant's role in business planning. [Online]. Available at: http://smallbusiness.chron.com/managerial-accountants-rolebusiness-planning-38322.html [Accessed on 02 February 2020].
- Jones, P., Rakow, C. & Reitano, R. 2019. School *district enrolment projections and budget forecasting*: 303-323. Available at: DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-18195-6\_15 [Accessed on 10 May 2020].
- Jutta, E. & John, B. 2018. Company-wide Agility with Beyond budgeting. *Open Space & Sociocracy Survive & Thrive on Disruption*, Leanpub.
- Kabir, S. 2016. Methods of data collection. In *Basic guidelines for research: An introductory approach for all disciplines.* Chittagong, Bangladesh: Book Zone Publication: 201-275.
- Kaguri, M., Njati, I.C. & Thiaine, K.S. 2014. Financial management challenges facing implementation of free day secondary education in Imani North District, Kenya. *Journal of Business and Management*, 16(1):55-78.
- Kanguru, R.M. 2016. Inventory management practices of small, medium and micro enterprises in the Cape Metropole, South Africa. Unpublished Master's thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Kaplan, R.S. & Norton, D.P. 1996. *Translating strategy into action the balanced scorecard.* Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Kayola, Z. 2015. Effectiveness of financial management in ward based community secondary schools in Ukerewe District, Tanzania. Unpublished Master's dissertation, University of Dodoma.
- Kennedy, C. 2011. *Budgeting and budgetary control for GP consortia*. hfma GP finance. Bristol: Healthcare Financial Management Association.
- Keogh, A. 2008. Blindfold budgeting: It's time to call a halt. *Accountancy Ireland*, 40(2):36-37.
- Ketchen D.J. Jr., Tomas, G. & Hult, M. 2007. Bridging organization theory and supply chain management: the case of best value supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25(1):573-580.
- Kibangou, R.S. 2019. The use of management accounting tools to improve the business performance of small and medium manufacturing enterprises in Cape Town. Unpublished Master of Management Accounting thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.

- Kidder, A. 2019. Public education it's the best investment we can make. Available at <u>https://peopleforeducation.ca/our-work/public-education-its-the-best-</u> <u>investment-we-can-make/</u> [Accessed on 25 April 2020].
- King, J. 2010. The value-driving potential of budgeting. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- Kinyanzii, J.M., Ombuki, C., & Kalii, F. 2019. Influence of financial management practices on the financial performance of public secondary schools in Kathiani Sub county. *Journal of Economics and Finance*.
- Kiristova, E. 2018. *Best practices in rolling forecast*. Available at: https://fpatrends.com/article/best-practices-rolling-forecasts. [Accessed on 05 September 2020].
- Kivunja, C. & Kuyini, A.B. 2017. Understanding and applying research paradigms in educational contexts. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(5):26-41. doi:doi:10.5430/ijhe.v6n5p26.
- Kothari, C.R., & Garg, G. 2014. Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques. New Delhi: New Age International.
- Koul, L. 1984. Methodology of educational research. New Delhi, India: Vikas.
- Kuhar, C.W. 2010. *Experimental design: Basic concepts*. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-045337-8.00224-2.
- Kuyini, A.B. & Kivunja, C. 2017. Understanding and applying research paradigms in educational contexts. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(5):26-41.
- Lasyoud, A.A. & Alsharari, N.M. 2017. Towards an understanding of the dimensions and factors of management accounting change. *Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Journal*, 12(1):105-142.
- Laurie, R., Nonoyama-Tarumi, Y., Mckeown, R. & Hopkins, C. 2016. Contributions of education for sustainable development (ESD) to quality education: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 10(2):226-242.
- Lekalakala, M.T. 2009. Problems encountered by school governing bodies in executing their financial tasks. Unpublished thesis, UNISA, Pretoria.
- Leung, L. 2015. Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care.* 4(3):324. doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.161306.
- Liang, Y. & Ordasi, C. 2013. Analysing the role of rolling forecast from a broad perspective. Unpublished Master's thesis, Graduate School, Gothenburg University.

- Lohan, G. 2013. A brief history of budgeting: Reflections on Beyond budgeting, its link to performance management and its appropriateness for software development. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-44930-7\_6.
- Lorain, M.A. 2010. Should rolling forecast replace budgets in uncertain environments? In *Studies in managerial and financial accounting*. Emerald Group Publishing Ltd.: 177–208. [Accessed on 02 February 2020].
- Lorain, M.A., García Domonte, A. & Sastre Peláez, F. 2015. Traditional budgeting during financial crisis. *Cuadernos de Gestión*, 15(2):65-90. Available at: DOI: 10.5295/cdg.140480ag. [Accessed on 10 May 2020].
- Lucas, R.E., Diener, E. & Suh, E. 1996. Discriminant validity of well-being measures. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 71(3):616-268.
- Mabolio, A.J. 2016. An examination of challenges in the management of primary education funds in public primary schools in Tanzania: A case of Ilemela municipality. Unpublished Master's dissertation, University of Dodoma.
- Maduekwe, C.C. 2015. The usage of management accounting tools by small and medium enterprises in Cape Metropole, South Africa. Unpublished Doctoral dissertation, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Magak, E.O. 2013. Challenges facing head teachers in financial management in public secondary schools: A case of Kisumu East District, Kenya. Unpublished Master of Education thesis, University of Nairobi.
- Makrwede, F. 2012. Investigating gaps in the application of financial management systems by schools receiving section 21 funding (case study for Mthatha Education District Schools – Eastern Cape Province) Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Stellenbosch.
- Maleka. S. 2014. *Strategic management and strategic planning process*. South Africa Government, Department of Communications and Digital Technologies.
- Malhotra, N. & Birks, D. 2007. *Marketing Research: An applied approach*: 3rd European Edition, Harlow, UK. Pearson Education.
- Malhotra, N.K. 2010. *Marketing research an applied orientation*. 6th ed. Pearson/Prentice.
- Mathews, D. 2010. Improving learning through whole-school evaluation: Moving towards a model of internal evaluation in Irish post-primary schools. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, National University of Ireland, Maynooth.
- Matsoso, M.L. 2014. Performance measures in supply chain management of small manufacturing enterprises. Unpublished Doctoral dissertation, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.

- Matthews, T.D. & Kostelis, K.T. 2011. *Designing and conducting research in health and human performance*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- May, T. 2001. *Social research: issues, methods and process*. 3rd ed. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Maziriri, E.T. 2018. The impact of green marketing practices on competitive advantage and business performance among manufacturing small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in South Africa. Unpublished Doctoral dissertation, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.
- Maziriri, E.T., Mapuranga, M. & Madinga, N.W. 2018. Self-service banking and financial literacy as prognosticators of business performance among rural small and medium-sized enterprises in Zimbabwe. Southern African Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management, 10(1), a180. https://doi.org/ 10.4102/sajesbm.v10i1.180.
- McNamara, C. 2003. *Field guide to non-profit strategic planning and facilitation.* Minneapolis, MN: Authenticity Consulting. doi:10.13251/j.issn.0254-6051.2015.12.016.
- Meintjies, A. 2012. The incorporation of alternative budgeting methods relative to the use of the traditional budgeting method. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Pretoria.
- Mejzini, N. & Seidel, H. 2013. Challenging the principles of the Beyond budgeting model can you really go beyond? Unpublished Master's thesis, Karlstad Business School.
- Melnychuk, L., Morlidge, S., Reinderhoff, R., Kiristova, E. & Siglaugsson, T. 2019. *FP* & A trends E-Books: rolling forecast, No. 1.
- Memon, M.A., Ting, H., Ramayah, T., Chuah, F. & Cheah, J.H. 2017. A review of the methodological misconceptions and guidelines related to the application of structural equation modeling: A Malaysian scenario. *Journal of Applied Structural Equation Modeling*, 1(1):1-13.
- Mestry, R. 2004. Financial accountability: The principal or the school governing body? South African Journal of Education, 24(2):126-132. Available at: http://www.ajol.info/index.php/saje/article/view/24 977/20661. [Accessed on 13 August 2016].
- Mestry, R. 2013. A critical analysis of legislation on the financial management of public schools: A South African perspective. *De Jure,* 46(1):162-177.
- Mestry, R. & Ndhlovu, R. 2014. The implications of the national norms and standards for school funding policy on equity in South African public schools. *South African Journal of Education*. 34(3): 1-11.

- Mestry, R. 2018. The role of governing bodies in the management of financial resources in South African no-fee public schools. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46(3):385-400. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1741143216665838</u> [Accessed on 12 March 2021].
- Mestry, R. & Govindasamy, V. 2013. Collaboration for the effective and efficient management of school financial resources. *African Education Review*,10(3):431-452. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2013.853539. [Accessed on 10 May 2020].
- Mestry, R. & Hlongwane, S. 2009. Perspectives on the training of school governing bodies: Towards an effective and efficient financial management system. *Africa Education Review*, 6 (2):324-342.
- Michal, M., Kenneth, A. & Winnie, O. 2020 An Empirical Investigation of Beyond budgeting Practices, *Journal of Management Accounting Research*, 10 (2), Available at: https://doi.org/10.2308/jmar-19-010. [Accessed on 18 February 2022].
- Mjongwana, A. 2018. The use of non-financial performance measures by small and medium enterprises operating in the hotel industry, in the Cape Metropole. Doctoral dissertation, Cape Peninsula University of Technology.
- Mobegi, F.O. 2017. Perceptions of educational stakeholders regarding the effects of financial mismanagement on physical and teaching/learning facilities in secondary schools in Gucha District, Kenya. Maasai Mara University, Kenya. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Innovative Technology*, 4(2).
- Mohajan, H. 2017. *Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability*. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/83458/.
- Mokgope, E.T. 2015. Strategic planning and budgeting alignment: The case of the South African Social Security Agency (SASSA). Unpublished Mini-dissertation, North-West University, Limpopo.
- Mongan-Rallis, H. 2014. *Guidelines for writing the literature review.* Retrieved from: <u>http://www.duluth.umn.edu/~hrallis/guides/researching/litreview.html.</u> [Accessed on 3 August 2021].
- Morlidge, S. & Player, S. 2010. Future ready: How to master business forecasting. West Sussex, UK: Wiley.
- Mosala, G. & Mofolo, M.A. 2016. Effective use of budgeting as a tool towards financial management in schools in Lejweleputswa District. *Africa's Public Service Delivery and Performance Review*, 4:389. [Online]. Available at: https//doi:10.4102/apsdpr. v4i3.121 [Accessed on 02 February 2020].
- Mosha, H. 2018. The state and quality of education in Tanzania: A reflection. Papers in Education and Development. *University of Dar es Salaam Journals* (31).

- Mpolokeng, T.E. 2011. The effectiveness of financial management in schools in the Lejweleputswa Education District, South Africa. Unpublished Master's thesis, Free State University, Welkom Campus.
- Munge, M.N., Kimani, E.M. & Ngugi, D.G. 2016. Factors influencing financial management in public secondary schools in Nakuru County, Kenya. *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, 9.
- Mwanza, P.M. 2017. Utilisation of budgets by small and medium enterprises in the manufacturing industry in the Cape Metropole. Unpublished Master's thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Murthy, S.N. & Bhojanna, U. 2010. *Business research methods*. 3rd ed. Excel Books.
- Myende, P.E., Samuel, M.A. & Pillay, A. 2018. Novice rural principals' successful leadership practices in financial management: Multiple accountabilities. South African Journal of Education, 38(2):144. Available at: doi:10.15700/saje. [Accessed on 10 May 2020].
- Naidoo, P. & Mestry, R. 2017. The financial policy as a monitoring tool for managing finances in public schools. *Journal of Social Sciences*. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09718923.2017.1335023.</u> [Accessed on 12 March 2021].
- Needles, B. & Crosson, S. 2013. Managerial accounting. Cengage Learning.
- Neneh, B.N. 2019. From entrepreneurial alertness to entrepreneurial behavior: The role of trait competitiveness and proactive personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 138:273-279.
- Nevenglosky, E.A., Cale, C. & Aguilar, S.P. 2019. Barriers to effective curriculum implementation. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, 36.
- Nguyen, D.H., Weigel, C. & Hiebl, M.R.W. 2018. Beyond budgeting: Review and research agenda. *Journal of Accounting and Organisational Change*. Available at: doi:10.1108/JAOC-03-2017-0028. [Accessed 02 February 2020].
- Nieman, T. & Bennett, W. 2002. *Business management: A value chain approach.* Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.
- Nkohla, T.V. 2014. The impact of education on economic growth in South Africa: Econometric analysis. Unpublished research assignment for Master's thesis, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch.
- Nkem, L.C. 2017. Assessing the role of stokvels in the start-up and growth of Cameroonian owned businesses in the Cape Metropole. Unpublished MTech thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.

- Nowak, A.Z. & Dahal, G. 2016. The contribution of education to economic growth: Evidence from Nepal. *International Journal of Economic Sciences*, 5(2):22-41. Available at: doi:10.20472/es.2016.5.2.002). [Accessed on 01 September 2020].
- Ntseto, V.E. 2009. A programme to facilitate principals' financial management of public schools. The Department of Comparative Education and Education Management. Faculty of Education. University of the Free State, Bloemfontein.
- Ntshonga, O. 2019. Adoption of conventional management accounting practices by small and medium enterprises operating in the hotel sector of the Cape Metropole. Unpublished Master's thesis, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Cape Town.
- Nunnally, J.C. 1978. Psychometric theory (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Nyaga, L.W. 2016. Factors affecting financial management practices in public secondary schools: A case of schools in Embu west sub-county, Kenya. Unpublished Master's thesis, KCA university, Kenya.
- Nyamita, M.O., Dorasamy, N. & Garbharran, H.L. 2015. Debt financing structure within the State-owned corporations in Kenya. *Journal of Governance and Regulation*, 5(3): 22-30.
- Nyandoro, J., Mapfumo, J. & Makoni, R. 2013. Effectiveness of school development committees in financial management in Chimanimani West Circuit Primary Schools in Zimbabwe. *Academic Research International*, 4:255-274.
- O'Connor, M., Remus, W. & Griggs, K. 2000. Does updating judgemental forecasts improve forecast accuracy? *International Journal of Forecasting*, 16:101-109.
- Odh, M. & Renfors, H. 2018. Examining Traditional, Better & amp; Beyond budgeting in a Dynamic Era: A Case Study of Länsförsäkringar Dissertation. Jönköping University, Jönköping International Business School, JIBS, Business Administration. Småland, Sweden.
- OECD. 2015. Education at a glance 2015: OECD indicators. Paris: OECD. Available at: http://download.ei-ie.org/Docs/WebDepot/EaG2015\_EN.pdf [Accessed on 10 May 2020].
- OECD. 2017. *The funding of school education: Connecting resources and learning.* Paris: OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264276147-en.
- O'Grady, W. & Akroyd, C. 2016. The MCS package in a non-budgeting organisation. A case study of Mainfreight. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 13(1):2-30.
- O'Grady, W., Akroyd C. & Scott I. 2017. Beyond budgeting: distinguishing modes of adaptive performance management. *Advances in Management Accounting,*

28:33-53. Available at: DOI:10.1108/S1474-787120170000029003 [Accessed on 15 March 2021].

- Ololube, N.P. 2016. Education fund misappropriation and mismanagement and the provision of quality higher education in Nigeria. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Education*, 9(4):333-349.
- Olsen, C. & St George, D. 2004. *Cross-sectional study design and data analysis*. College Entrance Examination Board.
- Orlando, J. 2009. Turning budgeting pain into budgeting gain. *Strategic Finance*, 90(9):4751.
- Ostman, L. 2009. Towards a general theory of financial control for organizations. *Working Paper Series in Business Administration,* 9.
- Ouda, H A.G. 2016. Results-Based Systems Are the Path Towards Results-Oriented Government. *Journal of Government Information* Vol. XV (1),:46-70.
- Oyunge, A.M.O. 2015. Assessment of the provision of quality basic education in primary schools in Moshi rural district, Tanzania. Unpublished Master's thesis, Open University of Tanzania.
- Palermo, T. 2018. Accounts of the future: A multiple-case study of scenarios in planning and management control processes. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 15(1):2-23.
- Palinkas, L.A., Horwitz, S.M., Green, C.A., Wisdom. J.P., Duan, N. & Hoagwood, K. 2015. Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Adm Policy Ment Health*, 42(5):533-544.
- Panda, B. & Leepsa, N.M. 2017. Agency theory: Review of theory and evidence on problems and perspectives. *Indian Journal of Corporate Governance*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0974686217701467.
- Paniccia, D. 2008. Budgets: All bad things must come to an end. *The Journal of Corporate Accounting and Finance*, November/December: 25-29.
- Phuong, T.T., Cole, S.C. & Zarestky, J. 2018. A systematic literature review of faculty development for teacher educators. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 37(2):373-389.
- Pietersen, J. & Maree, K. 2007. Standardisation of a questionnaire. In Creswell, J.W. et al. (eds.). *First steps in research*. Hatfield, Pretoria: Van Schaik.
- Pomerantz, A.M. 2016. *Clinical psychology: science, practice, and culture*. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Popesko, B., Novák, P., Dvorský, J. & Papadaki, Š. 2017. The maturity of a budgeting system and its influence on corporate performance. *Acta*

*Polytechnica Hungarica*, 14: 91-104. Available at: doi:10.12700/APH.14.7.2017.7.6 [Accessed on 11 May 2020].

- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. 2017. Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3(9): 369-387.
- Quesado, P., Guzmán, B.A. & Rodrigues, L.L. 2018. Advantages and contributions in the balanced scorecard implementation. *Intangible Capital*, 14(1):186-201.
- Rada, V.D. 2019. Influence of the questionnaire design in self-administered surveys. *Sociology International Journal*:115-121.
- Radzi, N.M., Ghani, M.F.A., Siraj, S. & Afshari, M. 2015. Development of an effective School-based financial management profile in Malaysia: The Delphi method application. *Education Research and Reviews. Academic Journals*, 10(12): 1679-1694.
- Radzi, N.M., Ghani, M.F.A., Siraj, S. & Afshari, M. 2018. Financial decentralization in Malaysian schools: strategies for effective implementation. *MOJES: Malaysian Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 1(3):20-32.
- Ramayah, T., Lee, J.W.C. & In, J.B.C. 2011. Network collaboration and performance in the tourism sector. *Service Business*, 5:411-428.
- Ramdass, K. 2009. *The challenges facing education in South Africa*. Johannesburg: Tomorrow People Organisation.
- Rangongo, P., Mohlakwana, M. & Beckmann, J. 2016. Causes of financial mismanagement in South African public schools: The views of role players. *South African Journal of Education*, 36(3). Available at: 36. doi:10.15700/saje. v36n3a1266 [Accessed on 11 May 2020].
- Rangongo, P.N. 2016. Role players' understanding of public-school principals' legal responsibilities regarding financial management in Limpopo. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Rickards, R.C. 2006). Beyond budgeting: Boon or boondoggle? *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, 3(2):62-76.
- Ringle, C.M., Wende, S. & Will, A. 2005. SmartPLS 2.0.M3. SmartPLS, Hamburg.
- Robinson, V.M.J. 2007. School leadership and student outcomes: Identifying what works and why. *ACEL Monograph Series*, 41:1-32.
- Rocco, T.S., Bliss, L.A., Gallagher, S. & Perez-Prado, A. 2003. Taking the next step: mixed methods research in organizational systems. *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal*, 21(1), Spring.

- Rompho, N. 2020. The balanced scorecard for school management: Case study of Thai public schools. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 24(3):285-300. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/MBE-02-2019-0012 [Accessed on 12 January 2022].
- RSA 1998. Employment of Educators Act, 1998 (Act No 76 of 1998). Government Gazette, No. 19420. 2 November. Pretoria: Government Printers.
- Rubin, A. & Babbie, E.R. 2005. *Research methods for social work*. New York: Brooks.
- Rubin, A. & Babbie, E. 2011. *Research methods for social work*. New York: Brooks/Cole Cengage Learning.
- Rule, P. & John, V. 2011. Your guide to case study research. Pretoria: Van Schaik.
- Rusznyak, L. 2014. South African education still fails many 20 years after apartheid. Retrieved from The Conversation: http://www.bbc.com/news/worldafrica-35427853.
- Sabela, S.W. 2012. An evaluation of the most prevalent budgeting practice in the South African business community. Unpublished dissertation, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Sage Research Methods. 2018. Social science research paradigms: Positivism and interpretivism. Retrieved from: <u>http://methods.sagepub.com/video/social-</u> <u>science-research-paradigms-positivism-and-interpretivism</u>. [Accessed on 18 January 2019].
- Sahiti, A., Ahmeti, S., Sahiti, A. & Aliu, M. 2016. The impact of balanced scorecard on improving the performance and profitability of the implementing companies. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 7(4):60-65.
- Samudrage, D.N. & Beddage H.S. 2018. Status and challenges in implementing Beyond budgeting: Evidence from Sri Lanka. Available at: https://doi.org/ ibr.v1 1 n 1 2 p 1 1 3 [Accessed on 02 September 2020].
- Sandalgaard, N. & Bukh, P.N. 2017. Beyond budgeting and change: A case study. Journal of Accounting and Organisational Change: 409-423. Emerald Group Publishing. Available from: https://doi:10.1108/JAOC-05-2012-0032. [Accessed on 02 February 2020].
- Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C.M. & Hair, J.F. 2017. Partial least squares structural equation modeling. *Handbook of Market Research*, 26(1):1-40.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A. 2003. *Research methods for business students*. 3rd ed. London: Financial Times-Prentice Hall.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A. 2007. *Research methods for business students*. 4th ed. Essex: Prentice Hall.

Saunders, M.N., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A. 2012. *Research methods for business students.* Pearson Education Limited.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. 2016. *Research Methods for Business Students*. England: Pearson Education Limited.

- Scaramussa, S.A., Reisdorfer, V.K. & Ribeiro, A.A. 2010. The contribution of the balanced scorecard as a strategic management tool in management support. *Visión de Futuro*, 13(7):1-14.
- Schlebusch, G. & Mokhatle, M. 2016. Strategic planning as a management tool for school principals in rural schools in the Motheo District. *International Journal of Educational Sciences*. Available at: DOI:10.1080/09751122.2016.11890470. [Accessed on 03 March 2021].
- Scotland, J., 2012. Exploring the philosophical underpinnings of research: Relating ontology and epistemology to the methodology and methods of the scientific, interpretive, and critical research paradigms. English Language Teaching, 5(9): 9–16.
- Sekaran, U. & Bougie, R. 2016. *Research methods for business: A skill building approach.* 7th ed. London: Wiley.
- Setia, M.S. 2016. Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61:261-264.
- Shmueli, G., Sarstedt, M., Hair, J., Hwa, C., Ting, H., Vaithilingam, S. & Ringle, C. 2019. Predictive model assessment in PLS-SEM: guidelines for using PLSpredict. *European Journal of Marketing*. Available at: 10.1108/EJM-02-2019-0189. [Accessed on 10 January 2022].
- Sithole, N. 2017. Promoting a positive learning environment: School setting investigation. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of South Africa, Pretoria.
- Sithole, T.M. 2019. Consumers' motivational drivers for status consumption and life satisfaction: a case of smartphones among the generation y cohort in South Africa. Unpublished Master's dissertation. University of the Witwatersrand. South Africa.
- Silva, A.N. 2015. Nors case study: Traditional budgeting process transformation into beyond budgeting model. Unpublished Master's dissertation, University of Porto.
- Sivabalan, P. 2011. Start rolling. Charter, 82(8):46-47.
- Smuts, M. 2014. South Africa's education problems. Retrieved from World Policy: http://www.worldpolicy.org/blog/2014/05/09/infographic-south-africaseducationproblem.

- Snyder, H. 2019 Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. Literature review as a research methodology. *Journal of Business Research*. 104, pp. 333-339. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039. [Accessed on 20 January 2022].
- South Africa. 1996a. South African Schools Act, No. 84 of 1996. *The Government Gazette*, 377(17579). Pretoria: Government Printer.
- South Africa. 1996b. National Education Policy Act, No. 27 of 1996. *The Government Gazette*, 697(17118). Pretoria: Government Printer.
- South Africa. 1998a. National Norms and Standards for School Funding. *Government Gazette,* 19347. Pretoria: Government Printer.
- South African Department of Basic Education. 2018. *Strategy to improve school management and governance in schools.* Pretoria: Government Printer.
- South Africa. Department of Education. 1996. South African Schools Act (Act No. 17579 of 1996). Cape Town: Government Printer.
- South Africa. 1996a. South African Schools Act, No. 84 of 1996. The Government Gazette, 377(17579). Pretoria: Government Printers.
- Speziale, H.S. & Carpenter, D.R. 2007. *Qualitative research in nursing: Advancing the humanistic imperative.* 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
  - Sponem, S. & Lambert, C. 2016. Exploring differences in budget characteristics, roles and satisfaction: A configurational approach. *Management Accounting Research*, 30:47-61.
- Starkweather, J. 2012. *How to calculate empirically derived composite or indicator scores.* Available at: https://it.unt.edu > compositescores\_jds\_feb2012.
- Statistics South Africa. 2019a. Education Series Volume V: Higher Education and Skills in South Africa, 2017.Report no. 92-01-05. Pretoria: Stats SA.
- Stern, S. 2019. *What is a rolling forecast and what's the business benefit?* Available at: https://onestreamsoftware.com/what-is-a-rolling-forecast-and-whats-the-benefit/. [Accessed on 15 August 2021].
- Sumaedi, S., Bakti, I.G.M.Y., Astrini, N.J., Rakhmawati, T., Widianti, T. & Yarmen, M. 2014. *Public transport passengers' behavioural intentions: paratransit in Jabodetabek–Indonesia*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Taber, K.S. 2018. The use of Cronbach's alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. *Res Sci Educ*, 48:1273-1296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9602-2</u>.
- Taherdoost, H. 2016. Validity and reliability of the research instrument: How to test the validation of a questionnaire/survey in a research. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 5(3):28-36. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3205040.

- Tajvidi, M., Richard, M.O., Wang, Y. & Hajli, N. 2018. Brand cocreation through social commerce information sharing: The role of social media. *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.06.008.
- Talane, V. & Pillay, K. 2013. Tools to fight corruption at your school. Corruption Watch News, 13 August. Available at: http://www.corruptionwatch.org.za/toolsto-fightcorruption-at-your-school/. [Accessed on 23 April 2020].
- Tamir, E. & Arar, K. 2019. High school managements resources allocation in an era of reforms. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 33(5):828-847. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-08-2017-0204. [Accessed on 12 March 2021].
- Tanlu, L. 2008. Does the adoption of rolling forecast improve planning? An empirical investigation of the consequences of rolling forecast. Boston. Available from: http://0management.bu.edu.innopac.up.ac.za/academics/departments/docume nts/TanluDoesTheAdoptionOfRollingForecastsImprovePlanning011320081.pdf.
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. 2011. Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International Journal of Medical Education*, 2;53–55.
- Thenga, C.M. 2012. Managing school funds in selected secondary schools in Gauteng province, Unpublished thesis, UNISA, Pretoria.
- Tian, J., Qian, L.N., Hao, Q. & Wu, D. 2015. The application of the Beyond budgeting to organisations - an example of application of Borealis Company. *Modern Management Science & Engineering*, 3(1):2052-2576.
- Thomas, G. 2011. *How to do your case study: A guide for students and researchers.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Úlfarsson, A.G. 2018. Beyond budgeting critical factors for successful implementations. Unpublished Master of Science in Leadership thesis, Bifröst University.
- UNISA. 2012. South African education: unequal, inefficient and underperforming. [Online]. Available at: http://www.unisa.ac.za/cedu/news/index.php/2012/07/cedu-microwavepresentationsouth-african-education-unequal-inefficient-and-underperforming. [Accessed on 22 May 2020]
- United States. Agency For International Development. 2021. *Education*. Available at: https://www.usaid.gov/south-africa/education. [Accessed on 18 January 2021].
- Urba, M.J. & Brewis, T. 2002. A guide to passing general management. South Africa: New Africa Books.
- Ursachi, G., Horodnic, I.A. & Zait, A. 2015. How reliable are measurement scales? External factors with indirect influence on reliability estimators. *Procedia:*

*Economics and Finance*, 20:679-686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00123-9.

- Van Deventer, I. & Kruger, A.G. 2003. *An educator's guide to school management skills*. 9th ed. Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.
- Van Rooyen, J. 2012, The relationship between funding in education and quality education, Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Veriava, F., Thom, A. & Hodgson, T.F. (eds). 2017. *Basic education rights handbook: Education rights in South Africa*. Johannesburg: South Africa.
- Verkijika, S.F. & De Wet, L. 2018. E-government adoption in sub-Saharan Africa. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 30:83-93.
- Vinzi, V.E., Chin, W., Henseler, J. & Wang, H. 2010. *The handbook of partial least square: concepts, methods and applications.* Heidelberg: Springer Berlin.
- Vitolla, F., Raimo, N., Marrone, A., & Rubino, M. 2020b. The role of board of directors in intellectual capital disclosure after the advent of integrated reporting. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 27(5);2188–2200.
- Vlajcic, D., Marzi, G., Caputo, A. & Dabic, M. 2019. "The role of geographical distance on the relationship between cultural intelligence and knowledge transfer". *Business Process Management Journal*.25(1):104-125.
- Waddell, D. & Sohal, A.S. 1994. Forecasting: The key to managerial decision making. *Management Decision*, 32(1):41-49.
- Wienhold, M. 2015. Better budgeting methods a comparative effect analysis on traditional budgeting problems. Unpublished Master's dissertation, Católica Lisbon School of Business & Economics.
- Wiid, J. & Diggines, C. 2013. Marketing research. 2nd edition. Cape Town: Juta and company Ltd.
- Winnie, G., Chris, A & Inara, S. 2017. Beyond budgeting: Distinguishing modes of adaptive performance management. *Journal of Advances in Management Accounting*, 29,33-53. Available at : <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S1474-</u> <u>7871201700000290.</u> [ Accessed on 30 June 2021].
- Wolf, R. 2015. Broken budgets? Strategic Finance, 97:22-29.
- World Bank. 2016. What matters most for equity and inclusion in education systems: A framework paper. Washington: World Bank.
- World Bank. 2020. South Africa public spending on education. Available at: https://tradingeconomics.com/south-africa/public-spending-on-education-totalpercent-of-gdp-wb-data.html. [Accessed on 26 May 2020].

- Yilmaz, K. 2013. Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48(2):311-25. http://www.jstor.org/stable/26357806.
- Young, J.T. 2015. Questionnaires and surveys. In Hua, Z. (ed.). *Research methods in intercultural communication: A practical guide*. Wiley-Blackwell: 163-180.
- Zait, A. & Bertea, P.E. 2011. Methods for testing discriminant validity. *Management and Marketing*, 9(2):217-224.
- Zeller, T.L. & Metzger, L.M. 2013. Goodbye traditional budgeting, hello rolling forecast: Has the time come? *American Journal of Business Education (AJBE)*, 6:299. Available at: https://doi:10.19030/ajbe.v6i3.7810). [Accessed on 03 March 2020].
- Zsidisin, G.A. & Ellram, L.M. 2003. An agency theory investigation of supply risk management. *The Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 39(3):15-27.

# APPENDICES

# Appendix A: PERMISSION LETTER



Directorate: Research Audrey.wyngaard@westerncape.gov.za Tel: +27 021 467 9272 Fax: 0865902282 Private Bag x9114, Cape Town, 8000 wced.wcape.gov.za

# **REFERENCE:** 20210429-2580 **ENQUIRIES:** Dr A T Wyngaard

Mrs Nelly Msiza

7 Southwark Street

Parklands

7441

Dear Mrs Nelly Msiza

# RESEARCH PROPOSAL: MONITORING AND EVALUATION: STRATEGIC TOOL FOR THE MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN THE CAPE METROPOLE

Your application to conduct the above-mentioned research in schools in the Western

Cape has been approved subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Principals, educators and learners are under no obligation to assist you in your investigation.
- 2. Principals, educators, learners and schools should not be identifiable in any way from the results of the investigation.
- 3. You make all the arrangements concerning your investigation.
- 4. Educators' programmes are not to be interrupted.
- 5. The study is to be conducted from **01 June 2021 till 30 September 2021.**
- 6. No research can be conducted during the fourth term as schools are preparing and finalizing syllabi for examinations (October to December).

- Should you wish to extend the period of your survey, please contact Dr A.T.
   Wyngaard at the contact numbers above quoting the reference number.
- 8. A photocopy of this letter is submitted to the principal where the intended research is to be conducted.
- 9. Your research will be limited to the list of schools as forwarded to the Western Cape Education Department.
- 10. A brief summary of the content, findings and recommendations is provided to the Director: Research Services.
- 11. The Department receives a copy of the completed report/dissertation/thesis addressed to:

The Director: Research Services Western Cape Education Department Private Bag X9114 CAPE TOWN 8000

We wish you success in your research.

Private Bag X9114, Cape Town,
Employment and salary enquiries:
www.westerncape.gov.za

# Appendix B: QUESTIONNAIRE

# STRATEGIC TOOL FOR THE MANAGEMENT AND IMPROVEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN THE CAPE METROPOLE

## Dear Participant,

The aim of this research is to examine the utilisation of beyond budgeting and rolling forecast as a strategic tool for monitoring management and the improvement of public schools in the Cape Metropole.

You are invited to participate in the survey on the topic aforementioned above. This is a research project being conducted by Nelly Rose Msiza, a master's in management accounting student at Cape Peninsula University of Technology. It should take approximately 10 minutes or less to complete.

### PARTICIPATION

Your participation in this online survey is voluntary. You may refuse to take part in the research or exit the survey at any time without penalty. You are free to decline to answer any particular question you do not wish to answer for any reason.

### BENEFITS

You will receive no direct benefits from participating in this research study. However, your responses may be beneficial in advancing knowledge in the Management Accounting field and may also contribute to the creation of a strategic tool for the management and improvement of public schools.

### RISKS

There are no foreseeable risks involved in participating in this study other than those encountered in day-to-day life.

# CONFIDENTIALITY

Your survey answers will be kept confidential and no personal data about yourself will be collected. In this regard, the researcher will not collect identifying information such as your name, email address, or IP address. Therefore, your responses will remain anonymous. No one will be able to identify you or your answers, and no one will know whether or not you participated in the study.

# CONTACT

If you have questions at any time about the study or the procedures, you may contact me, Nelly Rose Msiza via phone at 078 477 9300 or via email at 215219775@mycput.ac.za.

If you feel you have not been treated according to the descriptions in this form, or that your rights as a participant in this research have not been honoured during the course of this project, or you have any questions, concerns, or complaints that you wish to address to someone other than the researcher, you may contact the Faculty of Business & Management Sciences Research Department at <u>obokohl@cput.ac.za</u>.

**ELECTRONIC CONSENT:** Please select your choice below. You may print a copy of this consent form for your records. Clicking on the "Agree" button indicates that

- You have read the above information.
- You voluntarily agree to participate.
- You are 18 years of age or older.

# **INFORMED CONSENT**

Do you consent?	Yes	No		

# SECTION A: DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Δ1	What is your gender?	Male			Fei	male
A2	What is your age?	<30 years	30 - 39 years	40 - 49 years	50 - 59 years	>60 years
A3	What is your current designation at the school? [Select the most applicable	Member of SGB		HOD	Principal	Employee
	designation to you]					
A4	How long have you been in your	0 - 1 year	2 - 5 years	6 - 10 years	11 - 15 years	>16 years
A5	Do you have accounting related qualification or a short course?	Yes	No			

٨٩	How would rate your knowledge of management and leadership	Very bad	Bad	Average	Good	Very good
AO	processes and continuous performance management?					
A7	Would you consider training in management and leadership processes and continuous performance management to enhance your skills?	Yes	No			

# SECTION B: UTILISATION OF FLEXIBLE STRATEGIC TOOLS BEYOND BUDGETING AND ROLLING FORECAST

1. STRAGETIC TOOLS: Indicate how frequently you use the techniques below in your school management? (Multiple tools can be selected)		Always	Often	Sometimes	Never
B1	Balanced Scorecard (Performance measurement tool)	0	0	0	0
B2	Annual Budgeting	0	0	0	0
<b>B</b> 3	Strategic Planning	0	0	0	0
<b>B4</b>	Rolling Forecast	0	0	0	0
<b>B</b> 5	Beyond budgeting	0	0	0	0
<b>B6</b>	Financial Accounting	0	0	0	0
<b>B</b> 7	Management Accounting	0	0	0	0
# SECTION C: BEYOND BUDGETING

Below are statements about beyond budgeting you can indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statement by ticking the corresponding number in the 5-point scale below: 1=strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=neither agree nor disagree, 4=agree, 5=strongly agree. Please tick only one number for each statement

Code item	Item	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA
BB1	In your school budgets are used for control. By control we mean using budgets as managerial motivation and as a standard for performance evaluation purposes.	1	2	3	4	5
BB2	In your school the future plans are to abandon the use of budgets as a tool for control.	1	2	3	4	5
BB3	In your school the intention is to make changes to the current budgeting system.	1	2	3	4	5
BB4	You assert that the current budgeting system adds value to your school organisation, considering the management time, the budgeting process and its effectiveness in meeting the school objectives.	1	2	3	4	5
BB5	Are your school budgets quickly becoming outdated during the course of the year.	1	2	3	4	5
BB6	At your school obtaining approval for unforeseen or unbudgeted new resources that support the strategic goals is quite a challenge.	1	2	З	4	5
BB6	The budgets made in your school organisation are fixed such that no changes can be made to them.	1	2	3	4	5
BB7	The budget is revised on an unplanned basis in your school organisation.	1	2	3	4	5
BB8	The budget is revised during the formalised budgetary review sessions.	1	2	3	4	5

BB9	Revisions to budget are done when the next continuing budget is prepared.	1	2	3	4	5
BB10	Your budgeting process is aligned to the strategic goals of the school.	1	2	3	4	5
BB11	Performance of managers within your school organisation is measured by the basis of attaining budget goals.	1	2	3	4	5
BB12	From your school organisation's perspective, not meeting the budget is a reflection of poor performance.	1	2	3	4	5
BB13	School management is evaluated on the basis of controllable budget variance but not uncontrollable budget variances.	1	2	3	4	5

### SECTION D: ROLLING FORECAST

Below are statements about rolling forecast you can indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statement by ticking the corresponding number in the 5-point scale below: 1=strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=moderately agree, 4=agree, 5=strongly agree. Please tick only one number for each statement

Code item	ltem	SD	D	N	Α	SA
RF1	In your school flexible strategic tools such as rolling forecast increase and equalise education resources.	1	2	3	4	5
RF2	Rolling forecast improves financial accountability for your school management.	1	2	З	4	5
RF3	Rolling forecast increases your school's teacher monitoring, simplifies their evaluation, and improves training.	1	2	3	4	5
RF4	Rolling forecast help your school organisation to manage the education funds.	1	2	3	4	5

## SECTION E: IMPROVEMENT IN THE MANAGEMENT OF PUBLIC SCHOOLS

Below are statements about rolling forecast. You can indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statement by ticking the corresponding number in the 5-point scale below: 1=strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=moderately agree, 4=agree, 5=strongly agree. Please tick only one number for each statement

Code item	ltem	SD	D	N	Α	SA
IMOPS1	In the school that you manage, the quality of services has improved.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS2	In your school, the commercial value of the school management has increased.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS3	In the school that you manage, the efficiency of delivery of services has increased.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS4	The school that I manage is able to respond quickly to customer requests.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS5	In your school there has been growth in learner enrolment (sales revenue).	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS6	In the last three years, there has been an increase in market share (learner growth) in the school that I manage.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS7	In your school, the productivity of employees (teachers and support stuff) has improved.	1	2	3	4	5
IMOPS8	The school where I work has a great capacity to attract new clients (learners).	1	2	3	4	5

# YOU HAVE REACHED THE END OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE.

THANK YOU SO MUCH FOR TAKING PART IN THIS SURVEY!

## APPENDIX C: LANGUAGE EDITING LETTER

#### **Epsilon Editing**

17 Kew Gardens 21 Park Drive Gqeberha 6001

dgncornwell@gmail.com

tel. 084-9897977

30 March 2022

# TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

This serves to confirm that the Master's thesis by Nelly Rose Msiza (CPUT student number 215219775), "Strategic tools for the management and improvement of public schools in the Cape Metropole," has been proofread and edited to my satisfaction for English idiom and correctness of expression. The referencing has been checked against the CPUT Harvard standard.

Conwell

Professor D G N Cornwell (PhD, Rhodes University)

# APPENDIX D: ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE



P.O. Box 1906 | Bellville 7535 Symphony Road Bellville 7535 South Africa Tel: +27 21 4603291 Email: fbmsethics@cput.ac.za

Office of the Chairperson Research Ethics Committee	FACULTY: BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES
The Faculty's Research Ethics Com	mittee (FREC) on <b>4 May 2021</b> , ethics
Master of Management Accountin	g at Cape Peninsula University of Technology.
Title of dissertation / thesis / project:	Strategic tools for the management and improvement of public schools in the Cape Metropole
	Lead Supervisor (s): Prof L Obokoh & Dr H Benedict

### Decision: APPROVED

- Mark.	
	25 June 2021
Signed: Chairperson: Research Ethics Committee	Date

The proposed research may now commence with the provisions that:

- 1. The researcher(s) will ensure that the research project adheres to the values and principles expressed in the CPUT Policy on Research Ethics.
- 2. Any adverse circumstance arising in the undertaking of the research project that is relevant to the ethicality of the study requires that the researcher stops the study and immediately informs the chairperson of the relevant Faculty Ethics Committee.
- 3. The researcher(s) will conduct the study according to the methods and procedures set out in the approved application.

- 4. Any changes that can affect the study-related risks for the research participants, particularly in terms of assurances made with regards to the protection of participants' privacy and the confidentiality of the data, should be reported to the Committee in writing accompanied by a progress report.
- 5. The researcher will ensure that the research project adheres to any applicable national legislation, professional codes of conduct, institutional guidelines and scientific standards relevant to the specific field of study. Adherence to the following South African legislation is important, notably compliance with the Bill of Rights as provided for in the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (the Constitution) and where applicable: Protection of Personal Information Act, no 4 of 2013; Children's act no 38 of 2005 and the National Health Act, no 61 of 2003 and/or other legislations that is relevant.
- 6. Only de-identified research data may be used for secondary research purposes in future on condition that the research objectives are similar to those of the original research. Secondary use of identifiable human research data requires additional ethics clearance.
- 7. No field work activities may continue after two (2) years for Masters and Doctorate research project from the date of issue of the Ethics Certificate. Submission of a completed research ethics progress report (REC 6) will constitute an application for renewal of Ethics Research Committee approval.

### Clearance Certificate No | 2021\_FBMSREC 040